China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd
hEE (FHmE) BRERAR

A subsidiary of China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited
PEMZHESEARRAEF AR

ot E il

SYNERGISTIC EXCELLENCE,
SUSTARINABLE TRANSFORMATION

2024 EIRE | Annual Report 2024



SYNERGISTIC

EXCELLENCE,
IBLE
RMATION

Supported by favourable tailwinds driven
by robust recovery in global air travel,
we will harness the synergies of our
oil-related businesses, supply and trading
activities to achieve excellence in our
operations, enhancing our capacity to
extract value across our supply chain.
Anchored in our vision to becoming

a green enterprise, we are charting a
course to transform our business into
green, low-carbon emissions model to
ensure the sustainability of our growth and
ability to create value for stakeholders.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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CAO AT A GLLANCE
A8 EHN

China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (“CAO”
or the “Company”) was incorporated in Singapore on
26 May 1993 and listed on the Mainboard of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited on
6 December 2001. CAO is the largest physical jet fuel
buyer in the Asia-Pacific region and a key supplier of
imported jet fuel to the civil aviation industry of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

With a strong presence in China and leveraging CAO’s
three wholly owned subsidiaries, namely, China Aviation
Oil (Hong Kong) Company Limited (“CAOHK”), North
American Fuel Corporation (“NAFCQO”) and China Aviation
Fuel (Europe) Limited (“CAFEU”), CAO has developed a
well-established global jet fuel supply and trading network
supplying jet fuel to airlines in Asia-Pacific, North America,
Europe and the Middle East, and contributing actively to
the efficiency and sustainability of global aviation.

Established in May 1998, CAOHK supplies jet fuel to
its airline customers at Hong Kong International Airport
through its subsidiary, CNAF Hong Kong Refuelling
Limited (“CNAF HKR”), the third licensed refueller at
Hong Kong International Airport. In addition, CAOHK also
supplies jet fuel to airline customers at other key airports
in the Asia-Pacific region. Incorporated in the United
States of America in April 2008, NAFCO is a major jet fuel
supplier at Los Angeles International Airport and has since
expanded its jet fuel cargo import business to Ted Stevens
Anchorage International Airport. Established in November
2013, CAFEU, a fueling concessionaire at Amsterdam
Airport Schiphal, is also a jet fuel supplier at Amsterdam,
Frankfurt, Brussels and other airport hubs in Europe.

Under the astute leadership of the CAO Management,
CAO and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the
“CAO Group”) also engages in international trading of
jet fuel and other oil products. As part of its continuous
efforts to offset carbon footprint arising from its trading
and ship chartering activities, the CAO Group engages
in carbon credits trading to enhance its sustainable
value proposition for its customers, other stakeholders
and itself.

OUR KEY SHAREHOLDERS

China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited (“CNAF”),
the single largest shareholder of CAO, holds 51.31% of
the total issued shares of CAO (excluding treasury shares).
As a Chinese state-owned enterprise, CNAF is the
largest aviation transportation logistics services provider
in the PRC, providing aviation fuel procurement, storage,
transportation and refuelling services at over 200 airports

in China. BP Investments Asia Limited, a subsidiary of oil
major, BP Plc, is a strategic investor of CAO and holds
20.17% of the total issued shares of CAO (excluding
treasury shares).

OUR BUSINESSES
Jet Fuel Supply & Trading

CAO supplies jet fuel to international airports across
the PRC, including Beijing Capital International Airport,
Shenzhen Baoan International Airport, Shanghai Pudong
and Honggiao International Airports as well as Guangzhou
Baiyun International Airport. To better support global air
travel demand, CAO has been marketing and supplying
jet fuel to its airline customers at airports globally since
2011. As part of the Company’s ongoing efforts to drive
its sustainability objectives, CAO has also expanded
its product offerings to include sustainable aviation fuel
(“SAF”) and carbon credits, etc.

Trading of Other Oil Products

Embracing a diversification strategy, CAO grows its
revenue and profit by enhancing its trading network with
an oil products portfolio spanning fuel oil, gasoil, gasoline,
crude oil and condensates. CAO has entrenched its
market presence as an active supplier of these oil
products in Asia-Pacific and continues to build and
optimise structural advantages in these products globally.

Investments in Oil-related Assets

The CAO Group owns investments that are synergistic
to its supply and trading activities, with a portfolio of
assets comprising storage, pipelines and airport refuelling
facilities, to consolidate an integrated global supply and
trading value chain.

The CAO Group currently holds equity stakes in:

. Shanghai Pudong International Airport Aviation Fuel
Supply Company Ltd
(CAO holds a 33% equity stake)

e  China National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline
Transportation Corporation Ltd
(CAO holds a 49% equity stake)

e  Shenzhen Zhenghe Petrochemicals Co. Ltd
(CAQ holds a 40% equity stake)

e Qilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd
(CAQ holds a 26% equity stake)

e  CNAF Hong Kong Refuelling Limited
(CAOHK holds a 68% equity stake)

. Aircraft Fuel Supply B.V.
(CAFEU holds a 12.5% equity stake)
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CAO has established an integrated global supply and fréding value chain, comprising storaée, pipelines and airport refuelling facilities.
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INTERNATIONAL RERACH
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Diversified International Revenue Base

E2an A2 0 O K
FY2010 FY2024
Us$D.5 billion uss$15.5 billion
55.01z%x 155.21z%x
® China FE ..ccovoeeeeeeeeeeen, 80.0% ® China FE ...coocoeeveeeeeeeeeeen. 67.2%
Singapore FAIK.....cceveverenennne 9.0% USA EH .o 6.1%
® South Korea B E........c.covee.... 5.0% Europe B ..ooveveeeeeeeicenee 6.4%
Other Regions Hftit[X ............ 6.0% Other Regions EfthX*......... 20.3%

*  Regions with revenue contribution less than 5% are recorded under “Other regions”
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CAO Headquarter & Subsidiaries - Supply & Trading Network "
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SUSTARINABLE BUSINESS MODEL
CIESE %410 2R

We procure internationally and deliver cargoes
to customers globally.

BNEILECERARMGEY), XNESHRSMNERFF,

INTERNATIONAL OIL MARKETS
3l L e

Procurement

xR

Optimisation & Trading
VR ASE L2

At CAO, we endeavour to integrate our supply and
trading activities, leveraging our increasing scale
and market presence to enhance the profitability of
the CAO Group.
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SUSTAINABLE AVIATION FUEL BLENDING AND LOGISTICS
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OUR CORE VALUES
2ZOMERSHR

OUR MISSION

To Create Value for Shareholders
To Provide Professional Development for Employees
To Contribute to Society

fiEan

ARFRLINE
NRTHRERE
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OUR VISION

To be an innovative top-tier company,

underpinned by oil-related investments and fuelled by
our “twin engines growth strategy” in the jet fuel and
other oil products businesses.

RB=

USRI ZE MBI, LUTm SR MR 5 WE,
BHRAERLEN. RENNMEAF

CORPORATE VALUES

Excellence: To Strive for Excellence in Every Detall
Innovation: Proponent and Leader of Innovation and Change
Diversity: Respecting and Valuing Differences

Integrity: Growing our Businesses through Trust and Honesty

L B
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GRDUP STRUCTURE (as of 31 March 2025)
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BP Investments Asia China National Aviation

Limited

Fuel Group Limited
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O

China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd
FhE A (Frnigk) BRSBIRAE)

\
100% 100%

*  Excluding treasury shares T~ EI3EEZRE
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RELENTLESS IN

As a leading jet fuel supplier in the Asia Pacific, we strive to stay
ahead of the competition by relentlessly pursuing excellence in
our operations across our network of businesses and value chain,
enhancing our ability to deliver long-term value to stakeholders.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFKHEF
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Executive Chairman
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CHAIRMAN'S STARATEMENT
ES K

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express
my gratitude to the shareholders, customers and business
partners for their support and confidence in China Aviation
Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (“CAQ”). | would also like
to extend the Board’s appreciation to the Management
and staff of CAQO for their hard work and dedication.

In 2024, the increasingly complex business environment
continued to pose significant operational challenges
for CAO, exacerbated by the slower than anticipated
recovery in the global economy, escalating geopolitical
tensions, macroeconomic uncertainties and compounded
by volatility in global oil prices. Nevertheless, the global
aviation industry’s strong rebound had continued to spur
China’s growing demand for fossil-based jet fuel as
well as increased its renewable energy consumption in
sustainable aviation fuel (“SAF”).

Confronted with the opportunities and challenges ahead,
CAO remains committed to innovation, upholding high
standards of corporate governance and adopting a
holistic approach to risk management to effectively drive
its low-carbon energy transition, thereby achieving a
stable and sustainable growth for the Company. This is
evident from the awards and accolades we received in
2024 namely, “Best Risk Management Award (Gold)” at
the Singapore Corporate Awards, “Most Transparent
Company” (Energy Category) at the Securities Investors
Association (Singapore) Investors’ Choice Awards,
and “Green Innovation Award” at the 2024 Asia
Corporate Excellence & Sustainability Awards. In addition,
CAO remains a member of the “Global Trader

Programme” and has been included in the SGX Fast
Track programme for maintaining a good corporate
governance standing and compliance track record.

Throughout 2024, elevating our sustainability management
to new heights and upholding high standards of corporate
governance had served as a guiding force enabling
evidence-based decision-making by the Board and Board
Committees in the fulflment of their respective roles and
responsibilities. The Company is committed to adhering
responsible energy initiatives to support its green energy
transition. We remain guided by the key pillars of our
sustainability strategy namely, Valuing Nature, Empowering
Well-being, Fostering Collaborative Innovation and
Governing with Excellence, to drive our sustainability goals
in the medium and long-term, and making continued efforts
in managing material ESG topics such as low-carbon
transition, biodiversity conservation, and implementing
sustainable supply chain among others. The Company
remains dedicated to combating global climate change
as well as meeting our annual carbon emission reduction
targets, to achieve our net-zero target by 2050.

As a key initiative of optimising the CAO Group’s jet fuel
business, CAO established its Global Jet Fuel Trading
Centre and Global Aviation Marketing Centre in 2024.
The CAO Global Jet Fuel Trading Centre seeks to centralise
the procurement of jet fuel resources, synergise the
trading arm with the sales legs across Asia Pacific, North
America and Europe, and augment the CAO Group’s
global trading network. The Global Aviation Marketing
Centre aims to provide globalised service solutions for

CAO will also continue to focus on'long-term profitability’ by seeking opportunities for strategic expansion!
NEBUET REBEMEY KNS, LUSREKIAETIEET T,
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CHAIRMAN'S STARATEMENT
EFS KN
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CAO suécéssfully utilised a very large crude carrier (“VLCC")rfér the first time to complete its condensate supply business in July 2024.

RE]F20244F7 A ERER BRI ERTRUEITRRIEES

our airline customers, catering to the different business
needs of each regional aviation market. Additionally,
we strive to enhance CAO’s influence and branding in
the international aviation market by making continuous
efforts to step up the efficiency and quality of our services.
Meanwhile, CAO has been actively exploring asset-related
investment opportunities in green energy, logistics and
terminals, as well as airport refuelling facilities to better
support CAO in developing a complete and operationally
efficient SAF business model, as well as building a resilient
supply-chain ecosystem.

As of 31 December 2024, the CAO Group recorded a total
net profit of US$78.09 million, an increase of 33.8%
year-on-year. Earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company similarly rose 33.2% year-on-year
to 9.11 US cents, with a market capitalisation of
S$$791.40 million, an increase of 4.5% year-on-year.
The CAO Group continues to maintain a healthy financial
position with sufficient capital, strong asset liquidity and a
low debt-to-asset ratio.

In appreciation of the continued support of our
shareholders, the Board of Directors has recommended
the declaration and payment of a one-tier, tax-exempt
final ordinary dividend of 3.72 Singapore cents per

share for approval by shareholders at the upcoming
31t Annual General Meeting of CAO. We remain
committed to delivering long-term shareholder value and
sharing the fruits of our success with our shareholders.

Global economic and geopolitical uncertainties are
expected to linger in 2025. Nevertheless, the Board of
Directors will continue to lead and guide the Management
and staff in driving business growth while ensuring
all potential risks are well-managed. Sustaining our
relentless drive in executing our strategy and productivity,
we will continue to advance the CAO Group’s transition
towards low-carbon business, seek viable ways to
further increase profitability, enhance our risk controls,
sharpen our innovative capacity, and explore quality
investments in oil-related assets, so as to fully embrace
our development towards synergistic excellence and
sustainable transformation to unlock greater value for
our shareholders as well as for the society as a whole.

Shi Yanliang
Chairman
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CHAIRMAN'S STARATEMENT
ES K
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The Company received the Green Innovation Award at the 2024 ASia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability (“ACES”) Awards.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FES

SHI YANLIANG, 53
Executive Chairman

Date of first appointment
as a director:
15 December 2023

Date of last re-election
as a director:
25 April 2024

Length of service

as director:

1 year

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Nil

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e Master’s Degree in Petroleum and Natural
Gas Engineering, Yangtze University, China
¢ Qualified Engineer, China

Present Directorships:

Nil

¢ (China National Aviation Petrochemicals

Pipeline Co., Ltd (Chairman)

Other Principal Commitments:
Nil

Past Directorships held over
the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):

Nil

Others:

e Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Petrochemicals Pipeline Co., Ltd

¢ Former General Manager of China Aviation
Qil Import and Export Co., Ltd

S$IER, 53%
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BRI XESRA:
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(EHZE20245%12831H)

HNERELR:
x

FARMEIZER:
o KTAFHSAFL LRI
o EEITIRIM

BEEHRAL:

x

o THURAKEBERRAR EEK)

FEFE:
7

BEZFEFERFEN
(20225E1BH1HZE2024F12831H) :
7

Hfth:
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17

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FES

TEO SER LUCK, 56
Lead Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
24 April 2019

Date of last re-election
as a director:
25 April 2024

Length of service

as director:

5 years 8 months

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Audit Committee (Chairman)
Sustainability Committee (Chairman)
Risk Management Committee (Member)
Nominating Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):
¢ Degree in Accountancy,
Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

Present Directorships:

e BRC Asia Limited (Chairman)

e Serial System Ltd (Deputy Chairman)

e Straco Corporation Limited
(Independent Director)

e Yanlord Land Group Limited
(Independent Director)

e Super Hi International Holding Ltd.
(Independent Director)

Nil

Other Principal Commitments:
® President of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants (ISCA)

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):

e | ead Independent Director of MindChamps
PreSchool Limited

Others:

e Former Minister of State for Trade
and Industry

e Former Senior Parliamentary Secretary in
the Ministry of Transport and Ministry of
Community Development, Youth and Sports

e Former Minister of State for Manpower

e Former Mayor of the North East District

e Former Member of Parliament

B, 56%
HEMBUESR
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ZHANG YUCHEN, 51
Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
1 November 2020

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2023

Length of service

as director:

4 years 2 months

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:

Audit Committee (Vice Chairman)

Risk Management Committee (Vice Chairman)
Sustainability Committee (Vice Chairman)
Nominating Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):
e Bachelor of Engineering
¢ Qualified Senior Engineer, China

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:
Nil

Other Principal Commitments:

e Safety Director and General Manager of
Safety, Quality and Environment Department
of China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):
Nil

Others:

e Former General Manager of Procurement
Management Department, China National
Aviation Fuel Group Limited

e Former General Manager of South China
Bluesky Corporation Ltd, Hubei branch

e Former Deputy General Manager of South
China Bluesky Corporation Ltd, Hubei branch

e Former Manager of Safety Monitoring
Technology Development Department,
South China Bluesky Corporation Ltd

e Former Assistant to the General Manager,
South China Bluesky Corporation Ltd,
Hubei branch
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SHI LEI, 60
Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
1 September 2021

Date of last re-election
as a director:
25 April 2024

Length of service

as director:

3 years 3 months

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Nominating Committee (Vice Chairman)
Remuneration Committee (Vice Chairman)
Risk Management Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e Radio-Electronics, School of Electronics,
Shandong University

e Master of Business Administration,
Shandong University

¢ Qualified Senior Engineer, China

Present Directorships:

Nil

Nil

Other Principal Commitments:
Nil

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):

e China National Aviation Fuel Corporation
Limited (Director)

Others:

e Former Assistant to General Manager of
China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited

e Former General Manager, Human Resource
Department of China National Aviation Fuel
Group Limited

e Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
North-West Branch

e Former Deputy General Manager of China
National Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
East China Branch

o Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
Shandong Branch

e Former Deputy General Manager of China
National Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
Shandong Branch

e Former Head of Human Resources of China
National Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
Shandong Branch

* Worked in CAAC Shandong Regional
Administration
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LIN YI, 55
Chief Executive Officer/
Executive Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
15 March 2023

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2023

Length of service

as director:

1 year 9 months

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Nil

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

¢ Bachelor of Engineering Studies
¢ Qualified Senior Engineer, China

Present Directorships:

Nil

¢ China Aviation Oil (Hong Kong) Company
Limited (Chairman)

e North American Fuel Corporation (Chairman)

e China Aviation Fuel (Europe) Limited
(Chairman)

e QOilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd (Director)

e Shanghai Pudong International Airport
Aviation Fuel Supply Corporation Ltd
(Deputy Chairman)

Other Principal Commitments:
Nil

Past Directorships held over
the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):

Nil

Others:

¢ Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel South China Bluesky
Corporation Ltd

¢ Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel South China Bluesky
Corporation Ltd, Guangdong Branch

e Former Adviser of China National Aviation
Fuel South China Bluesky Corporation Ltd
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HEE THENG FONG, 70
Non-Executive,
Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
24 April 2019

Date of last re-election
as a director:
25 April 2024

Length of service

as director:

5 years 8 months

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:

Risk Management Committee (Chairman)
Audit Committee (Member)
Remuneration Committee (Member)
Sustainability Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e L.L.B. (Honours), National University of
Singapore
e Diploma in PRC Law, Suzhou University

Present Directorships:

e Straco Corporation Limited
(Independent Director)

e Yanlord Land Group Limited
(Independent Director)

¢ Haidilao International Holding Ltd
(Independent Director)

e H World Group Limited
(Independent Director)

* Green Link Digital Bank Pte. Ltd.
Hi-P International Pte. Ltd.

Other Principal Commitments:
¢ Independent Arbitrator and Mediator with
The Arbitration Chambers

Past Directorships held over
the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):

¢ Independent Director of Zheneng Jinjiang
Environment Holding Company Limited

Others:

e Deputy Chairman of Singapore Medishield
Life Council

e Member of ACRA's Complaints and
Disciplinary Panel

e Member of Advisory Committee for
“China Ready Programme” under the
Ministry of Law

e Member of Experts Team under Ministry of
Law and China Council for the Promotion of
International Trade

¢ Member of Traditional Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Board
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FU XINGRAN, 47
Non-Executive,
Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
30 September 2021

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2022

Length of service

as director:

3 years 3 months

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Nominating Committee (Chairman)
Audit Committee (Member)
Remuneration Committee (Member)
Sustainability Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):
¢ Doctor of Philosophy in Financial Engineering
Heriot-Watt University

Present Directorships:

Nil

¢ Beijing Rongyi Investment and Management
Co., Ltd (Director)

¢ Beijing Jingcheng Zhitong Robot Technology
Co., Ltd (Director)

¢ Beijing Jingguochuang Funds Management
Co., Ltd (Director)

¢ Beijing Ba Yue Gua Technology Co., Ltd
(Director)

¢ Beijing Foreign Enterprise Human Resources
Service Co., Ltd (Director)

e Beijing Environment Co., Ltd (Director)

Other Principal Commitments:

e General Manager of Beijing Rongyi Investment
and Management Co., Ltd

¢ General Manager of Beijing Jingguochuang
Funds Management Co., Ltd

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):

e Director of Beijing Tianshi Kaiyun Equity Fund
Management Co., Ltd.

Others:

e Former Deputy General Manager of Beijing
Innovation Industry Investment Co., Ltd.

e Former Deputy General Manager of Beijing
Tianshi Kaiyuan Equity Fund Management
Co., Ltd.

e Former Deputy General Manager of Funds
Investment Department, Beijing State-owned
Capital Operation and Management Center

e Former Investment Manager of Business
Innovation Department of PICC Asset
Management Company Limited/PICC Capital
Insurance Asset Management
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JEFFREY GOH

MAU SEONG, 56
Non-Executive,
Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
31 December 2021

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2022

Length of service

as director:

3 years

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Remuneration Committee (Chairman)
Risk Management Committee (Member)
Nominating Committee (Member)
Sustainability Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e Doctor of Philosophy — Principles and
Policies of Regulating Airline Competition,
University of Sheffield, United Kingdom

e Bachelor of Laws, University of Hull, Hull,
United Kingdom

Present Directorships:

Nil

e Bahrain Airport Services Company B.S.C. (c)
(Deputy Chairman)

Other Principal Commitments:
e Chief Executive Officer of Gulf Air Group
Holding Company (Bahrain)

Past Directorships held over
the preceding 3 years
(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):

e Director of Star Alliance (SG) Pte. Ltd.
e Director of Airline Passenger Experience
Association (US)

Others:

e Former Chief Executive Officer of Star Alliance
(Germany/Singapore)

e Former Chief Operating Officer & General
Counsel of Star Alliance (Germany)

e Former General Counsel & VP Corporate
Services of Star Alliance (Germany)
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RICHARD YANG

MINGHUI, 55
Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
31 May 2021

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2023

Length of service

as director:

3 years 7 months

(as at 31 December 2024)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Audit Committee (Member)
Remuneration Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

¢ PHD in Business Administration
West Coast University (USA)

¢ Master of Business Administration
Columbia South University (USA)

¢ Bachelor Degree in Mechanical Engineering
Huazhong University of Science &
Technology (China)

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:

¢ Shenzhen Cheng Yuan Aviation Qil Co., Ltd
(Vice Chairman)

¢ South China Bluesky Aviation Oil Co., Ltd
(Vice Chairman)

Other Principal Commitments:
e General Manager (China Aviation Sector) of
BP (China) Holding Company

Past Directorships held over
the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024):

Nil

Others:

e Former Board Director, General Manager of
ABC Company

e Former Part-time Consultant in Automobile
Business

e Former Asia Senior Vice President and
General Manager (China) of TPl Composites
Group

e Former Vice President (Heavy Industries &
Services) of SKF Sales Ltd

e Former Director (Strategic Industries) of
SKF China Ltd

e Former General Manager of SKF (Shanghai)
Automotive Bearings Co., Ltd
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N E)ME B @zo005538)

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AUDITORS

Shi Yanliang Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong (Chairman) BDO LLP

(Executive Chairman) Shi Lei (Vice Chairman) (Appointed on 25 April 2024)
Hee Theng Fong 600 North Bridge Road

Teo Ser Luck

Fu Xingran
Richard Yang Minghui

#23-01 Parkview Square
Singapore 188778
Partner in charge: Ng Kian Hui

(Lead Independent Director)
Zhang Yuchen

(Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director)

Shi Lei

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Fu Xingran (Chairman)
Shi Lei (Vice Chairman)

(Since financial year 2024)

SHARE REGISTRAR AND

Teo Ser Luck SHARE TRANSFER OFFICE

(Non-Executive,

. Zhang Yuchen Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.
Non-I| t Direct
on-Independent Director) Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong 1 Harbourfront Avenue
LinYi Keppel Bay Tower #14-07

(Chief Executive Officer/
Executive Director)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE Singapore 098632

Hee Theng Fong (Chairman)

Zhang Yuchen (Vice Chairman) PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hee Theng Fong

(Independent Director) Teo Ser Luck Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
Shi Lei Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Fu Xingran Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Bank of China Limited

(Independent Director) Bank of Communications Co., Ltd

China Construction Bank Corporation Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Overseas-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Corporation Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Teo Ser Luck (Chairman)

Zhang Yuchen (Vice Chairman)
Hee Theng Fong

Fu Xingran

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong
(Independent Director)

Richard Yang Minghui
(Non-Executive,

Non-Independent Director)

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong

United Overseas Bank Limited

Teo Ser Luck (Chairman) Doreen Nah 8 Temasek Boulevard
Zhang Yuchen (Vice Chairman) #31-02 Suntec Tower Three
Hee Theng Fong Singapore 038988
Fu Xingran Tel: (65) 6334 8979
Richard Yang Minghui Fax: (65) 6333 5283
Website: www.caosco.com
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RESOLUTE IN

With a global presence, supplying and delivering oil-related
products across the world, we are cognisant of our responsibility
to reduce the carbon footprint in our operations and to remain
resolute in ensuring conscientious stewardship of our resources,
people and the environment.
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CEOQ'S MESSAGE
BRMITEREH

Adhering to our core values of excellence, innovation,
diversity and integrity, China Aviation Oil (Singapore)
Corporation Ltd (“CAQ”) continues to create value for its
shareholders, customers and business partners through
upholding high standards of corporate governance,
maintaining robust risk management practices and
optimising supply chains.

Despite a year filled with challenges and changes,
the Company remained steadfast in achieving high-quality
growth, focussing on enhancing its core business
functions and competitive advantages. Testament to
our efforts, the Company achieved new milestones in
the areas of innovation, low-carbon transition as well
as synergistic partnerships. As of 31 December 2024,
the CAO Group has achieved a total sales revenue of
US$15.52 billion, an increase of 7.6% year-on-year.
Operating profit rose 11.9% year-on-year to US$39.86
million, while net profit increased 33.8% year-on-year to
US$78.09 million.

CAQ’s accomplishments would not be possible without
the strong support and guidance from our parent
company, China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited
(“CNAF”), along with the cooperation and trust from
our suppliers, trading counterparties, banks and other

business partners. On behalf of the Management and
staff of CAO, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
to all our shareholders and industry partners.

In 2024, we continued to drive growth through a diverse
and synergistic approach, while ensuring that all business
risks remained within predetermined parameters. During
the same year, we established the CAO Global Jet Fuel
Trading Centre to enhance the CAO Group’s global jet fuel
trading network, which leverages on Singapore as a hub
to fully synchronise the sale legs in the Asia Pacific, North
America, and Europe. This allows the CAO Group to better
allocate and match jet fuel resources, achieving logistics
optimisation and enhancing its jet fuel trading capacity and
structure globally.

Capitalising on market opportunities arising from the
global aviation industry recovery, CAO continued to
entrench its influence in global aviation sector, supplying
jet fuel to 91 airlines across 36 airports worldwide.
The Company closely monitored China’s import window
to facilitate the prompt supply of bonded jet fuel to
international airports in China. In addition, the Company
optimised its crude oil trading model and expanded
its sourcing channels for other oil products, to further
strengthen the CAO Group’s presence in the international

CAO possesses a well-established global oil supply and trading network, with a strong presence in China.

KEFHETT, AEEE - EXBRENSIRAURN R S MK,
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CEOQ'S MESSAGE

BRMITEREH

oil products trading market. The Company strictly adhered
to its “four-tier, two-line” risk management framework and
upheld strict compliance standards and robust risk control
measures across all operations.

In 2024, we prioritised the development of “strategic
emerging businesses” (“SEB”) and accelerating our
transition into low-carbon business. A SEB taskforce
was established to consolidate the CAO Group’s internal
resources, reshape and energise the Company’s entire
supply chain to sketch our new portfolio and road map.
Based on the established SAF deal structure in Europe,
the CAO Group further expanded its SAF operations and
successfully entered the Asia Pacific market. Along with
establishing a comprehensive SAF business model of
“physical cargo procurement, certification and sales”, the
CAO Group also traded carbon credits in the voluntary
carbon market, totalling a 28,800 mt reduction in
greenhouse gas emissions.

In 2024, we continued to fulfil our corporate social
responsibility (“CSR”) through a series of CSR activities.
Dedicated to bringing warmth and joy to the elderly as
part of Mothers’ Day celebration, CAO staff volunteers
and Management visited 64 elderly residents at Kwong
Wai Shiu Hospital in May 2024, engaging them in

Asa testament of our robust risk control system CAO was awarded the Best Risk I\/Ianagement Award (Gold) at the Singapore Corporate Awards 2024.
AR EEHTENREERAER, RIR 72024 FHIKEL ARMENREXCEEER

interactive games and performances. Additionally,
to support the National Parks Board’s (“NParks”)
One-Million-Trees movement, the Company organised a
tree-planting activity in partnership with NParks. A total
of 50 mangrove saplings were planted at Pulau Ubin to
enhance natural protection along the shoreline, providing
critical habitats for flora and fauna, safeguard the marine
ecosystem, and reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

The geopolitical landscape is expected to remain
complex and volatile amid heightened global economic
uncertainty in 2025. Under the guidance of our Board
of Directors, the Management will continue to lead all
staff, with a focus on high-quality growth and optimising
the mechanism of our Global Jet Fuel Trading Centre,
to further enhance our value chain and competitive
advantage. At the same time, we will endeavour to scale
the business and enhance our operational efficiency to
deliver a creditable performance in the year ahead.

Lin Yi
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director
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ence in global aviation sector, supplying jet fuel to 91 airlines across 36 airports worldwide.
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\ el Tr: g Centre, CAO will
continue to enhance operational efﬂmency and promote sustainability

in the aviation industry.
beE 2IKAUER S POMMIL, 2
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JET FUEL MARKET REVIEW

Jet fuel demand in Asia-Pacific climbed from 2.52 million
barrels per day (“bpd”) in 2023 to nearly 2.8 milion barrels
per day in 2024, an increase of about 284,000 bpd, led
by strong air travel demand in China, India and Southeast
Asia. In China, domestic passenger traffic volume
exceeded 730 million in 2024, an increase of 10.6%
compared to 2019. However, the recovery of China’s
international flights remained relatively subdued, having
reached only 84% of pre-pandemic levels. China’s jet
fuel demand rose to approximately 974,000 bpd in 2024,
a year-on-year increase of nearly 150,000 bpd. In the
same year, Southeast Asian countries such as Thailand
and Singapore experienced significant growth in jet fuel
demand of approximately 58,000 bpd driven by increased
leisure and business travel. In addition, India’s annual jet
fuel demand grew by 8% year-on-year. However, regional
jet fuel supply remained ample. In 2024, Asia-Pacific
jet fuel supply reached 3.17 million bpd, an increase of
252,000 bpd year-on-year, mainly attributed to higher jet
fuel production in China and India. In addition to supply
outstripping demand, arbitrage windows from Asia-Pacific
to the West also remained largely unavailable leading to
declines in several key indicators in the Asia-Pacific jet fuel
market in 2024.

In 2024, Platts FOB Singapore jet fuel price averaged
US$95.13 per barrel, down by US$9.44 or 9% year-on-
year, posting a narrower decline compared to 2023.

Highlights of Jet Fuel Supply and Trading Activities
in 2024

The Red Sea crisis had led to a significant surge in freight
rates. For instance, freight rates for Platts Korea-Japan
medium-sized tanker increased from US$500,000 at the
beginning of 2024 to a peak of US$1 million, while Platts
Asia-Europe cross-regional freight rates rose from US$5
million to a peak of US$8 million. In the face of challenges
like margin squeeze arising from sharp spike in freight
rates and higher supply costs, the jet fuel team continued
to play a leading role by strengthening coordination
with subsidiaries to secure Asian jet fuel resources at
competitive rates, seizing the limited opportunities when
East-West arbitrage windows opened, and actively
engaged in cross-regional jet fuel trading from Asia to
North America and Europe to generate profits. In addition,
the jet fuel team successfully expanded its winter heating
oil supply business in Japan. Through accurate prediction
of market opportunities as well as the establishment of a
stable and efficient supply chain structure, the Company
was able to increase its market share of heating oil sales
in Japan, setting a record high for the Company in terms
of annual sales and profitability; adding another driver of
profit growth for the Company.

Jet Fuel Market Outlook and Trading Strategies
in 2025

On the supply side, Asia-Pacific jet fuel supply is expected
to reach 3.37 million bpd in 2025, an increase of 195,000
bpd year-on-year. This is mainly attributed to the increased
production of jet fuel in South Korea, Japan, China, and
India. On the demand side, as China further opens up
its domestic market for foreign businesses, coupled with
the rapid recovery of both domestic and international
flights, China’s demand for jet fuel is expected to soar to
a high of 1.05 million bpd in 2025. Rising jet fuel demand
in India and Southeast Asia will further contribute to the
demand in Asia-Pacific, with the overall demand for jet fuel
in Asia-Pacific estimated to reach 2.99 million bpd, up by
approximately 192,000 bpd. However, macroeconomic
uncertainty and geopolitical conflicts are expected to limit
the growth of Asia-Pacific jet fuel demand amid heightened
market volatility.

In 2025, the Company will continue to secure domestic and
international jet fuel resources through multiple channels,
leverage existing advantages in storage capacity, shipping,
and operations to fulfil our domestic supply obligations.
The jet fuel team will also continuously explore synergistic
and mutually beneficial cooperation models with refineries
and end-user markets, to foster deeper trust and
collaborative partnerships. At the same time, with
the establishment of the Global Jet Fuel Trading Centre,
the CAO Group will continue to enhance operational
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efficiency, promote sustainability in the aviation industry,
conduct market and price analyses with subsidiaries,
optimise resource utilisation and logistics solutions, as
well as capturing opportune timings to conduct arbitrage
trading and maximise the CAO Group’s overall profitability.

AVIATION MARKETING REVIEW

In 2024, the global aviation industry continued its steadfast
journey towards recovery, with growth in both passenger
and cargo volumes. According to the International Air
Transport Association (“IATA”), total full-year traffic in 2024
(measured in revenue passenger kilometers or RPKSs) rose
10.4% compared to 2023.

China’s aviation industry also performed remarkably
well. In 2024, China’s civil aviation transportation scale
increased significantly, benefiting from continued domestic
economic recovery, gradual recovery of international
flights, and strong performance in the air cargo market.
In 2024, China’s aviation industry achieved a total
transportation turnover of 148.52 billion tonne-kilometers,
a 25% year-on-year increase. Passenger traffic reached
730 million, while cargo and mail transportation volume
hit 8.98 million mt, representing year-on-year increases of
17.9% and 22.1% respectively.

Despite the improved profitability of the global aviation
industry in 2024, with a net profit margin of about 3%,
the overall net profitability remains well below the cost of
capital. Ongoing supply chain challenges, rising wages for
airline personnel, and increasing operational costs (such
as longer flight routes due to airspace restrictions and
higher aircraft maintenance costs), along with elevated
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environmental regulation expenses, particularly costs
associated with sustainable aviation fuel (“SAF”) and the
Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International
Aviation (CORSIA), had led to non-fuel costs in the aviation
industry to rise by roughly 14% since 2014. All these rising
costs and challenges continued to add pressure on the
business performance of airlines.

Highlights of Aviation Marketing Activities in 2024

Total sales volume achieved by aviation marketing rose
46.2% to 2.99 milion mt in 2024 from 2.05 million mt
in 2028. Supply volumes grew significantly across
Europe, North America, and Asia, with year-on-year
increases of 33%, 28%, and 85% respectively, primarily
attributed to increased flights between Asia-Pacific and
Europe/America. The CAO Group supplied jet fuel to 36
international airports outside of PRC, four more airports
compared to 2023, with the newly added airports mainly
located in the Asia-Pacific and Middle East regions.

Additionally, CAO had achieved significant breakthroughs
in its SAF businesses in 2024, achieving a 16,500 tonnes
reduction in carbon dioxide emissions through its supply
of SAF-blended jet fuel to airlines and airports.

Aviation Market Outlook and Business Strategies
in 2025

The global aviation industry will continue to face both
opportunities and challenges in 2025. Major challenges
affecting the global aviation industry include rising
operational costs, fragility of supply chains, inadequate
infrastructure, and burdensome regulatory requirements
and obligations. Despite the challenges ahead, IATA

“Wump bbb R
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CAO remains the Iargest physical jet fuel buyer in the A5|a Pacific region and a key supplier of imported jet fuel to the Eivilaviation industry of the PRC.
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expects the global aviation industry to achieve continued
growth in 2025 due to favourable factors such as
passenger load factors exceeding 83% amid falling oil
prices, strict cost control measures, and decarbonisation
investments. According to IATAs latest forecast the global
airline industry is expected to scale newer heights in 2025
with total industry revenues expected to surpass US$1
trillion for the first time, driven by anticipated increases in
passenger traffic and number of flights of 5.2 billion and
40 million respectively.

Despite the significant improvement in airlines’ financial
performance post-pandemic, geopolitical (such as the
continued conflicts in Europe and the Middle East) and
economic uncertainties (volatile trade policies by the
Trump administration) are expected to be major potential
impediments to global aviation industry profitability in 2025.
In response, the aviation marketing team will continue to
adhere to CAO’s business philosophy of “Compliance as
a Top Priority, Risk Management of Utmost Importance”,
closely monitor the financial performances of its airline
counterparties to advert potential credit risks, and advance
jet fuel supply business with new airlines and airports with
prudence. At the same time, the team will actively foster
global strategic partnerships with jet fuel suppliers and
airlines to expand its supply channels and enhance CAQO’s
capabilities of supplying jet fuel in the Asia-Pacific region.

Moving forward, the aviation marketing team will continue
to actively develop its SAF business as a key new
business for the Company. Leveraging the business
opportunity from EU’'s 2% SAF blending mandate in 2025,
the Company seeks to secure SAF supply resources in
both Asia and Europe, and seize opportunities to conduct
SAF blending in these regions. The team also aims to
gradually establish a comprehensive supply chain system
comprising procurement, blending, logistics, and sales.
Concurrently, the Company will continue to monitor
changes in China’s SAF-related policies while exploring
SAF import opportunities.

CRUDE AND OTHER OIL PRODUCTS
MARKET REVIEW

In 2024, the international oil market experienced a volatile
downswing with Brent crude oil prices averaging US$80.53
per barrel, down 2.4% from 2023.

Despite OPEC+’s continued production cuts, increased
oil production from emerging non-OPEC oil producing
countries, particularly the United States, Brazil, and
Guyana exacerbated the global supply-demand

imbalance. China’s economic slowdown also weighted
down global oil demand growth. With the Federal Reserve
maintaining interest rates to strengthen the US dollar,
the spread between the futures and spot markets were
further narrowed significantly limiting trading activities and
profit margins. In addition, with continued geo-political
uncertainty arising from the Russia-Ukraine war entering
its third year, the ongoing lIsraeli-Palestinian conflict and
Red Sea shipping crisis, as well as the sudden collapse
of the Assad government in Syria at the end of the year,
the fragile oil market experienced severe short-term price
volatility, which posed substantial challenges to daily
trading and hedging activities.

Highlights of Crude and Other Oil Products Trading
Activities in 2024

Despite the difficulties and challenges faced, the crude
oil team actively enhanced business transformation,
established a proprietary crude oil trading model
focused on Murban and Oman crude oil, strengthened
business fundamentals and enhanced the quality of its
crude oil trading business to ensure stable upscaling.
The Company continued to expand its market share
in the end-user markets for its fuel oil and condensate
businesses in addition to increasing sales channels.
Having established a comprehensive and integrated
trading chain comprising procurement, logistics and
sales to end-users, the Company continued to explore
new end-user markets and reduce its reliance on Chinese
refineries. The Company had also successfully entered
the Singapore Straits fuel oil market and expanded the
fuel oil physical trading sales channels.

Outlook and Trading Strategies in 2025

The international crude oil market is expected to maintain
volatile in 2025 with the supply-demand imbalance
persisting, putting pressure on the market. However,
several factors could significantly impact the market, such
as OPEC+ planned production increases in 2025, and
supply disruptions arising from proposed intensification of
U.S. sanctions on Russia and Iran. Furthermore, China’s
economic recovery and the ongoing situation of the
Russia-Ukraine war and Middle East conflicts will continue
to impact the oil market.

In view of these market challenges, the crude and fuel oil
team will focus on the Middle Eastern and Asian markets
in 2025, steadily carry out trade activities and continuously
improve the Company’s profitability under the premise of
good risk management.
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INVESTMENTS IN OIL-RELATED ASSETS

Shanghai Pudong International Airport Aviation Fuel
Supply Company Ltd (“SPIA”)

Established in 1997, SPIA is the exclusive supplier of jet fuel
and into-plane services at Shanghai Pudong International
Airport (“Pudong Airport”), one of the busiest airports in the
PRC in 2024 in terms of air passenger numbers.

It owns and operates all refuelling facilities at Pudong
Airport, including a full suite of hydrant systems, a fleet
of dispensers and refuelling trucks, refuelling stations,
an airport tank farm, and a 42-km dedicated jet fuel pipeline
connecting Pudong Airport to Waigaogiao terminal with
storage facilities of 200,000 m3 in capacity. CAO owns
a 33% stake in SPIA, with Shanghai International Airport
Co., Ltd owning 40% and Sinopec Shanghai Gaogiao
Petrochemical Co., Ltd owning 27% respectively.

As a major international aviation hub in Asia Pacific,
Pudong Airport is one of the best connected airport hubs
in China. Pudong Airport had shown remarkable growth
in 2024, with a passenger throughput of 76.79 million
passengers, an increase of 41.0% year-on-year. SPIA's
total sales (refuelling) volume of jet fuel for FY2024 was
4.26 milion mt, a year-on-year increase of 30.56%. SPIA is
expected to benefit from the increase of international and
domestic flights, leading to better business performance
for FY2025.

r
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China National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline
Transportation Corporation Ltd (“TSN-PEKCL”)

Established in 2008, TSN-PEKCL is a dedicated
pipeline company supplying jet fuel to Beijing Capital
International Airport (“Beijing Capital Airport”) and Tianjin
Binhai International Airport (“Tianjin Binhai Airport”).
China National Aviation Fuel Group Logistics Co., Ltd.
and CAO hold 51% and 49% stakes in TSN-PEKCL
respectively. Its key asset is a 185-km long jet fuel
transportation pipeline which links Tianjin Tanggu Nanjiang
Port, Tianjin Binhai Airport and Beijing Capital Airport.

In 2024, TSN-PEKCL's total aviation fuel transportation
volume increased 20.93% year-on-year to 1.72 million mt.

Shenzhen Zhenghe Petrochemicals Co., Ltd
(“Zhenghe”)

Engaged in the business of storage tank leasing
and trading of oil products, Zhenghe's key asset is
a storage tank farm located in the city of Maoming,
Guangdong Province, China, with a total storage capacity
of 79,000 m3.

Zhenghe’s shareholders include Shengyuan Petrochemicals
Co., Ltd and CAOQO, holding 60% and 40% stakes
respectively. In 2024, Zhenghe continued to be affected
by the slower-than-expected recovery and recorded
minor losses.
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PE KCL is a dedicated plpellne company supplying jet fuel to Bel]lng Capltal Internatlonal Alrport and Tianjin Binhai International Airport.
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OKYC operates the largest independent storage tank terminal in Yeosu, South Korea.
OKYCEEFHE MK RARMRI CiEIRHE,

Oilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd (“OKYC”)

OKYC, the largest independent storage tank terminal
in Yeosu, South Korea, was incorporated under a joint
venture agreement with six other companies including
Korea National Oil Corporation (“KNOC”), GS Caltex,
SK Incheon Petrochem, Samsung C&T, SL Corporation
(formerly known as Seoul Line Corporation) and LG
International. CAQO is the second largest shareholder with
26% equity stake after KNOC, which holds 29% of the
total issued shares of OKYC.

Strategically located at the centre of the North-East Asian
region with easy access to major oil consuming countries
and well-equipped for very large crude carriers (VLCC)
loading and discharging at berth up to 17.7 metres, OKYC
owns and operates a commercial storage tank terminal
with a total capacity of 1.3 million m2, capable of storing
crude oil, jet fuel, and other oil products.

Following the recovery of global oil demand in 2024,
OKYC saw a strong rise in its business volume and
sales price, recording an increase of 80.2% in its annual
operating income.

CNAF Hong Kong Refuelling Limited (“CNAF HKR”)

CNAF HKR provides high quality into-plane fuelling
services at Hong Kong International Airport (“HKIA”)
at Chek Lap Kok. As the third licensed refueller at
HKIA, CNAF HKR is well-equipped with a fleet of
specialised hydrant dispensers and bowsers which are
supported by a refuelling station that comes with an
administration building and scheduling office sited in a
3,000 m? compound. Shareholders of CNAF HKR include

CAOHK, Shenzhen Cheng Yuan Aviation Oil Company,
China United Petroleum (Holding) Company Limited and
Cheer Luck Investment Limited. Upon the completion of
capital injection in May 2022, CAQ’s shareholding in CNAF
HKR through CAOHK increased from 39% to 68%, making
CNAF HKR a majority-owned subsidiary of CAOHK.
The remaining three shareholders of CNAF HKR currently
hold equity stakes of 18.5%, 8.5% and 5% respectively.

HKIA handled a total of 53.1 million passengers and
4.9 million mt of cargo throughout in 2024, a year-on-year
increase of 34.3% and 14.0% respectively. CNAF HKR
achieved total aviation fuel sales (refuelling) volume of
1.28 million mt in 2024, supporting 35,700 flights. CNAF
HKR leveraged on its cost-control initiatives to refine its
business operation and gradually achieved a significant
cash inflow.

Aircraft Fuel Supply B.V. (“AFS”)

AFS, incorporated in the Netherlands, holds the concession
from the Schiphol Airport Authority to manage the storage
and distribution infrastructure of jet fuel on behalf of its
shareholders to airlines at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol
(“Schiphol Airport”). CAO holds 12.5% of AFS’s issued
shares while the other shareholders include major airline
companies and oil majors.

As one of the most connected airport hubs in Europe and
the main international airport of the Netherlands, Schiphol
Airport is equipped with the capacity to handle up to
500,000 flights annually. Schiphol Airport’s passenger
throughput in 2024 was 66.8 million, a year-on-year
increase of 8.27% from 61.7 million in 2023.
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CAO will actively foster global strategic partnerships with jet fuel suppliers and airlines to further expand its supply channéls.
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Dedicated to our mission of delivering long-term value
for shareholders and in line with our commitment
towards upholding high standards of corporate
governance and transparency, CAO places strategic
importance on Investor Relations and engages in
active and open communication with our shareholders
and the investment community. To ensure a sustained and
prompt flow of communication about the CAO Group’s
business development, performance and major
matters, CAO organised two investor group meetings
between its senior management and the investors, as
well as conducted over 120 meetings with analysts,
fund managers and investors from Singapore, Hong
Kong, Malaysia and Thailand during the year to discuss
CAQO’s key growth factors, recovery trends in Chinese
and International aviation travel, strategic direction of
CAO and trends that may serve as future performance
catalysts such as sustainable aviation fuel and Chinese
stimulus measures.

On the last trading day of the year, CAO’s share price
closed at S$0.92 per share (2023: S$0.88), with a market
capitalisation of $S$796 million. Both CAQO’s closing share
price and market capitalisation went up 4.5% year-over-
year. CAO continued to remain as a constituent in major
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benchmark indices including FTSE ST China, FTSE ST
Small Cap, FTSE Singapore Shariah Index and MSCI
Singapore Small Cap Indexes.

CAO remains committed to upholding a consistent
dividend payout ratio based on 30% of the CAO Group’s
annual consolidated net profit attributable to shareholders.
At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the Board of
Directors will propose a one-tier, tax-exempt first and final
ordinary dividend of 3.72 Singapore cents per share.

GLOBAL BASE OF INTERNATIONAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, China National Aviation Fuel
Group Limited remains the largest shareholder holding
51.31% of the total issued shares of CAO (excluding
treasury shares). BP Investments Asia Limited, a subsidiary
of oil major BP Plc, is the second largest shareholder
holding 20.17% of total issued shares of CAO (excluding
treasury shares). Total number of treasury shares held by
CAO remains unchanged at 6,000,000 for the financial
year 2024. The number of registered shareholders
was 11,943 in 2024. An analysis of the shareholding
structure carried out as at 31 December 2024 showed
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CAO Management presented a comprehensivé review of the Company’s performance and operations over fhe past yéar at the Company’s 2024 AGM.
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ot N\ \ |
In September 2024; CAO was awarded the “Most Transparent Company” (Energy’Category) at the SIAS Investors’ Choice Awards,
marking CAO’s 11 cumulative win.

AR TF2024FARRIIBIEFRAE MR FERAERFRO RBAQFR (BBRA) ; LR PEFUHITIK AR E+—RIRUEHR.

that institutional holdings accounted for over 12.8%
of the total issued shares, with the share of institutional
investors predominantly from Australia, Europe, Malaysia,
Singapore, the United Kingdom and the United States.

PROACTIVE & OPEN COMMUNICATION WITH
THE INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

CAOQO is committed to maintaining transparent and open
channels of communication with investors. Through timely
and accurate disclosures on the CAO Group’s latest
developments, CAO has garnered the recognition of the
investment community and is aptly covered by sell-side
analysts from various brokerages who regularly publish
research and industry reports relating to CAQ’s financial
performance and latest developments. In FY2024, CAO
continued to enhance market awareness and boost
analyst coverage of its shares. Lim & Tan Securities
initiated coverage on the Company during the year and
together with other coverage analysts published a total
of 17 in-depth analyst reports on CAQO’s investment
merits over the course of the year. Internally, CAO further
conducts an annual benchmarking exercise targeted to
enhance operational excellence and further align the CAO
group with best practices as well as to consider innovative
business models within the capital market and among
industry peers.

Alongside our interactions with both retail and institutional
investors, we also monitor media reports closely as part of
our efforts to continually improve corporate disclosure and
investor relations practices. In 2024, CAO was featured
in over 63 media articles, sustaining the CAO Group’s

share of voice and active presence in Singapore as well as
internationally. Meanwhile, the CAO Group continued to
maintain a robust, mobile-compatible corporate website to
provide useful information to investors in a timely manner.

CAO continuously seeks opportunities to strengthen
its market recognition and standing in the business
community, making tireless efforts to explore new
avenues to communicate our strategic developments and
advantages with capital market entities, industry regulators
and institutional investors to enhance investor confidence.
Reflecting the market recognition for CAO’s continued
efforts in corporate governance and transparency, we
further strengthened the Company’s brand recognition
and reputation in the capital market concurrently winning
the following awards:

—  “Best Risk Management Award (Gold)” at the
Singapore Corporate Awards

—  “Most Transparent Company” (Energy Category)
at the Securities Investors Association (Singapore)
(“SIAS”) Investors’ Choice Awards, marking CAO’s
11" cumulative win.

—  “Corporate Sustainability — Green Innovation” award
from the Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
(“ACES”) awards

CAO remains committed to delivering long-term value
for shareholders, ensuring effective investor relations,
and upholding the core principles of the Code of
Corporate Governance and maintaining best practices in
corporate governance.
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2024 CAO SHARE PRICE MOVEMENT & TRADING VOLUME
2024 F PEfHF K ARRNEL SR ZE
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SHARE PRICE INFORMATION
RMES

T
(#fryT)

As at last trading day of the year

BEUENSE— 2R 1.06 0.94 0.89 0.88 0.92
Highest &= 1.32 1.20 0.96 1.10 0.96
Lowest &1t 0.72 0.91 0.64 0.73 0.84
Average 15 1.02 1.05 0.85 0.92 0.89

Source: Bloomberg

REBRR . 2t

CORPORATE CALENDAR
REESHIER
Announcement of 2H2024 and 2024 full-year financial results 27 February 2025
2024 F FHFEMeF USRS 2025%2H827H
31t Annual General Meeting 24 April 2025
EIIRRBEBERAKRES 20255F4H24H
Proposed First and Final Dividend for FY2024
2024 FEER R AR BR B
Record Date 13 May 2025
EicH 2025%5813H
Payment date 27 May 2025
(/A= 2025%5H827H
Announcement of 1H2025 results August 2025
2025 F EFFIWHAH 2025484
Announcement of 2H2025 and 2025 full-year financial results February 2026

2025 E FHEMeFEWSGNE 2026F2H
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s active and open communication with institutional
investors and analysts through regular result briefings.
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Zou Yaoping
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SHI YANLIANG
Executive Chairman

Mr Shi Yanliang is responsible for charting the overall
corporate strategy, planning and development of the CAO
Group. He also provides guidance and support to the senior
management, ensuring that the Company’s operational
objectives and sustainability goals are being met.

As the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company,
Mr Shi presides over meetings of the Board of Directors
as well as annual general meetings of the Company, and
oversees the implementation of Board resolutions. He also
acts as a liaison between the Company’s management

and members of the Board of Directors, upholding
effective corporate governance, fostering collaboration
and constructive dialogues, and ensuring the smooth
functioning of the Board and its Board Committees.

With almost three decades of experience in the petroleum
industry, Mr Shi is a respected senior corporate leader
and has held various leadership positions at various
PRC state-owned enterprises. Prior to this appointment,
Mr Shi’s principal appointment was as Chairman of China
National Aviation Petrochemicals Pipeline Co. Ltd.

Please refer to the profile of Mr Shi under “Board of
Directors” section for more information.
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LIN YI
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director

As the Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director of
the Company, Mr Lin Yi has overall responsibility for
the management of the businesses of the CAO Group.
His key responsibilities include providing leadership for
all aspects of the CAO Group’s business operations and
implementing the business strategies of the CAO Group to
achieve operating targets and business growth.

Prior to his appointment as Chief Executive Officer/
Executive Director of the Company, Mr Lin was the
General Manager of China National Aviation Fuel South
China Bluesky Corporation Ltd, a position he held since
November 2018.

He is also the Chairman of North American Fuel Corporation,
China Aviation Oil (Hong Kong) Company Limited and
China Aviation Fuel (Europe) Limited, overseeing the
CAO Group’s day-to-day business operations in USA,
Hong Kong SAR and Europe respectively.

Please refer to the profile of Mr Lin Yi under “Board of
Directors” section for more information.

ZOU YAOPING
Chief Financial Officer/Vice President

As the Chief Financial Officer/Vice President of the
Company, Mr Zou Yaoping is responsible for the Company’s
financial management functions and oversees the CAO
Group’s financial reporting and accounting practices,
financial planning and analysis, treasury, and tax-related
matters. Besides overseeing the Finance Department,
Mr Zou also has oversight responsibility over the Operations
Department and other management functions.

Mr Zou joined the Company in September 2021 as Vice
President and was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
of the Company in September 2022. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr Zou was the Deputy General Manager-
Finance of China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited
(“CNAF”) from May 2017 to August 2021. He joined CNAF
in 2005 and had held various senior management roles
with a portfolio spanning finance management, financial
investment, and hedging management in the Finance
Department of CNAF as well as China National Aviation
Fuel Finance Co., Ltd.

Mr Zou graduated from Central South University, China,
with a Bachelor’'s degree in Economics (majoring in
International Finance) as well as a Master of Business
Administration. He is also a certified Senior Economist.
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STEADFAST IN

S TION

As the winds of change continue to blow across the business
landscape, we will maintain a high level of market adaptability
to navigate uncertainties while embracing digital and business
transformation to enhance our capabilities and readiness to

capture new growth opportunities.



48

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2024 SUSTARINABILITY REPORT HIGHLIGHTS

2024 FErFS A RIRSHE

In 2024, the aviation fuel market experienced significant
growth, driven by renewed air travel demand and a global
economic recovery. A key development was the increasing
focus on Sustainable Aviation Fuel (“SAF”), as governments
worldwide introduced mandatory usage requirements,
signalling a clear shift towards environmentally responsible
aviation. These priorities were further underscored
at COP29, where discussions centred on the aviation
sector’s transition to clean energy, emphasising the need
for collaboration and financial investment to scale up
sustainable fuel production and adoption.

Recognising these industry shifts, CAO has released its
eighth Sustainability Report, reaffirming our commitment
to transparency in ESG performance and achievements.
The report was prepared with reference to the IFRS

STEP 1: IDENTIFY
We conducted desk research and benchmarking to identify our
economic, environmental, and social impact, with reference to peer
disclosures, ISSB S2, GRI 2021, SGX-ST’s 27 core metrics, SASB’s
oil and gas standards and insights from S&P Global, MSCI, and
Refinitiv. A total of 21 topics were identified as the key outcomes
of this step.

il

STEP 2: RATE
We grouped topics with similar definitions across sources and
assessed their recurrence, refining the list to 10 prioritised topics.

Sustainability Disclosure Standards issued by the
International Sustainability Standards Board (“ISSB”), the
Universal Standards of Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”)
standards 2021, and Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board (“SASB”) standards for Oil and Gas—Midstream
(volume 12), offering stakeholders a comprehensive view of
the Company’s sustainability initiatives and their relevance to
the operations.

CAQ actively engages with internal and external
stakeholders to identify key concerns and regularly refines
the material topics to ensure relevance. In 2024,
we strengthened our approach by expanding our materiality
assessment to incorporate financial impact evaluation.
Guided by GRI 2021 and SGX Practice Note 7.6,
we adopted a structured four-phase approach as follows:

A
| —

STEP 3: PRIORITISE
Leveraging our Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework,
we assessed risks and impacts for each topic to help stakeholders
prioritise key issues. We conducted internal surveys to evaluate
and prioritise the 10 ESG topics based on their impact and
financial materiality, with the latter aligned to ISSB requirement.
These survey results informed the development of a preliminary
materiality matrix.

=

STEP 4: VALIDATE
The preliminary materiality matrix was refined by management,
reviewed by the Sustainability Committee, and approved by
the Board.

The materiality matrix for the reporting period has been updated based on stakeholder engagement insights.
The 10 material topics identified and shortlisted in FY2023 remain relevant and unchanged, with four classified as the

most critical to CAQO.

Materiality Matrix

Low Carbon Transition and Carbon Neutrality

Climate Change Strategy

Biodiversity and Ecological Impact

Impact Materiality

Diversity and Equal Opportunities

Health and Safety

Community Investment and Development

Corporate Governance

Asset Integrity and Critical Incident Management

Cyber Security and Data Privacy

Sustainable Supply Chain

Financial Materiality
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Guided by our sustainability framework and roadmap,
we remain committed to driving progress across four
interconnected pillars: Valuing Nature, Empowering
Well-being, Fostering Collaborative Innovation, and
Governing with Excellence. To strengthen our sustainability
practices under these pillars, we have set clear targets,
implemented key initiatives, and consistently monitored
and disclosed progress on the 10 material topics.

VALUING NATURE

Building on our FY2023 efforts, CAO conducted financial
climate risk assessments under two scenarios, aligning
with ISSB requirements. We further integrated climate
considerations into our corporate risk management
framework, and identified assets vulnerable to physical
climate risks to support data-driven risk mitigation and
adaptation planning and enhance our resilience against
climate-related challenges.

Aligned with our 2050 net-zero target, we achieved
significant emissions reductions this year through
operational optimisations and the procurement of
Renewable Energy Certificates (“RECs”). Additionally,
we advanced our transition to lower-emission fuels
by replacing diesel with Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil
(“HVO”) for our refuelling vehicles. To support industrial
decarbonisation efforts, we actively expanded our blended
SAF supply and engaged in carbon credit trading.

CAQO remains committed to environmental stewardship by
ensuring compliance with local environmental laws and
regulations while contributing to biodiversity conservation.
In partnership with the National Parks Board, we joined
the OneMillionTrees movement under the Singapore
Green Plan 2030 and participated in a mangrove-planting
initiative on Pulau Ubin.

EMPOWERING WELL-BEING

CAO upholds a people-centric approach, fostering a
fair, inclusive, and safe work environment. We remain
committed to equal opportunity and have integrated
diversity considerations into our recruitment practices.
To enhance employee well-being and development,
we introduced flexible work arrangements, structured
career development programmes, and comprehensive
health benefits.

Beyond our workforce, we invest in community
support initiatives, focusing on underprivileged groups.
This included engaging elderly residents at Kwong Wai
Shiu Hospital and supporting disadvantaged children
through targeted outreach programmes.

FOSTERING COLLABORATIVE INNOVATION

Our advancements in SAF initiatives were a key highlight
this year. We successfully expanded our SAF supply
business and renewed our International Sustainability
& Carbon Certificate (“ISCC”) Carbon Offsetting and
Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (“CORSIA”)
and ISCC EU certifications with an extended scope,
strengthening the foundation for our sustainable fuel
operations. Additionally, we reinforced supply chain
management by updating our Know Your Customer
(“KYC”) form to incorporate ESG criteria, reinforcing our
commitment to responsible and sustainable procurement.
Further demonstrating our commitment, we established
new partnerships with SAF suppliers, expanding our
sustainable supply network and strengthening our
market presence.

GOVERNING WITH EXCELLENCE

CAQO prioritises strong governance to ensure effective
oversight of our sustainability strategies. We conducted an
annual self-evaluation to ensure the effectiveness of the
Board and its Committees in addressing sustainability-
related risks and opportunities with excellence and
foresight. Additionally, we undertook a comprehensive
review of internal governance policies and Standard
Operating Procedures (“SOPs”), enhancing operational
efficiency and regulatory compliance.

To further strengthen our cybersecurity and data privacy
management, we oversaw the implementation of the
Zero Trust Cybersecurity Framework! and enhanced data
privacy management systems. We also reinforced asset
integrity management through stringent due diligence in
vessel selection, updated asset integrity and emergency
management policies, and regular drills.

For details of CAO’s sustainability development, please
refer to the CAO FY2024 Sustainability Report.

' The Zero Trust framework is widely regarded as a key security model and a commonly referenced standard in modern cybersecurity.
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The Company remains cautiously optimistic of its performance for
the current financial year.

RENAVHFENRVRFEETRSE,

OVERVIEW

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”),
the CAO Group achieved total revenue of US$15.52 billion,
an increase of 7.6% compared to US$14.43 billion for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”) due
to the increase in volume.

The CAO Group’s operating profit increased by 11.9%
to US$39.86 million for FY2024 as compared to FY2023
mainly due to decrease in expenses partially offset by the
decrease in gross profit and other operating income.

The share of results of associates was US$45.89 million
for FY2024, an increase of 51.4% compared to US$30.32
million for FY2023.

The CAO Group’s net profit attributable to the owners of
the Company in FY2024 rose US$19.50 million or 33.1%
to US$78.36 million. Consequently, Earnings Per Share
attributable to the owners of the Company was higher at
9.11 US cents compared to 6.84 US cents in FY2023.
Return on Equity increased 1.74 percentage points to
8.1%, mainly attributable to the higher profits.

Net cash generated from operating activities in FY2024
was US$121.36 million, an increase of US$66.80
million compared to US$54.56 million in FY2023 mainly
attributable to the increase in operating profit and lower
utilisation of working capital for trading. Net cash generated
from investing activities increased by US$18.38 million
to US$44.64 million due to higher receipt of interest and

dividends from associates in FY2024. The acquisition of
property, plant and equipment in 2023 had partially offset
the cash inflows in FY2023. Net cash used in financing
activities in FY2024 were US$38.34 million compared to
US$16.57 million in FY2023, an increase of US$21.77
million mainly attributable to the increase of US$21.62
million in dividends paid in FY2024.

The CAO Group is proposing a final one-tier tax exempt
ordinary dividend of $$0.0372 per share for FY2024.

Global market conditions are expected to remain
challenging due to oil price volatility, uncertain global
economic growth and heightened geopolitical tensions.
However, with a strong balance sheet, the CAO Group
is well-positioned to leverage on the opportunities
presented by the continued recovery of the global
aviation industry and remains cautiously optimistic
of its performance for the current financial year, as it
remains committed to strengthening its operational
resilience, and continues to build on its jet fuel supply and
trading network, complemented with trading in other
oil products. The CAO Group will also continue to focus
on long-term profitability by seeking opportunities for
strategic expansion through investments in synergetic
and strategic oil-related assets and businesses.

OPERATING PROFIT

Total supply and trading volume was 21.92 million metric
tonnes (“mt”) for FY2024, an increase of 9.4% compared
to 20.03 million mt for FY2023. The supply and trading
volume of middle distillates increased 38.0% to 13.83
million mt for FY2024, compared to 10.02 million mt for
FY2023. Despite the drop in ail price, revenue from middle
distillates, which accounted for 68.9% of the CAO Group’s
total revenue in FY2024, increased 23.0% to US$10.70
billion due to an increase in volume. Trading volume for
other oil products, comprising mainly crude oil and fuel oil,
decreased by 1.92 million mt or 19.2% to 8.09 million mt
for FY2024 and generated US$4.82 billion in revenue.

China remains the CAO Group’s largest market, accounting
for 67.2% of the CAO Group’s revenue in FY2024, an
increase of 6.39 percentage points compared to FY2023.

Gross profit decreased by 17.3% to US$41.87 million for
FY2024 compared to US$50.60 million for FY2023, mainly
attributable to lower gains derived from jet supply and
trading of other oil products.

Other operating income was US$17.35 milion for FY2024
compared to US$18.72 million for FY2023, a decrease of
US$1.37 million (7.3%) largely attrioutable to lower interest
income. Interest income was US$16.97 milion for FY2024
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compared to US$17.74 million for FY2023, a decrease
of US$0.77 million (4.3%) attributable mainly to lower
interest rates and deposits placed with banks and financial
institutions. The dividends from investment in equity
instrument in FY2024 was US$0.07 million, a decrease of
US$0.41 million compared to US$0.48 million in FY2023.
Exchange differences was US$0.03 million for FY2024
compared to US$0.34 million for FY2023, a decrease of
US$0.31 million due to the depreciation of Euro dollar
against US dollar in FY2024.

Total expenses decreased by US$14.34 million (42.6%)
to US$19.36 million for FY2024 compared to US$33.70
million for FY2023, mainly attributable to the impairment
of US$3.38 million in goodwill and US$8.65 million in
investment of an associate in FY2023. Legal fees decreased
by US$2.40 million year-on-year mainly due to the award
of costs of US$0.80 million following the success in BCP
suit while higher legal fees in FY2023 was due to provision
of legal fees for BCP suit. The ECL provision for FY2024
was US$0.26 million compared to US$1.16 million for
FY2023, a decrease of US$0.65 million.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

The share of results from associates was US$45.89
million for FY2024 compared to US$30.32 million for
FY2023, an increase of US$15.57 million (51.4%),
mainly attributable to higher contributions from SPIA.
Share of results from SPIA was US$44.47 million for
FY2024 compared to US$31.46 million for FY2023,
an increase of US$13.01 million or 41.4%, mainly
attributable to higher refuelling volume which led to
higher revenue and profit. Share of results from other
associates was US$1.42 million for FY2024 compared to
-US$1.14 million for FY2023, an improvement of US$2.56
million, mainly due to higher share of results from OKYC
and TSN-PEKCL.

NET PROFIT

The CAO Group’s profit before tax at US$85.75 million
was higher by 30.1% compared to US$65.93 million
for FY2023, mainly attributable to the increase in share
of results and the decrease in expenses, partially offset by
the decrease in gross profit.

Income tax expense was US$7.66 million for FY2024
compared to US$7.56 million for FY2023, an increase of
US$0.10 million or 1.4%.

As a result of higher share of results and lower expenses,
the CAO Group recorded net profit of US$78.09 million for
FY2024, higher by US$19.72 million or 33.8% compared
to US$58.37 million for FY2023.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The CAO Group continues to maintain a healthy balance
sheetin FY2024. As at 31 December 2024, total assets was
US$1.99 billion, an increase of US$0.20 billion compared
to US$1.79 billion as at 31 December 2023, mainly due
to the increase in trade and other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents, partially offset by the decrease
in inventories.

The CAO Group’s liquidity and debt servicing ability remained
strong. As at 31 December 2024, the CAO Group’s cash
and cash equivalents were US$500.33 million, an increase
of US$127.29 million compared to US$373.04 million as at
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2024, the CAO
Group’s current ratio and quick ratio were 1.71 and 1.64
respectively (FY2023: 1.82 and 1.71 respectively). As at
31 December 2024, the CAO Group’s total trade and
banking facilities amounted to US$3.57 billion.

As at 31 December 2024, the equity attributable to owners
of the Company stood at US$986.27 million, or 114.66
US cents per share, compared to US$948.40 million or
110.26 US cents per share as at 31 December 2023.
Equity attributable to the non-controlling interests was
US$3.68 million as at 31 December 2024.

The CAO Group continues to preserve its overall liquidity
position to support its supply and trading businesses.
The CAO Group’s principal sources of cash flow are derived
from its supply and trading business operations as well as
dividends received from its investment in associates.

The CAO Group’s FY2024 financial performance has
demonstrated the strength and resilience of CAO’s
businesses despite operating in difficult global market
conditions. CAO will continue to maintain a healthy
balance sheet, exercising stringent credit management
as it continues to focus on credit control as well as
account receivables and working capital management,
while proactively seeking synergetic and strategic asset
investment opportunities to diversify and augment its
income streams.

ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED

Economic Value Added profit for FY2024 was US$15.82
million, an improvement of US$16.92 million from
-US$1.10 million for FY2023, mainly due to the increase
in net earnings on the back of higher capital employed.
Net profit attributable to equity owners of the Company
increased 33.1% year-on-year to US$78.36 million for
FY2024, compared to US$58.86 million for FY2023.
The CAO Group will continue to focus on improving
efficiency and remain prudent in financial management to
create value for shareholders.
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5-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RFMSHE

INCOME STATEMENT (US$’000)

B (F%7T)

Revenue W\ 10,516,955 17,636,657 16,464,124 14,429,573 15,518,512
Gross Profit 7 45,872 30,697 35,391 50,598 41,865
Share of Results of Associates

BEARKRAERR 24,789 23,550 17,902 30,318 45,804
Net Profit after Tax #¢/Z%F5E* 56,193 40,350 33,532 58,856 78,357
AR GR (F£7T)

Total Assets =& 1,887,949 1,535,658 1,499,618 1,787,514 1,991,699
Total Equity A& ARz 876,879 901,369 902,978 948,400 986,270
Cash and Cash Equivalents

MENIMEFENYD 269,107 400,837 308,195 373,040 500,329

FINANCIAL RATIOS

5

Earnings per Share (US$ cents)*

SR (E9) 6.53 4.69 3.90 6.84 9.11
Net Asset Value per Share (US$ cents)*

SERERE (ED) 101.94 104.79 104.97 110.26 114.66
Return on Equity /&35 =[Ok &~ 6.57% 4.54% 3.72% 6.36% 8.10%
Return on Assets &A= EliRE* 3.22% 2.61% 2.50% 4.03% 4.56%
Debt Equity Ratio &z B fa = 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
( \ 4 N\

Total Equity* Total Cash and Cash Equivalents
B AN MERMEENY
948,400 36820
876,879 901,396 902,978 500,329
400,837

B B 373,040

K K

i - 308,195

o o

S 8| 269,107

8 8

| | l

) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 ) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Relates to the amount attributable to equity owners of the Company ¥ &8 T AR FEE



CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FINANCIAL REVIEW
A 45 (51 /63t

CAO will continue to focus on improvng efficiency and remain prudent in financial management to create value for shareholders:
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In 2024, the global oil market faced shifting dynamics,
influenced by China’s slowing demand growth, the rise
of electric vehicles, and geopolitical tensions. Historically
contributing over 60% of global oil demand growth,
China’s share fell to under 20%, with India emerging as a
key driver of demand. Meanwhile, geopoalitical instability,
including conflicts in the Middle East and tensions
between major oil-producing nations, led to supply
uncertainties and price volatility. In the aviation sector,
air travel rebounded strongly, with global passenger traffic
nearing pre-pandemic levels. Asia, particularly India and
China, contributed 60% to global jet fuel demand growth,
signalling a continued recovery despite high fuel prices
and supply chain disruptions.

Under the influence of the challenging external
environment, the operations and business development
of CAO were faced with significant challenges, and the
complexity of various business risks and the difficulty
of effective controls increased. In 2024, Brent crude oil
prices exhibited notable fluctuations. The year started with
Brent trading at approximately US$77.04 per barrel on
1 January 2024. Throughout the year, prices varied
between US$68 and US$93 per barrel, marking the
narrowest trading range since 2019. The highest closing
price was US$91.17 per barrel, the lowest annual high
since 2021. By 31 December 2024, Brent crude closed
at US$74.64 per barrel, reflecting a 3.2% decline from the
previous year’s closing price.

Under such a complex and constantly changing
environment, CAO relied on its four-tier, two-line risk
management framework and reporting structure to
analyse, assess and identify various risks to effectively
mitigate and manage the risk exposure faced by the
CAO Group’s expanding global business operations while
ensuring sustainable, healthy business growth.

In 2024, the Company continued to enhance its risk
management system, internal risk methodology, as
well as strengthening its key risk indicators monitoring
work. The Company optimised the quality of its trading
counterparties through active monitoring and conducting
thorough counterparty portfolio review that focused on
high-risk counterparties and growth segments, further
strengthening the Company’s ability to manage exposures.
CAOQO also automated certain day-to-day operational duties
to further improve internal efficiency. The Company’s
market risk limits were also updated to reflect current
market conditions and the Company’s risk appetite, further
enhancing the Company’s effectiveness and efficiency in
risk management.

As part of its risk culture, the CAO Group continues to
actively develop and refine its centralised risk control
and support network to support global business growth.
The CAO Group’s risk management process has the
following features:

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK, POLICIES
AND PROCESSES

CAQ’s comprehensive risk management framework
comprises risk management policies, guidelines,
procedures, processes, limits, as well as systems of
internal controls, which are put in place to identify,
measure and control various risks encountered in our
business operations, enabling the CAO Group to quickly
respond to constantly changing market conditions.

Our risk management foundation is built upon three
pillars namely:

1.
2.
3.

Four-tier, two-line management and control structure;
Policies, guidelines and control framework; and
System, standard processes and people.

The CAO Group’s four-tier, two-line management and
control structure is designed to ensure sound governance
and oversight over the execution of effective risk
management practices for the CAO Group.

At the strategy and governance level, the Board of
Directors has oversight responsibility for the effective risk
management of CAO. All risk management related issues
will be ultimately reported to the Board of Directors.

At the tactical and policy level, the Risk Management
Committee (“RMC”) oversees strategic risk management
issues. The RMC reviews the limits for various types of risks
and proposes to the Board for approval and in addition,
approves new activities that CAO plans to embark on.
Through monthly reports and half yearly meetings, the
RMC reviews the various risk metrics that provide an
indication on CAO’s risk exposures and the manageability
of each category of risk.

At the management and control level, the Company Risk
Team (“CRT”) plans and implements risk management
controls over risk exposures such as market, credit,
operational, enterprise, compliance and reputational
risks. The CRT operates within the delegated authority
set at the RMC level. The CMT is chaired by the Head of
Risk Management, who reports to the CEO but has an
independent direct reporting line to the RMC.
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CAO’S ROBUST RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL STRUCTURE
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At the operation level, the Risk Management Department
ensures that risk management activities are executed daily
and that all risk-related policies, processes and limits are
implemented and adhered to. Over the past decades,
the risk management team has defined and built the
framework around risk management, identifying, reporting
and monitoring the risk profiles of the CAO Group’s supply
and trading businesses in Singapore, Hong Kong SAR,
USA and Europe. CAO’s global risk team, with professional
credentials such as Financial Risk Manager (FRM) by
Global Association of Risk Professionals (GARP) and their
expertise in credit, market and enterprise risk management
supports appropriate risk management practices in daily
operations across the globe, enabling the management
team to execute strategic business objectives and achieve
performance targets.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

The CAO Group’s growing multi-product portfolio of
businesses subjects CAO to a number of risks. These
include exposures stemming from changes to regulatory
and operational conditions in certain regions, fluctuations
in currencies and volatility in oil prices. To better
manage the risk exposures of the CAO Group’s growing
business portfolio, CAO has continually enhanced its risk
management processes and methodologies to better
manage the growing uncertainties in the CAO Group’s
key markets.

Risk Management Department
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CAO’s management of risk includes identifying key areas
of uncertainties and risks that will impact the CAO Group’s
strategic performance, and have in place the appropriate
risk mitigating initiatives to manage them:

U Market risk

is the risk of losses arising from
movements in trading positions
and market prices.

. Credit risk

is the risk due to uncertainty
of counterparty to meet its
contractual obligations.

e Operation risk is the risk arising from operational
gaps of both financial and physical

operations.

is the risk of financial and/or
reputational loss that can result
from lack of awareness or
misunderstanding of, ambiguity
in, or reckless indifference to,
the way law and regulation apply
to a company’s business.

e Legalrisk

is the risk that that a firm will
be unable to meet its financial
obligations.

U Finance risk
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TOP 5 RISKS AND MITIGATI

ON

At CAO, we constantly strive to improve our risk control systems through adopting best-in-class practices and developing
new initiatives to enhance the CAO Group'’s risk management capabilities. On top of managing the key identified business
risks on a daily basis, we have also analysed and determined the top five risks in CAO’s operating environment in 2024

through an internal assessment.

1  Strategic investment 1.

risks
2
8
2  Counterparty 1.
credit risk 2

3 Policy change in
China aviation

fuel market
2
3
4
4 Price fluctuation 1

itigation Strategies M

Actively seek opportunities to add value to CAO’s core jet fuel business,
focusing on aviation marketing and supporting the Company's supply and
trade network.

. Continuously improve the Company's investment business through

acquisition activities, and investments in synergetic assets with profit growth,
as well as increasing investment efforts in the industrial and value chain.

. Closely monitor changes relating to the external market and industry,

and proactively explore new business opportunities to ensure the Company’s
long-term competitiveness.

Set appropriate counterparty credit limits for its global counterparties.

. Implement dynamic management process to monitor the credit of

counterparties; establish an active counterparty list and a blacklist. Ensure
the quality of counterparties by conducting regular reviews as well as
ad-hoc reviews based on macro economy changes.

. Multiple rounds of trade counterparty clean up exercises have been carried

out to improve the overall trade counterparty quality.

. Implement credit mitigation such as letters of credit prepayment, credit

insurance, etc.

. Manage credit risk issues through Credit Committee.
. Leverage the Company's existing supply and trade capabilities to establish

a diversified business structure, and enhance its trading capabilities for
other oil products.

. Actively explore and gain entry into overseas jet fuel and other oil product

markets. Secure domestic and overseas resources to sustain stable and
long-term growth of market share in target markets. At the same time,
increase the efficiency of logistics management, extend the business value
chain, and establish a comprehensive supply chain and trading network
incorporating procurement, storage, transportation, sales and trade activities.

. Optimise supply resources and adjust supply models in accordance with

the aviation fuel supply and demand situation in China.

. Leverage the CAO Group’s existing aviation marketing advantages to develop

its biofuel supply and trading business, as well as expand new business and
revenue sources.

. The front office and relevant CAO subsidiaries are to closely monitor

market changes and strictly carry out trade activities within the Company's
prescribed risk limits.

. Risk Management Department to provide daily report monitoring.
. Increase the frequency and granularity of aviation market procurement and

sales quantity forecasts.

Mid

Mid

Mid

Mid
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Mitigation Strategies M

5 Climate Risk and
Energy Policy
Transformation

. Ensure all climate-related disclosures are in accordance with SGX requirements,
i.e. to incorporate climate-related disclosures based on TCFD requirements
to ensure compliance with information disclosure.

. Develop and implement carbon reduction measures, including the use of LED

Mid

lights as much as possible, and encourage employees to reduce paper printing.

. Upon obtaining the relevant biofuel supply and trading qualifications,

the Company has been actively advancing the development of its biofuel

supply and trading busine

SS.

. CAO has been proactively seeking sustainable biofuel-related investment

opportunities and projects, striving to become a technology and resource

driven company.

COMPREHENSIVE ENTERPRISE
RISK MANAGEMENT

Recognising that risk management plays an important
role in business sustainability, CAO has adopted
Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) practices to
identify and manage the various types of risks the CAO
Group’s globalised operations is exposed to. Building on
the ERM practices, the risk management team is able to
identify, analyse and prioritise key risk factors faced by
the CAO Group, through which action plans to mitigate
identified risks are executed as planned by respective
risk owners from various business units and functions.
The process ensures that key risks are proactively
monitored and managed and that appropriate mitigations
are put in place.

Under the ERM, the top-down and bottom-up approach is
deployed to effect information collection and compilation
for the CAO Group’s risk register. CAO currently reviews
the Risk Register risk entries semi-annually. During the
review process, we quantified each risk entry in term of
impact and probability and rank them, so as to select the
most significant potential risks.

Besides the Risk Register, the CRT which comprises
CAQ’s senior management team and heads from various
business functions, forms the next critical component of
our ERM model and is an important channel for discussing
risk-related topics and issues. Through regular meetings,
as well as ad-hoc ones and e-mail circulation, potential
risk factors identified in daily business operations can be
discussed and evaluated timely.

For the past recent years, the stress-testing conducted at
the enterprise level, covering various risk categories has
enabled the CAO Group to better understand the possible

impact CAO faced under special events and environments,
enabling the CAOGroup to execute appropriate and
effective risk mitigation measures.

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT AND
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

In the area of market risk management, the Risk
Management Department monitors and analyses the
CAO Group’s supply and trading activities, maintains
comprehensive risk control records and reports daily to
the management team as well as stakeholders of various
business functions.

The Market Value at Risk (“MVaR”) is used as a primary tool
to measure market risk. All physical and financial contracts
are subjected to MVaR limits and valuation of the holding
portfolio is monitored on a daily basis. A set of market
risk limits, which are delegated by the Board, include
Volumetric limits, MVaR, Management Alert Triggers,
Stop-Loss limits and Hedging Ratio, are measured and
monitored daily, with back-testing conducted regularly to
ensure the reliability of our MVaR model.

To complement the market risk limits, the Risk
Management Department also conducts market stress
tests on the Company's trading positions on a regular
basis. Using historical scenarios from the database,
the Risk Management Department simulates in a timely
manner the likely impact of the CAO Group’s recent
trading position in times of extreme market conditions.
In 2024, we conducted four stress tests including the
Russia-Ukraine Conflict scenario, which allowed CAO to
have timely and deeper insight of our business activities,
and enabled the CAO Group to take mitigating actions
when necessary.
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Notwithstanding the high volatility in the market
environment, the CAO Group’s risk appetite remained
cautious and measured. The daily MVaR utilisation rate,
based on a 95% confidence interval, remained stable with
an average MVaR utilisation of approximately US$1 million
in 2024.

In 2024, we continued to conduct derivatives business
in strict accordance with the Hedging Business Proposal
approved by the Board of Directors, which requires all
derivatives business to be for hedging purposes and
strictly prohibits speculation in derivatives business.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONCENTRATION ANALYSIS

Due to the nature of our business operations, credit risk
is inherent in the CAO Group’s trading business. It is thus,
one of the most significant measurable risks faced by CAQ.

Credit risk is classified into credit default risk, concentration
risk and country risk:

1. Credit default risk is the risk of losses arising from a
counterparty being unable to pay its obligations in full

Concentration risk is the risk posed to a company
by any single or group of exposures which have the
potential to produce losses large enough to threaten
the ability of the company to continue operating as
a going concern

Country risk or sovereign risk is the risk of loss arising
from a sovereign state freezing foreign currency
payments or when it defaults on its obligations;

To actively manage our credit risk, counterparties’ credit
worthiness is evaluated periodically based on their
financial standings, operating and payment track records
as well as conducting background checks. Actual credit
terms and limits to be granted are derived based on the
information obtained.

Given the increasingly volatile operating environment and
uncertain geo-political situation in recent years, the CAO
Group has continued to maintain a prudent credit risk
management practice. The key areas of focus include:

1. Special reviews and deep dives into high-risk
counterparties or industry segments, allowing the
CAO Group to adopt pre-emptive measures and
actions to avert potential credit events;

Enhance the counterparty management policies
to improve the effectiveness and efficiencies of
counterparty management in the CAO Group, and
also to conduct counterparties clean up exercises
to reduce exposure to riskier counterparties and
improve the overall credit quality of the CAO Group’s
portfolio of counterparties.

Effectively alleviates the Company’s credit risk
exposure through credit insurance, bank letters of
credit, etc.
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Our concentration risk profile of accounts receivables are
as follows:

By Country

As of 31 December 2024, our geographical exposure
was predominantly Mainland China (50.39%), Singapore
(32.29%) and Japan (7.82%), which made up 90.50% of
the CAO Group’s total exposure.

During the fiscal year, the predominant exposures are from
China and Singapore.

By Internal Credit Rating

As of 31 December 2024, in terms of internal credit rating,
the CAO Group’s exposure mainly comes from Grade
B2 (35.86%), Grade B1 (33.53%) and A2 (20.61%),
which accounted for approximately 90% of our account
receivable position. Letters of credit receivables constituted
approximately 31.65% of total account receivables.

As of 31 December 2024, the exposure from these internal
ratings of Grade A1 to B2 (including exposures against
letters of credit) equivalent of investment-grade made
up 93.32% of the CAO Group’s receivable exposure.
The overall credit grade composition of the receivables
portfolio was satisfactory.

% of AR Exposure by Internal Credit Rating
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For other non-investment-grade credit rated
counterparties, CAO hardly granted them any credit lines,
and if necessary, the payment terms granted to them are
on letters of credit and prepayment basis, which effectively
reduced the CAO Group’s credit risk exposure.

The CAO Group also employs credit enhancement or
mitigation tools where necessary. These include obtaining
parental company guarantees, cash collateral, letter of
credit from investment-rated banks and off-set clause
in contracts.

Risk management in CAO remains an integral part of the
CAO Group’s strategic and operational management.
As a testament of our robust risk control system, CAO
was awarded the Best Risk Management Award (Gold)
at the Singapore Corporate Awards 2024, reflecting the
industry recognition of our effective risk management
practices. We remain committed to proactively promote
a strong culture of risk awareness and will continuously
enhance our risk management processes and capabilities
to ensure that CAO is able to effectively execute its
strategies and achieve its strategic targets to deliver
sustainable shareholder value.
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To achieve good business performance and long-term
sustainable growth of shareholder value, the Board of
Directors of CAO and the Management are committed
to promoting responsible business conduct, upholding
high standards of oversight and accountability, and
embedding integrity and ethics into the CAO Group’s
day-to-day operations.

OPERATING RESPONSIBLY

The Compliance Team of the Legal & Compliance
Department is responsible for ensuring that the CAO
Group adopts responsible business practices, mirroring
our corporate values of excellence, innovation, diversity
and integrity. This includes establishing policies, standard
operating procedures (“SOPs”) and appropriate oversight
measures to facilitate an adequate and effective system
of internal controls, as well as enhancing the CAO
Group’s corporate governance practices, financial
performance and operational capabilities to better
support the implementation and execution of CAQO’s
business strategies.

Amid a complex and dynamic business environment
and the evolving regulatory and compliance landscape,
the CAO Group continues to focus on improving the
effectiveness and robustness of its internal controls
system, to effectively detect and/or prevent any
non-compliant activity.

CAQ’s established system of compliance oversight is in

line with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission framework. This ensures

CAO'’s second o

a systematic and integrated approach to evaluate
and improve the CAO Group’s overall internal controls
framework, including regular reviews of policies and SOPs
relating to delegation of authority and hedging business
policies undertaken during the year 2024 to augment and
further reinforce its existing system of internal controls.

The CAO Group regularly reviews and identifies
compliance risks relating to anti-trust/competition laws,
anti-corruption laws, trade sanctions, occupational safety,
health and environmental regulations, data protection
laws, insider trading and fraud. By strengthening the
implementation of internal policies, management directives
and work processes, we seek to comply with applicable
local and international trade legislations and regulations
in regions where the CAO Group operates. These internal
policies, management directives and work processes are
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure they are updated to
align with the evolving business landscape.

In 2024, the CAO Group has established and
implemented a Compliance Management Policy which
sets out the CAO Group’s commitment to compliance
management and defines the roles and responsibilities
as well as the scope of CAQO’s “three lines of defence” in
compliance management. This Compliance Management
Policy encompasses key areas of compliance oversight,
operational mechanisms for compliance management,
and reporting procedures for significant compliance
risk events. A comprehensive compliance management
system has been implemented across the CAO Group,
covering critical control areas such as oil trading, safety
and environmental protection, product and service quality,

ite BCP and DRP drill since the onset of COVID-pandemic was held successfully in 2024.
AE)TF2024F EHTTA 7 BIB RS ZRREHI0E B SEHESR
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labour and employment practices, finance and taxation,
business collaborations, investments and mergers
& acquisitions, data protection, as well as corporate
governance and compliance.

In the increasingly complex and evolving global regulatory
landscape, the CAO Group will continue to leverage risk
intelligence tools to enable the CAO Group to conduct
more rigorous counterparty screenings and ensure the
vigilant monitoring of politically exposed persons, including
those categorised as heightened risk entities.

The Legal & Compliance Department continues to work
closely with the Risk Management Department to evaluate
compliance-related requirements to integrate compliance
with daily operations at the business level. In 2024,
there were no reported incidents of any regulatory
non-compliance and/or sanctions-related risks exposure.

PROTECTING THE INTEGRITY OF OUR BUSINESS

CAO implements a zero-tolerance policy against any
form of corruption or bribery. In 2024, the CAO Group
reviewed and updated several internal policies and
procedures, and further enhanced its management of
internal controls through refining its internal policies and
standardising processes in areas such as chartering
and vessel inspection management, hedging business
management, counterparty management, internal
meetings management, sustainability development,
corporate governance, compliance management, investor
relations, employee handbook, training management and
fixed asset management as part of its efforts to promote
sustainable business engagement with the CAO Group’s
stakeholders including employees, business partners,
suppliers and shareholders, as well as detecting any
irregularities in our businesses. CAO firmly believes these
measures will further equip the CAO Group to effectively
monitor and manage the risk of any occurrence of
impropriety, such as acquiring benefits through unlawful
means and other fraudulent activities.

To safeguard the integrity of our business, the CAO
Group maintains a comprehensive business ethics and
compliance-related programme to equip our employees
with the relevant knowledge and competency to comply
with regulatory and other compliance requirements in their
work through mandatory web-based training courses.
The Legal & Compliance Department arranges for
all employees in the CAO Group to undergo annual
mandatory e-learning courses covering a wide range
of compliance and business ethics-related topics. In
2024, e-learning courses relating to Preventing Financial
Crime, Data Privacy, Information security and Cyber Risk
Awareness were conducted. During the year, the Legal &

Compliance Department also conducted in-house
training courses covering topics relating to Fraud Control,
Anti-corruption and CAO’s General Mandate for Interested
Person Transactions. In 2024, our CAO global workforce
participated in a series of web-based compliance-related
and business ethics-based training courses, with a
completion rate of 95%. All employees of the CAO Group
are also required to sign and submit a “Compliance
Commitment Statement” on an annual basis. All employees
of the CAO Group who undertake oil trading activities
for and on behalf of the CAO Group, are also required to
sign and submit a “Traders’ Compliance Commitments
Statement” on entry date as well as annually.

MAINTAINING VIGILANCE

CAO believes vigilance and incident prevention is the
best safeguard against potential business disruptions.
Recognising the importance of ensuring the efficacy of
the CAO Group’s resilience towards business disruptions
from unplanned events, CAO has continued to validate
its Business Continuity Plan (“BCP”). This plan integrates
with the IT Disaster Recovery Plan (“DRP”), and the
establishment of IT SOPs, guidelines, structure and
support team members to ensure timely emergency
escalation response, resumption and recovery of key
business functions and data resources.

Taking into consideration the potential strategic,
operational, financial and reputational exposure to the CAO
Group in significant risk events, the CAO Group conducts
a BCP and DRP simulation exercise annually to strengthen
employees’ readiness in responding to emergencies.

In 2024, the CAO Group conducted its second on-site
BCP and DRP drill since the onset of COVID-pandemic,
activating the disaster recovery centre, whereby the
employees of foreign subsidiaries of the CAO Group
also participated in the drill in their respective countries.
This exercise elevated the awareness of handling
unforeseen events, assessed the effectiveness of the
business continuity plan, and strengthened employees’
emergency response capabilities in the face of
unexpected situations.

In addition to fulfilling its compliance monitoring
responsibilities, the Legal & Compliance Department also
works closely with the Company’s outsourced internal
auditors in relation to the annual internal audit activities
as well as ensuring an independent assessment on the
adequacy and effectiveness of control measures and
governance processes of the CAO Group. This would
ensure that suitable control measures are in place
to adequately address significant risks in its global
business environment.
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COMMITMENT TO RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS PRACTICES
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An annual internal audit plan is submitted to the Audit
Committee for approval, which internal audit work would
be carried out by the outsourced internal auditors of
CAOQ. This internal audit plan includes amongst others,
an evaluation of the CAO Group’s internal control system
and an independent review on the overall effectiveness
of the CAO Group’s business operations. Internal audit
reports focus on significant audit issues and internal
control deficiencies that could adversely impact the CAO
Group’s operational efficiency and are submitted to the
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors biannually.
The Legal and Compliance Department ensures that
relevant departments implement appropriate corrective
measures based on audit recommendations within the
prescribed timelines, continuously enhancing corporate
governance effectiveness and improving the CAO Group’s
internal controls system.

To demonstrate CAO’s unwavering commitment to
accountability and integrity in its business practices, the
Compliance Team of the Legal & Compliance Department
worked closely with the outsourced internal auditors.
In 2024, through a ‘Quality Assurance and Improvement
Programme’ based on the Standards for the Professional
Practice for Internal Auditing as set by The Institute of
Internal Auditors, the effectiveness and quality of the
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policies, management
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basis to ensure they
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with the evolving
business landscape
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outsourced internal audit work are assessed by collating
feedback from key stakeholders via a questionnaire,
on the quality of internal audit work and suggested areas
of improvements.

It is imperative for CAO to conduct its business activities
in compliance with relevant laws and regulatory
requirements. To combat fraud, corruption and
unethical behaviour, along with fostering an open and
honest corporate culture, CAO has established and
implemented the CAO Whistleblowing Policy. This policy
provides clear guidelines on the CAO Group’s measures
and stance on whistleblowing and how whistle-blowers can
raise serious concerns of allegations of wrongdoing,
as well as explicit indications of what might be considered
“reportable concerns”. Under the CAO Whistleblowing
Policy, whistle-blowers may report any reportable
concerns on any forms of misconduct affecting the CAO
Group, its customers, suppliers or other stakeholders.
This can be done without fear of reprisal, dismissal or
discriminatory treatment, via the following dedicated
email addresses: whistle_blowing@caosco.com or
auditcommittee_whistleblowing@caosco.com.

There were no “reportable concerns” received by the
Company during the financial year.


mailto:whistle_blowing%40caosco.com?subject=
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CAO has a global zero tolerance approach to all forms of corruption.
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We believe that sustainable corporate growth goes beyond
technological innovation and strong market positioning—
it relies on a highly skilled workforce and a thriving
corporate culture. With this in mind, we made significant
progress in key areas such as talent development,
employee well-being, and digital compliance in 2024,
taking bold steps to shape the future and drive industry
transformation.

TALENT MANAGEMENT AND
CAREER DEVELOPMENT

To further incentivise excellence and retain talent,
we introduced a detailed trade bonus implementation
scheme to enhance our performance-based incentive
mechanisms through realigning key positions with
role significance, competencies, and performance
contributions, thereby reinforcing positive motivation for
key talent. Additionally, we developed a tenure-based
incentive management framework to establish a long-term
incentive and accountability mechanism for senior
management personnel.

In 2024, we further reinforced our commitment to building
a strong talent pool with expertise in trade, aviation
marketing, and risk management. A structured training
programme was established, enabling key personnel

The spirit of camaraderie was further strengthened among the CAO staff through the Compal
ARERNFEERTFRAZRE T HE SRR T2 ENHAERERFH.

from subsidiaries to participate in periodic training
at the Singapore headquarters, ensuring that the
Company and its subsidiaries remain aligned in terms of
corporate governance standards and best practices.

In line with our strategic talent selection and development
objectives, we implemented employee promotion
guidelines in 2024, which prioritised career advancement,
facilitated the identification of outstanding employees,
and built a high-quality talent pipeline that aligned with our
corporate strategy.

INTERNATIONAL TALENT TRAINING CENTRE

Since its official launch in 2023, the International Talent
Training Centre has expanded global partnerships,
improved course offerings, upgraded digital learning
platforms, and diversified training formats to cultivate top-
tier global talent. By the end of 2024, we had conducted
nearly 10 international learning exchange sessions, covering
key topics such as international trade operations, financial
derivatives, risk management, and regulatory compliance.
Additionally, we organised internal knowledge-sharing
sessions, partnered external institutions, and facilitated
online compliance training and assessments, achieving a
cumulative attendance of 1,167 participants and a total
training duration of 1,856 hours. Looking ahead to 2025,

s annual Dragon Boat Race.
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CAO'’s annual “Durian Feast” cultural event is aihagely' popular event among the staff.
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the centre will continue to enhance talent development,
and further strengthen our capabilities to compete and
operate in the global market.

EMPLOYEE WELL-BEING AND
WORKPLACE HEALTH

Our commitment to employee well-being remains a core
pillar of our corporate philosophy which is to foster a healthy
and sustainable work environment. In 2024, in line with
Singapore's government initiatives, we further enhanced
our benefits programme and introduced flexible work
arrangements to support a better work-life balance for the
employees as well as enhanced the Company’s ability to
attract talent. The new policy provides flexibility in work
time, location, and workload, enabling employees to plan
their work arrangements that balance personal well-being
and productivity. This approach empowers employees
with greater autonomy while fostering collaboration and
innovation. The Company will continue to refine the policy
based on employee feedback to build a healthier, more
efficient work environment that supports sustainable
long-term growth.

Additionally, the Company also expanded its mental
health support and reinforced workplace health and safety

JCe AU e

awareness through internal knowledge-sharing sessions.
These sessions covered essential topics such as nutrition,
stress management, fire evacuation protocols, and best
practices for handing workplace injuries. The Company is
proud to have maintained a zero-injury record throughout
the year. By fostering a positive corporate culture through
diverse team-building activities and career development
intiatives, we continue to strengthen employee satisfaction
and foster a stronger sense of belonging.

PDPA COMPLIANCE

To facilitate the seamless implementation of our digital
infrastructure initiatives, all subsidiaries undertook
a comprehensive update and enhancement of their
personal data protection policies in 2024. Employees
actively participated in training on the revised policies
and completed compliance acknowledgments, fostering
a culture of accountability and alignment with global data
protection standards. By embedding privacy protection
into our digitalisation efforts, we established a robust
compliance framework that underpins sustainable
growth. Moving forward, the Company seeks to further
update relevant policies by 2025 to strengthen data
protection and digital collaboration, augmenting our global
business operations.
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Committed to CAQO’s sustainability strategy and its vision
of upholding responsible energy business practices,
CAO has always considered fulfilling our corporate social
responsibility (“CSR”) as an inalienable component of our
sustainable business practices. In addition to upholding
the highest standards of corporate governance, the CAO
Group continues to seek a balance between driving profits
growth and corporate social responsibility, to contribute
positively to the communities it operates in.

CARING FOR THE VULNERABLE

Singapore has one of the world’s fastest-aging
populations, and a key predicament is the sense of
loneliness and vulnerability felt by elderly people in elder
care institutions.

On 10 May 2024, CAO staff volunteers and Management
visited 64 elderly residents at Kwong Wai Shiu Hospital
(“KWSH”) in an effort to bring warmth and joy to this
fragile population of our elders. Meaningful connections
were made that day as volunteers grouped in twos
and threes to engage the elderly in conversations and
games. Singing performances were also put up by the
volunteers to brighten the atmosphere. With Mothers’
Day just around the corner, the volunteers concluded
the visitation by presenting the elderly with roses made
from hand towels along with goodie bags containing
healthy snacks and daily necessities, sending them off
with best wishes.

Besides caring for the elderly, the Company has also
been actively supporting the underprivileged children from
Singapore’s Bukit Merah and Redhill neighbourhood since
2010 through our partnership with Beyond Social Services’
pre-school facility —Healthy Start Child Development
Centre ("HSCDC”). In 2024, the Company continued to
provide daily necessities for the underprivileged children
and their families, as well as school supplies for the
graduating kindergarten class.

To amplify our social responsibility efforts as well as to
foster a more caring and inclusive society, the Company
participated in the SGX Cares Bull Charge Charity Run
in November 2024 to help raise funds for SGX Cares
Beneficiaries, namely AWWA Ltd., Autism Association
(Singapore), Fei Yue Community Services, HCSA
Community Services and Shared Services for Charities.
In total, the SGX Cares Bull Charge Charity Run raised
over $$2.25 million in 2024.

With a strong desire to contribute back to the communities
we operate in, our CSR initiatives are not just limited to
Singapore. Employees of our Hong Kong subsidiary,
CAOHK, celebrated the Winter Solstice—which
symbolises reunion and harmony—by participating in a
community outreach event organised by the Committee
on Aviation of Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association
(“Committee on Aviation”) in January 2024, delivering
care packs and well-wishes to needy residents living in
the Islands District.

KWONG WM SHIU HMTAL

CAO staff volunteers and Management visited 64 elderly residents at Kwong Wai Shiu Hospltal in‘an effort to bring warmth and joy to the elderly.
ARESBETEERHHEWAT, BiFTe4uE BEBERTHANKE, NEEERX LHRXESER.
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CAO organised a mangrove-planting activity in partnership with NParks in 2024.
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On 12 May 2024, CAOHK had once again partnered with
the Committee on Aviation to deliver Mothers’ Day goodie
bags to the communities living in the Islands District.

The CAO Group seeks to forge deeper and more
meaningful connections with the local communities
through regular interactions, to proactively give back to
the communities and contribute to the well-being of the
local residents, fulfil our corporate social responsibilities,
and improve the Company's corporate image.

STRENGTHENING ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As part of our ongoing efforts to promote environmental
sustainability and to support the Singapore Government’s
green initiatives, CAO organised a mangrove-planting
activity at Pulau Ubin on 11 November 2024 in partnership
with National Parks Board (“NParks”). This activity was
part of NParks’ OneMillionTrees movement.

A total of 50 mangrove saplings were planted at Pulau
Ubin to enhance natural protection along the shoreline,
provide critical habitat for flora and fauna, improve water
quality and safeguard the marine ecosystem. In addition,
mangroves play an important role in mitigating climate
change as they are more effective in reducing greenhouse
gas emissions and may store three to five times more
carbon per acre than tropical forests.

Recognising how a potential oil spill would have severe
environmental damage and adverse social impact on the
local economies and marine life in general, the CAO Group
employs robust risk management processes to mitigate

 LRE 0N (R
Staff from CAO and NAFCO particibated in étraiﬁing exercise in

Alaska to better handle potential emergencies.
REIRFIBILERATNR TSI T MHHTNMNAEIEEURA B &
TR ERAIRIITBES T

the risks of ail spills. Staff representatives from CAO and
NAFCO participated in an ail spill prevention and response
training exercise in Cook Inlet, Alaska in August 2024.
Through this exercise, the employees are better equipped
to handle such potential emergencies, demonstrating the
CAO Group’s strong commitment in upholding its social
responsibility, especially in environmental protection.

Moving forward, the CAO Group remains committed
to upholding responsible energy business practices. We
will continue to drive CSR-related initiatives which forms a
key pillar of our ESG strategies, to provide care and protection
for the disadvantaged groups in the communities we
operate in, as well as the natural environment, so as to
better contribute to the well-being of the locals through our
actions and dedication.
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CAO staff volunteers grouped in twos and threes to engage the elderly in conversations and games:
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Express Disclosure Requirements -

ied?
Principles and Provisions of the 2018 Code BRI ompany complieds

Description of the corporate governance practices of Yes. Refer to page 79
the Company with reference to both the Principles and

Provisions, and how the Company’s practices conform with

the Principles. Variations from Provisions are acceptable to

the extent that the Company explicitly states and explains its

practices are consistent with the aim and philosophy of the

Principle in question

Provision 1.2

The induction, training and development provided to new and Refer to pages 83-84
existing Directors

Provision 1.3
Matters that require Board approval Refer to page 80
Provision 1.4

Names of the members of the Board Committees, the terms Refer to pages 87, 90, 93, 96 & 99
of reference of the Board Committees, any delegation of the

Board’s authority to make decisions and a summary of each

Board Committee’s activities

Provision 1.5

The number of meetings of the Board and Board Committees Refer to page 83
held in the year as well as attendance of every Board member
at these meetings

Provision 2.4

The board diversity policy and progress made towards Refer to pages 80-82
implementing the board diversity policy

Provision 4.3

Process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Refer to page 87
Directors to the Board, including the criteria used to identify

and evaluate potential new directors and channels used in

searching for appropriate candidates

Provision 4.4

Where the Board considers a Director to be independent in  None
spite of the existence of a relationship which may affect his

or her independence, the nature of the Director’s relationship

and the reasons for considering him or her as independent
should be disclosed

Provision 4.5

The listed company directorships and principal commitments Refer to pages 87-88
of each Director, and where a Director holds a significant

number of such directorships and commitments, the

Nominating Committee’s and Board’s reasoned assessment

of the ability of the Director to diligently discharge his or her

duties are disclosed

Provision 5.2

How the assessments of the Board, its Board Committees Refer to pages 88-89
and each Director have been conducted, including the identity

of any external facilitator or its connection, if any, with the

Company or any of its Directors
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xpress Disclosure Requirements - HBIhas the Company complied?

’rinciples and Provisions of the 2018 Code
Provision 6.4

The Company discloses the engagement of any remuneration Refer to page 90
consultants and their independence

Provision 8

Clear disclosure of remuneration policies, level and mix of Refer to pages 90-92
remuneration, and procedure for setting remuneration, and

the relationship between the remuneration, performance and

value creation

Provision 8.1

The Company discloses the policy and criteria for setting Refer to pages 90-92
remuneration, as well as names, amounts and breakdowns
of remuneration of:

(@ each individual director and the CEO; and

(b) at least the top five KMP (who are not directors or
the CEO) in bands no wider than S$250,000 and in
aggregate the total remuneration paid to these KMP

Provision 8.2

Names and remuneration of employees who are substantial None. Refer to page 91
shareholders of the Company, or are immediate family

members of a Director, the CEO or a substantial shareholder of

the Company, and whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000

during the year, in bands no wider than S$100,000.

The disclosure states clearly the employee’s relationship with

the relevant Director or the CEO or substantial shareholder

Provision 8.3

The Company discloses all forms of remuneration and Refer to pages 91-92
other payments and benefits, paid by the Company and its

subsidiaries to Directors and KMP of the Company, and also

discloses details of employee share schemes

Provision 9.2

Whether the Board has received assurance from (a) the CEO Refer to page 96
and the CFO that the financial records have been properly

maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair

view of the Company’s operations and finances; and (b)

the CEO and other KMP who are responsible, regarding

the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk

management and internal control systems

Provision 11.3

Directors’ attendance at general meetings of the shareholders Refer to pages 101-102
held during the financial year

Provision 12.1

The steps taken to solicit and understand the views of Refer to pages 101-102
the shareholders

Provision 13.2

The strategy and key areas of focus in relation to the Referto pages 100-102
management of stakeholder relationships during the

reporting period
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Despite ongoing geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainties and an increasingly challenging business operating
environment in 2024, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and Management remained firmly committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance in ensuring the continuous and sustainable growth and development of China
Aviation QOil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (“CAQ” or the “Company”). To demonstrate its commitment towards excellence
in corporate governance, the Company continues to embrace the Company’s operating philosophy of “Compliance
as Top Priority (§#12—), Risk Management of Utmost Importance (XiZTZE _L£) and our management philosophy of
“Transparency, Standardisation and Refinement”. We strive to surpass the requirements of openness, integrity and
accountability prescribed by the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST
Listing Manual”) and the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “2018 Code”). Good corporate governance
practices are embedded in our corporate culture and business practices of the CAO group (the “CAO Group”) which
we strongly believe will ensure the continued strong performance of our businesses and maintaining investor confidence
which underpin the sustainable growth of our businesses and long-term value to all stakeholders.

The CAO Corporate Governance Policy of the Company has been devised in accordance with the principles and
guidelines set out in the 2018 Code (the “CAO Corporate Governance Policy”). Ongoing concerted efforts have
been made by relevant departments mandated with the responsibility to oversee the adoption of the CAO Governance
Policy in their practices, processes and operations. The corporate governance practices of the CAO Group and the
CAO Corporate Governance Policy are reviewed regularly and are continually fine-tuned and enhanced to ensure that
they remain relevant and effective in light of the changing legal and regulatory requirements and volatilities of the trading
business and operating environment.

We confirm that throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and at the date of issue of this Statement of
Corporate Governance, the Company is in substantial compliance with the provisions of, and applied the principles set
out in the 2018 Code.

With the view to preserving and growing shareholder value through strong and effective corporate governance, the Board
has put in place a set of well-defined and sound systems of internal controls and processes which the Company
voluntarily subjects them to annual review by an independent third party consultant.

This report primarily describes the Company’s corporate governance practices for the financial year ended 31 December
2024 with specific reference to the 2018 Code and details how we apply the principles and comply with the provisions
of the 2018 Code. Our compliance with the principles and guidelines of the 2018 Code and a checklist cross-referencing
these principles and guidelines, are outlined under “Corporate Governance at a Glance” of the Company’s Annual
Report 2024.

This report has been reviewed and approved by the Board of the Company.

(A) BOARD MATTERS
The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board has overall responsibility for the long-term success of the Company and its value
creation. Beyond carrying out its statutory duties, the Board also:

. provides entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic objectives, and ensure that the necessary financial and human
resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

. sets the Company’s values and standards (including ethical standards), and ensure that obligations to shareholders
and other stakeholders of the Company are understood and met;

e  establishes a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed,
including safeguarding of the interests of shareholders of the Company and the Company's assets;

e ensures compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal codes of conduct

by the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies over which the Company has control (the “CAO Group”)

and their respective management.

ensures accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication with the shareholders of the Company;

considers sustainability issues, e.g. environmental and social factors, as part of its strategic formulation;

identifies the key stakeholder groups and recognises that their perceptions affect the Company’s reputation; and

reviews Management performance.
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All members of the Board are aware of their responsibility to take decisions objectively which promote the success of
the CAO Group for the benefit of shareholders.

During the year under review, the Board had reviewed and revised its Terms of Reference to ensure the continued efficient
discharge of its responsibilities. Amendments to the Terms of Reference of the Board largely comprised additional list of
matters requiring Board’s review and approval and these included (a) requiring the Board when reviewing and approving
the Company’s strategic plans, to take into consideration sustainability issues in the formulation of the Company’s
strategies as well as integrate climate change-related matters into decision making, etc.; (b) requiring the Board to review
and approve the recommendations of the Risk Management Committee on the traders’ mandate relating to physical
commodities, commodity derivatives (such as daily transaction volumes and hedging instruments) and any amendments
thereof; and (c) requiring the Board to review and approve the recommendations of the Risk Management Committee on
the list of physical and paper brokers (including any amendments thereof).

The Terms of Reference of the Board sets forth the matters reserved for the Board’s decisions, and provides clear
directions to Management on matters that must be reviewed and approved by the Board. In addition, Management
has the responsibility for overseeing the implementation by the CAO Group’s operating subsidiaries of the policies and
strategy set by the Board, and for creating the framework for their successful day-to-day operations.

Some of the matters specifically reserved for the Board’s review and approval include:
(@ the Company’s corporate strategies and directions, shareholding structures and corporate governance matters;

) all significant investments of the CAO Group (i.e. transactions with an estimated investment value of US$30 million
and above) and all material dispositions of assets of the CAO Group;

T

(c) the annual budgets and operating plans;

(d) the adequacy and integrity of the Company’s internal controls, risk management systems, financial reporting systems
and monitoring the performance of the CAO Group and the Management;

(e) dividend distributions;

() any appointment, re-appointment or removal of Chairman of the Board;

nominations of suitable candidates to the Board of Directors and key management personnel (‘KMP”); and
remuneration-related matters such as the framework and policies for determining the remuneration for Non-Executive
Directors and the remuneration for Executive Directors and KMP.

=g

Apart from matters specifically reserved for Board’s consideration and decision, the Board will approve transactions
exceeding certain threshold limits, whilst delegating authority for transactions below those limits to Board Committees
and the Management for approval.

At the date of issue of this Statement of Corporate Governance, the Board comprises
seven (7) Non-Executive Directors and two (2) Executive Directors. All Independent Directors as well as those nominated
by the two (2) major shareholders, namely China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited (“CNAF”) and BP Investments
Asia Limited (“BP”), were appointed on the strength of their expertise, experience and stature.

The Board is composed of members who are diverse in terms of education, skills, regional and industry experience,
geographical origin, interpersonal skills, race, gender and age. Details including the academic and professional qualifications
and major appointments of each Director are provided under the “Board of Directors” section of this Annual Report.

The Company adopted a revised Board Diversity Policy in 2022 which incorporated the
requirements under Rule 710A of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, that address gender, skills and experience and any other
relevant aspects of Board diversity (the “CAO Board Diversity Policy”).
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Board Diversity Matrix (As of March 2025)
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7 out of 9 directors are Non-Executive
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The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having an appropriate level of diversity in the Board and views
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining competitive advantage and supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. Having a diverse Board would entail cultivating a broad spectrum
of demographic attributes and characteristics in the boardroom, fostering a cognitively diverse group of individuals in the
Board which can lead to better decision-making and reduce groupthink. Improving cognitive diversity in the Board can
also bring about a greater ability among its members to understand one another and overcome argumentative biases for
increased productivity and creative problem-solving.

The Company is committed to selecting the best candidates to serve on the Board and will consider all aspects of Board
diversity which include but not limited to diversity of educational background, professional or industry experience, skills,
domain knowledge, gender, age, cultural background, ethnicity as well as length of service.

The Company is also committed to improving cognitive diversity in the boardroom by creating an inclusive culture that
allows diversity of thought to thrive in pursuit of better decision-making and oversight by the Board.

CAO Board Diversity Plan: The CAO Board Diversity Policy provides that the Nominating Committee reviews and
assesses the structure, size and composition of the Board of Directors of the Company and will consider all aspects
of board diversity including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, language, cultural and educational background,
geographic representation, professional and industry experience, skills and knowledge and taking into consideration the
Company’s business model and any specific requirements. These diverse range of attributes, experience, expertise and
perspectives together with the Company’s strategic objectives, business activities and shareholding structure, will be
considered in order to maintain an optimum mix of diversity, skills, knowledge, experience and expertise in the Board.

Governance Process: The Nominating Committee reviews and assesses the Board structure, size, and composition
on behalf of the Board, and recommends for Board approval the appointment of new Directors taking into consideration
the strategic objectives, business activities and shareholding structure of the Company.
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In identifying qualified candidates for nomination to the Board and Board Committees, the Nominating Committee will
consider prospective candidates based on merit, having regard to those core competencies, expertise, skills, background
and other qualities identified from time to time by the Board as being important. The Nominating Committee will also take
into account any legal and regulatory requirements, such as those relating to residency and independence, as well as any
subsisting agreements between the major shareholders of the Company, and give due consideration to characteristics
such as gender, age, ethnicity, sexual orientation, and geographic representation.

On gender diversity and with the objective of achieving and gradually increasing female board representation on the
Board, the Nominating Committee will strive to obtain resumes of prospective female candidates for Board nomination
as part of its search for suitable candidates for Board nomination, and will accord priority for the evaluation of the merits
of selected female candidates for appointment to the Board as and when there is a need to fill a vacancy in the Board.

On cognitive diversity, the Nominating Committee will consider the cognitive diversity amongst current board members
and identify skill sets required of new board members that could further improve cognitive diversity in the boardroom
thereby creating an inclusive environment where all perspectives are nurtured and heard.

As part of its plan to achieve its diversity objectives
and targets (including achieving and gradually increasing gender diversity in the Board), the Company has implemented
and/or will implement the following measures:

(1)  Keeping an updated list of potential Director candidates who satisfy the selection criteria as outlined in the Company’s
Policy for the Selection and Appointment of Independent Directors as well as the guiding principles set out in the
CAO Board Diversity Policy which take into account the objective of achieving and gradually increasing female
board representation on the Board.

(2) Identifying potential Director candidates through a number of sources including directors’ contacts, industry partners,
professional associations and through the Singapore Institute of Directors’ board appointment services.

(8) Encouraging Directors to provide feedback on the composition of the Board as part of the Nominating Committee’s
annual evaluations of the performance and effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees. In reviewing the
composition of the Board, the Nominating Committee will consider demographically diverse potential director
candidates who can help improve the cognitive diversity in the boardroom, thereby meaningfully enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

(4) As soon as practicable, establish a Board of Directors’ Code of Conduct and Ethics of the Company which sets
out, inter alia, guiding principles encouraging positive attitudes and behaviours in board members at meetings of
the board and board committees that result in active participation, constructive candour (i.e. open and respectful
exchanges without a sense of confrontation), diversity of thought and making of decisions based on merit of issues.

The Board is currently composed of members who are diverse in terms of academic
and professional qualifications, skills, regional and industry experience, geographical origin, interpersonal skills, race,
nationality and age. The members of the Board with their combined executive leadership and management skills, industry
and professional expertise, different lengths of service and cognitive diversity, provide the core competencies to allow for
diverse and objective perspectives on the business operations as well as the strategic direction of the Company. Further
information on the individual Directors’ academic and professional qualifications, major appointments, etc. can be found
in the “Board of Directors” section in the 2024 Annual Report of the Company.

To ensure the efficient discharge of its responsibilities and to provide
independent oversight of Management, various Board committees namely, the Audit Committee, the Nominating
Committee, the Remuneration Committeg, the Risk Management Committee and the Sustainability Committee have
been constituted with clear written terms of reference. Each Committee has the authority to examine issues relevant to
their terms of reference and to make recommendations to the Board for action. The ultimate responsibility and decision
on all matters still lies with the Board.
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The Board Delegation of Authority Management Measures were drawn up to formalise the principles that govern the
delegation of authority and to outline the process by which the authority to act and to made decisions is delegated.
The objectives of the aforesaid Management Measures include (i) assigning clear authorities and accountabilities;
(i) creating a sound internal control environment, while facilitating efficient decision making; (i) setting out matters
specifically reserved for determination by the Board/Board Committees and those matters delegated to Management,
thereby ensuring that decisions made, and actions taken are by the appropriate levels.

To optimise operational efficiency, the Company regularly reviews and updates its financial authorisation and approval
limits for purchases and expenses requisitions as well as expenses/fees relating to costs of sales (within and outside the
approved full-year budget) in tandem with the business operational needs.

The Board and Board Committees meet on a half-yearly basis
and may hold ad hoc meetings as and when warranted by circumstances. The Board met two (2) times in 2024. At the
scheduled Board meetings for the financial year 2024, the Board: (i) reviewed and approved the release of the half-year
and full-year results; (i) discussed reports by Management relating to major corporate activities; (i) approved the annual
budget; and (iv) reviewed the performance of the CAO Group’s businesses. When Directors cannot be physically present,
telephonic attendance and conference via audio-visual communication at Board and Board committee meetings are
allowed under the Company’s Constitution. The number of meetings of the Board and Board Committees held in 2024
as well as the attendances of each Board member at these meetings are disclosed below:

During the year, the Board held a Board strategy discussion meeting which focused on

(a) availability and accessibility of sustainable aviation fuel (“SAF”); (b) SAF -related investment opportunities; and
(c) development and growth of the Company’s SAF supply and its business model, etc.

Board Committee Meetings Independent | Board

Risk Directors’ | Strategy
Remuneration | Management | Sustainability Meeting Meeting
N.A N.A. N.A N.A

Shi Yanliang 2 N.A. 1
Teo Ser Luck 2 3 2 N.A. 2 2 1 1
Zhang Yuchen' 1 1 1 N.A. 1 1 N.A. 0
Shi Lei 1 N.A. 2 1 2 N.A. N.A. 1
Lin Yi 2 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 1
Hee Theng Fong 2 3 N.A. 1 2 2 1 1
Fu Xingran 2 3 2 1 N.A. 2 1 1
Jeffrey Goh Mao Seong 2 N.A. 2 1 2 2 1 1
Richard Yang Minghui 2 3 N.A. 1 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1
Number of Meetings Held 2 8 2 1 2 2 1 1

Note:

1 Mr Zhang Yuchen is a senior executive of CNAF and based in China. Due to a conflict in schedule, Mr Zhang was not able to attend the meetings of the relevant
Board Committees of the Company held on 26 August 2024 and the Board Meeting as well as the Board Strategy Meeting of the Company held on 27 August 2024.
Also, Mr Zhang was not able to attend an ad hoc Audit Committee Meeting held on 30 January 2024 relating to a presentation to the Audit Committee by audit firms
which were shortlisted for proposed appointment as the external auditors of the Company in line with the Company’s internal policy on the rotation of external auditors.

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees, Independent Directors’ Meeting and the Annual General
Meeting of the Company for each year are scheduled some time in the month of July in the preceding year to facilitate
the Directors’ individual administrative arrangements in respect of any competing commitments.

A formal letter is sent to newly appointed Non-Executive Directors upon their
appointment explaining their duties and obligations as a Director as well as the governance policies and practices of the
CAO Group. In addition, the formal letter of appointment sets out their expected time commitment and make clear that,
by accepting the appointment, they are confirming that they are able to meet the expectations of their role. They are also
required to disclose their other significant commitments to the Board prior to their appointment and to give notice of any
subsequent changes.
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Comprehensive and tailored training is provided for all new Directors appointed to the Board as part of their orientation
to ensure that they are familiar with (i) the Company’s strategic objectives and the nature and scope of its operations;
(i) the Board’s role and the governance structure and processes of the Company; (iii) Directors’ duties and responsibilities
under statute and common law; (iv) applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements; (v) broad overview
on the rules of SGX-ST Listing Manual; and (vi) the CAO Corporate Governance Policy. Facility visits to our associated
companies’ premises are also arranged to enable newly appointed Directors to acquire an understanding of the CAO
Group’s business operations.

The purpose of the familiarisation sessions would be to familiarise them with the business activities, strategic direction,
policies and corporate governance practices of the CAO Group. Areas covered would include the Corporate Strategy
and Investments, Oil Trading and Aviation Marketing Businesses of the CAO Group, Risk Management Framework,
Policies and Practices, overview of the financial performance of the CAO Group, Investor Relations Activities, Directors’
Duties and Continuing Listing Obligations and Governance Structure, Policy and Practices of the CAO Group.
These sessions also provided opportunities for newly Directors to get acquainted with senior management, and also
foster better rapport and commmunications with Management.

For any Director who has no prior experience as a director of a listed company, arrangements will be made for him or her
to attend the Listed Entity Directors (“LED”) Programme conducted by the Singapore Institute of Directors (“SID”) or the
Board of Directors Masterclass Programme conducted by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and SAC
Capital, within a year of his or her appointment.

In line with CAQO’s Policy on Director Orientation and Professional
Development adopted by the Board, continuing professional development programmes were organised for Directors to
ensure that all Directors are updated on important market developments in the industry relevant to the business of the
CAO Group and issues which may have a significant impact on the businesses, financial and operational matters of the
CAOQ Group. These programmes are conducted by external advisers, experts, management team or head of departments
and these included a Board Information Session on “Pavilion Energy Sustainable Roadmap and Understanding How
Carbon Credits Can Be Applied in the Energy Industry” conducted by Pavilion Energy Pte Ltd. In line with the Company’s
sustainability initiatives to grow and expand its SAF business, a site visit to Neste Singapore Refinery was arranged to
provide Directors with a firsthand knowledge of SAF as well as an insight of how SAF is produced. A courtesy visit to an
oil major in Malaysia was also organised for Directors and during which, a brief presentation was made on SAF Plant,
key milestones in SAF and hydrotreated vegetable oils for the past year as well as brief information on carbon credits.

The Company also provides the Board with updates on developments in laws and regulations or changes in regulatory
requirements and financial reporting standards, which are relevant to or may affect the CAO Group’s businesses. The Directors
have been periodically updated on various aspects of the CAO Group’s operations through briefings, informal discussions
and meetings with Management. As part of the Company’s continuing professional education for Directors, the Company
circulates to the Board articles, reports and news releases issued by the SGX-ST which are relevant to the CAO Group’s
businesses. Also, wherever applicable, meetings are arranged for the Directors to meet with relevant experts on issues
which impact the CAO Group’s operating environment. In addition, the Directors are encouraged to attend appropriate
relevant external programmes such as those conducted by the SID or seminars organised by the SGX-ST or other
professional institutions, at the Company’s expense. The Directors may also, at any time, request further information or
meetings with Management on the CAO Group’s operations. During the year, the Company also made arrangements
for Directors to conveniently access LRN’s e-learning course titled “Information Security” which included topics such as
phishing, secure social media, social engineering and cybercrimes and business email compromise.

The Board has established the Board of Directors Conflict of Interest Policy
(the “Board Conflict of Interest Policy”) which serves inter alia, to focus on the Board and each of its Directors on
areas of ethical risk and provide guidance to the Directors to help them recognise and deal with actual and potential
conflicts of interest, and help ensure avoidance of conflicts of interest where necessary. Under the Board Conflict of
Interest Policy, all Directors are required to immediately disclose to the Board all conflicts of interest that have occurred
or may possibly occur as soon as he or she is aware of a conflict or the possibility of a conflict using the Company’s
prescribed standard forms. Also, any Director who has a conflict of interest shall recuse himself or herself from discussions
(except to disclose material facts and to respond to questions on a transaction or proposed transaction) and abstain
from voting on resolutions regarding such transaction or proposed transaction. Such a Director should also not
attempt to exert his or her personal influence with respect to the transaction or proposed transaction either at or
outside the meeting.
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All Directors are required to officially disclose their interests in the Company including any interested person transactions
with the Company. To facilitate a comprehensive disclosure by Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of the
Company of any interests arising from multiple or cross directorships, shares or equity ownership interests etc., a revised
letter template for the general disclosure of interests by Directors and CEO have been devised for use by Directors and
the CEQ. As a further commitment of the Board to transparent disclosure, management and monitoring of existing and
potential conflicts of interest, a “Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form” by Directors and KMP of the Company has been
devised to facilitate adequate and timely disclosures by Directors and KMP.

All Directors practise good governance by updating the Company about changes to their interests in a timely manner.

Board Composition and Guidance

Of the nine (9) members on the Board, five (5) are nominated
by substantial shareholders and are deemed as non-independent. The four (4) Independent Directors namely, Mr Teo Ser
Luck, Mr Hee Theng Fong, Dr Fu Xingran and Dr Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong constitute about forty-four percent. (44%) of the
Board. Currently, at least two (2) Independent Directors are resident in Singapore. These two (2) Independent Directors
are Mr Teo Ser Luck and Mr Hee Theng Fong. None of the nine (9) Board members is related to one another.

The Nominating Committee assesses and determines the independence of a
Director upon appointment and on an annual basis. The Nominating Committee takes into consideration CAQ’s Internal
Policy Guidelines on Directors’ Test of Independence which set out the process for considering the independence of
Directors of the Company (the “Directors’ Test of Independence Policy”). The Directors’ Test of Independence Policy
(i) specifies the materiality thresholds and independence criteria which the Nominating Committee will use to assess
the independence of a Director; (i) identifies the information that the Company will collect from Directors to enable the
Nominating Committee to assess the independence of Directors; and (iii) outlines the basis of disclosure to shareholders
of the assessment of the independence of Directors, including the disclosure of any relationships that may be perceived
to affect the independence or objectivity of a Director.

The Nominating Committee carried out the review on the independence of the non-executive Directors in May 2024 by
taking into consideration the Directors’ Test of Independence Policy and the information collected from each Director
through the completion by each Director of a confirmation of independence checklist. The Director is required to
declare any circumstances in which he may be considered non-independent. The Nominating Committee will then
review the confirmation of independence checklist by applying the Directors’ Test of Independence before affirming the
independence of a Director.

In the Form of Director’s Declaration for 2024, Mr Teo Ser Luck, Mr Hee Theng Fong, Dr Fu Xingran and Dr Jeffrey Goh Mau
Seong had each confirmed that there were neither any circumstances that could have materially interfered with his exercise
of unfettered and independent judgment nor were there any occurrence of any circumstances where the interests of CAO
might not be best served by the interests of the major shareholders of CAO. All have demonstrated their independence
in character and judgement in discharging their duties and responsibilities as Directors of the Company and their ability
to act in the best interests of the Company. This is evident from the minutes of the proceedings of the Board and Board
Committees where they had expressed individual viewpoints and objectively scrutinised and sought clarifications from the
Management, employees, external auditors and internal auditors of CAO as they considered necessary.

The Board accepted the Nominating Committee’s views and affirmed the independence of these Directors.

The composition of the Board is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee taking into consideration all aspects
of Board diversity which include but not limited to educational background, professional or industry experience, skills,
knowledge, gender, age, cultural background, ethnicity as well as length of service. The Nominating Committee is
satisfied that the Board comprises Directors with diverse academic backgrounds, professional qualifications, skills,
regional and industry experience, geographical origin, interpersonal skills, race, nationality and age. The diverse mix of
the members of the Board will provide the core competencies that will allow for diverse and objective perspectives on
the business operations as well as the strategic direction of the Company. Individual directors’ profiles can be found in
“Board of Directors” section of the Annual Report.
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All Singapore-listed companies are required to comply with Provision 2.2 of the 2018 Code which stipulates that
Independent Directors should make up a majority of the Board where the Chairman is not independent. In this regard,
considering that the rationale of Provision 2.2 of the 2018 Code is basically intended to prevent any one (1) major
shareholder from dominating the decision-making process of the Board where the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer are both nominated by the same major shareholder and notwithstanding that the Chairman of the
Board is not an Independent Director of the Company, there already exists an appropriate level of checks and balances
in the management and operation of the Company via the Shareholders’ Agreement as the composition of the Board of
Directors of the Company presently comprises representatives from its two (2) major shareholders namely, CNAF and
BP. Matters requiring the Board’s approval are discussed and deliberated with participation from each member of the
Board and the decision are based on collective decision without any individual or small group of individuals influencing
or dominating the decision-making process. In addition, the Company had appointed a Lead Independent Director from
amongst the Independent Directors of the Company to provide leadership in situations where the Chairman is conflicted.
Considering that the safeguards for a balanced Board are already in place, the Board is of the view that it would be
appropriate to maintain the present Board composition of the Company. Notwithstanding this, as part of the Company’s
commitment to abide by both the letter and spirit of Provision 2.2 of the 2018 Code, the possibility of increasing the
number of Independent Directors in the Board in the foreseeable future will not be precluded.

The Executive Chairman, with the assistance of the Lead Independent Director,
is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall management and strategic development of the Company. The Company
Secretary assists the Executive Chairman in scheduling Board meetings and ensures that all procedures and good
governance practices are complied with. The CEO consults both with the Executive Chairman and the Lead Independent
Director for their views on the agenda for Board meetings.

The CEO executes the Board'’s decisions and is responsible for the day-to-day running of the Company’s business, making
operational decisions for the Company and implementing the Company’s business, direction, strategies and policies.

The Executive Chairman regularly consults with the Lead Independent Director as well as other members of the Board
and Board committees on major issues. As such, the Board believes there are adequate safeguards in place against
having a concentration of power and authority in a single individual.

The Executive Chairman and the CEO are not related to each other.

The updated list of duties and responsibilities for each of the Executive Chairman and CEQ, are available for inspection
at the Company’s registered office.

In accordance with the CAO Corporate Governance Policy, the Independent
Directors of CAO meet at least once a year, without the presence of the other Directors, to discuss any matters relevant
to the CAO Group, such as its investment criteria, risk management and internal controls, risk appetite and risk tolerance,
performance of management, Board communication and performance, and strategic issues. The Independent Directors
of CAO met on 13 December 2024 at a meeting chaired by the Lead Independent Director without the presence of
the other Directors and the Management, and the gist of the discussion at the said meeting as provided by the Lead
Independent Director are summarised as follows:

(1)  The Independent Directors were satisfied with the overall performance of the Company for the financial year 2024;
(2) The Independent Directors had worked well with the Executive Chairman and the Management of the Company
which enabled a collaborative board-management relationship and fostered mutual trust and confidence; and
(8) The Independent Directors held an in-depth discussion on the Company’s human resources (“HR”) management

and related issues, and in particular, the Company’s HR strategy.

Board Membership

The Nominating Committee was established by
the Board to make recommendations for all Board appointments. As at the date of this report, the Nominating Committee
comprises five (5) members, the majority of whom, including its Chairman, are Independent Non-Executive Directors:
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Nominating Committee

Fu Xingran Chairman

Shi Lei Vice Chairman
Teo Ser Luck Member
Zhang Yuchen Member
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Member

The Chairman of the Nominating Committee is not associated with any substantial shareholder of the Company.

The Nominating Committee held two (2) meetings in 2024 where it met to discuss and review (i) Proposed Disclosure on
Proposed CAO Board Diversity Plans, Targets and Implementation Timeline in the 2024 Annual Report of the Company;
(2) the independence of Non-Executive Directors; (i) Board Performance Evaluation; (iii) Review of the Terms of
Reference of the Nominating Committee and Proposed Amendments; and (iv) the Nominating Committee 2024 Annual
Self-Assessment Findings. The Nominating Committee had also reviewed and approved several other matters under its
remit via email circulation and these included (1) Proposed Revised Board of Directors Conflict of Interest Policy; and
(2) Proposed Adoption of the Policy for Selection and Appointment of Independent Directors.

The responsibilities of the Nominating Committee include:

a) the review of the structure, size and composition of the Board and the Board Committees;
(b) the review of the succession plans for the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Directors;

,\
< =

(c) the development of a transparent process for evaluating and the performance of the Board, its Board Committees
and non-executive Directors, including assessing whether the non-executive Directors are able to commit enough
time to discharge their responsibilities and the maximum number of listed company Board representations which a
Director may hold;

(d) the review of the training and professional development programmes of the Board;

(e) the appointment and re-appointment of all Directors (including alternate Directors, if any);

()  the review and confirmation of the independence of each Director; and

the review of the management structure of key operating subsidiaries of the Company and evaluation of the performance
of key management personnel of these key operating subsidiaries, as and when proposed by any Director.

<)

The Nominating
Committee will generally apply the process and guiding principles of the Policy for Selection and Appointment of
Independent Directors of CAO (the “Selection & Appointment of Independent Directors Policy”) for identifying,
evaluating, selecting and nominating suitable candidates for appointments as new Independent Directors of the
Company. In considering the overall balance of the Board’s composition, the Nominating Committee will give due
consideration to the selection and evaluation criteria set out in the Selection & Appointment of Independent Directors
Policy, having regard to the normally accepted nomination criteria which include but not limited to (i) the appropriate
background, experience, industry knowledge or ability to acquire that knowledge, professional skills and qualifications;
(i) demonstrated and recognised knowledge, experience and competence in business including financial literacy;
(i) ability to analyse information, think strategically, review and challenge Management in order to make informed
decisions and assess performance; (iv) wilingness to devote the required time, including being available to attend
meetings of the Board and Board Committees; (v) good communication skills and ability to work harmoniously with
fellow directors and the Management; and (vi) high levels of personal and professional integrity as well as business ethics.

In the case of selection and appointment of CNAF-Nominee Directors and BP-Nominee Directors, the Nominating
Committee may apply the relevant selection and evaluation criteria in the Selection & Appointment of Independent
Directors Policy when assessing their suitability in complementing the core competencies of the Board at that time.

In line with the Board adopted guiding principles for the
determination of a specified maximum number of listed board representations. Directors of CAO should not, as a general
guide, hold more than six (6) board representations in listed companies (the “Maximum Number of Listed Board
Representations”). In addition, the following considerations are also taken into account;

()  where the individual also holds a full-time executive position; and
(i)  where the individual is a full-time independent director.
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All Directors of the Company have complied with the requirement on the Maximum Number of Listed Board Representations.

The Nominating Committee had reviewed each Director’s external directorships as well as the Director’s attendance and
contributions to the Board. Despite the multiple directorships of some Directors, the Nominating Committee is satisfied
that all of the Directors of the Company have complied with the requirement on the Maximum Number of Listed Board
Representations. The Nominating Committee is also satisfied that the Directors spent adequate time on the Company’s
affairs and have carried out their responsibilities.

Pursuant to Regulation 94 of the Company’s Constitution,
one-third of the members of the Board of Directors shall retire by rotation at every annual general meeting of the Company
(the “AGM”) and these Directors may offer themselves for re-election, if eligible. For the 31t AGM to be held on 24 April
2025, Dr Fu Xingran, Dr Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong and Mr Lin Yi are due for retirement by rotation and will be eligible
for re-election.

The Nominating Committee evaluated the performance of each Director and the effectiveness
of the Board as a whole. The Board has, through the Nominating Committee, implemented a formal process annually
for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, each of its Board Committees and individual Directors
(the “Overall Board/Board Committees’ Performance Evaluation”). The Overall Board/Board Committees’
Performance Evaluation entailed the completion by each member of the Nominating Committee of a Board assessment
and effectiveness questionnaire (the “Board Evaluation Questionnaire”). The Board Evaluation Questionnaire takes
into consideration the requirements of the 2018 Code as well as generally accepted good practices for Nominating
Committees of listed companies in Singapore.

The elements of the Board Evaluation Questionnaire included questions on (i) the Board’s composition; (i) Board’s
access to information prior to Board meetings and on an ongoing basis to enable them to properly discharge their
duties and responsibilities as Directors; (iii) the expertise and experience of each member of the Board; (iv) the conduct
of proceedings of meetings, participation and contributions to the Board both inside and outside of Board meetings;
(v) the process for selection and appointment of new Directors & Key Management Personnel as well as nomination of
Directors for re-election; (vi) the assessment of the performance benchmark for assessing the performance of the Board
as a whole and in ensuring the continued return for shareholders; (vii) the standard of conduct in preventing conflicts of
interest and the disclosure of personal interests and abstention from voting where appropriate; (viii) Directors’ multiple
board representations; and (ix) communications with shareholders of the Company.

A summary of the assessment ratings on each of the elements of the Board Evaluation Questionnaire by each member of
the Nominating Committee for last three (3) preceding years was also sent to the members of the Nominating Committee.

Each member of the Nominating Committee would first carry out his own assessment and evaluation of the performance
of the Board as a whole and its Board Committees using the Board Evaluation Questionnaire.

A general summary of the assessment ratings on each of the elements of the Board Evaluation Questionnaire by each
member of the Nominating Committee will be collated by the Company Secretary for the Nominating Committee’s
deliberation and consensus at its Nominating Committee Meeting held in August 2024. Based on analyses of the ratings
allocated by members of the Nominating Committee, it was noted that the Board already has an effective governance
framework in place which provided a sound basis for strategic leadership and oversight at the Board level. In order to
bring about more positive effects on board dynamics and governance, the Board considered the proposed action points
and these included: (1) enhancing the demographic attributes and characteristics in the boardroom through gender
diversity as well as having more international representation on the Board. Although gender diversity is not the bellwether
for board diversity, embracing diversity and striving for gender balance in the Board can help the Company reap the
benefits of more robust decision-making, greater innovation and improved corporate governance; (2) increasing the
number of independent directors represented on the Board to further enhance the independence element in the Board
to enable the Company to comply with the requirements of Provision 2.2 of the 2018 Code which requires majority
board independence where the Chairman of the Board is not independent; and (3) setting clear expectations with the
Management on the Board's engagement in strategy. These could include how the Board wants to engage in the setting
of the Company’s strategy, what the Board needs from management and from individual board members to be effectively
engaged and value adding as the Company's strategy evolves to address new risks, opportunities, and challenges.
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During the year, each of the Board committees also conducted an annual self-evaluation to assess its effectiveness
as a whole and explored ways to further enhance its effectiveness. Areas covered by the self-assessment exercise
included (1) Board Membership and Diversity; (2) Conduct of Meetings; (3) Training and Professional Development;
(4) Reporting and Updates to the Board; (5) Process for Selection and Appointment of New Independent Directors;
(6) Process for Board Performance Evaluation; and (7) Communications with Shareholders. The overall responses
received from members of the Nominating Committee were positive in all categories of the Nominating Committee
Self-Assessment Form, indicating that the Nominating Committee is already operating at an effective level.

The Nominating Committee is satisfied with the current compositions and performances of the Board and the Board
Committees, both individually and as a whole.

Access to Information

The Company has put in place enhanced communication processes between the Board and
Management in terms of information flow.

Agenda for meetings and all Board papers for discussions are circulated to Directors at least ten (10) calendar days in
advance so that the Directors are prepared for the meetings. However, sensitive matters may be tabled at the meeting
itself or discussed without any papers being distributed. Management and senior executives of the Company would be
present during the Board meeting or Board Committee meeting, as the case may be, to present their proposals or to
answer any questions that Board members may have.

The Board as a whole as well as individual Directors have direct access to Management represented by senior executive
officers of the Company and the CAO Group. The Management provides the Directors with monthly updates on the
operational and financial performance of the CAO Group, and also responds to regular questions from the Board or
individual Directors in a timely manner.

Where the Board deems it necessary, the Board can obtain independent advice from external consultants. This enhances
the Board’s ability to discharge its functions and duties.

All Board members have direct access to and the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary
attends all Board and Board Committee meetings and assists the respective Chairman of the Board/Board Committees
in ensuring that Board/ Board Committee papers, procedures and the applicable laws and regulations are adhered to.

Information about the Company and the CAO Group are freely available to each Board member. Management will promptly
supply any additional information that the Board requires.

The Board also has ready access to external professionals for consultations and any such costs and expenses are paid
by the Company.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS
Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies/Level and Mix of Remuneration/Disclosure on Remuneration

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee to consider and to make
recommendations on remuneration matters for the Directors and KMP of the CAO Group. Apart from ensuring
consistencies with good practices, the Remuneration Committee is also mindful of the need to ensure that the Company
and the CAO Group are able to attract and retain good Directors and senior executives to the business.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises five (5) members, the majority of whom, including
its Chairman, are Independent Non-Executive Directors:
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Remuneration Committee

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Chairman

Shi Lei Vice Chairman
Fu Xingran Member

Hee Theng Fong Member
Richard Yang Minghui Member

The Remuneration Committee assists the Board and Management by assessing and making remuneration recommendations
for the Executive Directors and KMPs of the Company that is appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance
and value creation of the Company, in line with the strategic objectives of the Company.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and recommended to the Board for consideration and approval:
(1) Proposed Implementation Rules on Tenure Incentives for Management Personnel; (2) Review of the Terms of
Reference of the Remuneration Committee and Proposed Amendments; (3) 2024 Remuneration Committee Annual
Self-Assessment Summary; (4) FY2023 Performance Bonus for CEO and other Key Management Personnel; and (5)
2024 Salary Adjustment for CEO and other Key Management Personnel.

The Company used the “Total Remuneration Survey” for the Energy Trading Industry purchased from Mercer as a
reference for benchmarking purposes. Mercer and its consultants are independent and are not related to the Company
or its Directors.

Broadly, remuneration for the Executive Chairman, CEO/Executive Director and five (5) KMPs for the financial year ended
31 December 2024 is based on the Company’s performance as well as individual performances, and the remuneration
for Non-Executive, Independent Directors in the form of fees is based on responsibilities and memberships in the Board
and its committees.

All Independent Directors of the Company are paid Directors’ fees, subject to the approval of shareholders at the AGM.
Directors’ fees comprise a basic fee and fees in respect of service on the Board Committees. All Non-executive,
Non-Independent Directors of the Company do not receive Directors’ fees.

The structure for the payment of Directors’ fees for Non-Executive Directors, which is based on a framework comprising
basic fees and additional fees for serving on the Board Committees and undertaking additional services for the CAO
Group. Fees paid or payable to Independent Directors consider factors such as effort, time spent and responsibilities of
these Directors. The Executive Chairman and Executive Director do not receive Directors’ fees for their Board directorships
with the Company or within the CAO Group.

Details on the existing Directors’ fee structure are set out below:

(@) Each independent director will receive a base fee (“Base Fee”).

b) The Chairman of the Audit Committee (“AC”) will receive additionally two-thirds of the Base Fee (“AC Chairman’s Fee”).

(c) The Chairman of the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) will receive additionally two-thirds of the Base Fee
(‘RMC Chairman’s Fee”).

(d) Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and the Chairman of the Nominating Committee (“NC”) will each
receive additionally one-half of the Base Fee.

(e) Members of AC, RC, NC and RMC will each receive 50% of the respective AC Chairman’s Fee, RC Chairman’s Fee,
NC Chairman’s Fee, and RMC Chairman’s Fee.

()  Non-Executive, Non-Independent Directors, and Executive Directors will not be entitled to receive fees.

(@) The Lead Independent Director will receive additionally a fixed fee of S$30,000.

—_
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The remuneration of Directors, the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director payable
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Basic/Fixed | Variable/
Salary and | Performance Long-Term

Fee Allowance Bonus Others Incentives Total
Name of Director/CEO (S9$) (S9$) (S9) (S9$) (S9$) (S9)

Executive Chairman
Shi Yanliang N.A. 273,196.49 3,5631.68 39,694.88 0 316,423.05
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director

Lin Yi?2 N.A. 259,305.96 61,231.11 33,977.45 0 354,514.52
Non-Executive Directors

Teo Ser Luck 162,000 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 162,000
(Lead Independent Director)

Zhang Yuchen* 0 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 0
Shi Lei+ 0 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 0
Hee Theng Fong 120,000 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 120,000
Fu Xingran 112,000 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 112,000
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong 112,000 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 112,000
Richard Yang Minghui * 0 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 0
Notes:

1 The total remuneration of Mr Shi Yanliang shown above includes the pro-rated 2023 variable bonus paid during the financial year 2024 and excludes the 2024 variable
bonus payable during the financial year 2025.

2 The total remuneration of Mr Lin Yi shown above includes the 2023 variable bonus paid during the financial year 2024 and excludes the 2024 variable bonus payable
during the financial year 2025.

+ Non-executive, Non-Independent Directors of the Company do not receive Directors’ fees.

Summary of Compensation Table for Key Management Personnel for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Allowances
Name of Key Based/Fixed | Variable | and Other | Long-Term
Management Benefits Incentives
Remuneration Bands Personnel (%) (%)
S$$500,001 - S$750,000 Elizza Ding 73.6 23.3 3.1 0 100.0
Zou Yaoping 68.7 19.7 11.6 0 100.0
S$$250,000 - S$500,000 Liu Hanguang 62.7 21.9 15.4 0 100.0
Doreen Nah 71.6 25.2 3.2 0 100.0
Below S$250,000 Zhou Haomin '’ 86.4 0 13.6 0 100.0
Total Remuneration of
Five (5) Key Management S$$1,713,455
Personnel?
Notes:

1 Zhou Haomin was appointed as Deputy Head of Finance in October 2024 and his total remuneration for the financial year 2024 has been pro-rated accordingly.
2 The remuneration disclosed for the KMP includes the 2023 variable bonus paid during the financial year 2024 and excludes the 2024 variable bonus payable during the
financial year 2025.

There are no employees in the CAO Group who are immediate family members of the Chairman or any of the Directors
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024. “Immediate family member” means the spouse, child, adopted child,
stepchild, brother, sister, and parent.

The remuneration of the CAO Group’s five (5) KMP takes into consideration relevant policy requirements of CNAF or the
pay and employment conditions in the same industry and is performance-related.
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The remuneration package of Directors and key management personnel include the following:

Basic/fixed salary — The basic salary (exclusive of statutory employer contributions to Central Provident Fund) for the
Executive Chairman, CEO/ED and each KMP were approved by the Remuneration Committee and endorsed by the
Board, taking into account the performance of the individual for the financial year 2024, the inflation price index and
information from independent sources on the pay scale for similar jobs in a selected group of comparable organisations.

Variable/Performance - The CAO Group operates a bonus scheme for all employees, including the ED and CEO.
The criteria for the bonus scheme are the level of profit achieved from certain aspects of the CAO Group’s business
activities against targets, together with an assessment of the Company’s and individual’s performance during the year.
The remuneration disclosed above for the Executive Chairman, CEO/ED and the five (5) KMPs included the variable
bonuses in relation to business performance targets achieved for the Company during the financial year 2023.

Others - Benefits in kind such as statutory employer contributions to Central Provident Fund, employer’s contributions
to social security funds for CNAF seconded personnel, and other allowances and/or short-term benefits are made
available where appropriate and consistent with common industry practices.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Accountability:

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, reviewed all financial statements of the Company and the
CAO Group. The Board is accountable to shareholders and always aims to present a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s and the CAO Group’s financial position and prospects to shareholders on a timely basis.
The half-year and full-year results were announced or issued within the mandatory period. The Board also ensures that
timely announcements of other matters as prescribed by the SGX-ST Listing Manual requirements and other relevant
rules and regulations are made.

Board members are provided with management accounts on a monthly basis. Such reports keep the Board informed,
on a balanced and understandable basis, of the CAO Group’s performance, financial position and prospects and
consist of the consolidated profit and loss accounts, analysis of sales, operating profit, pre-tax and attributable profit
by business segments compared against the budgets, together with explanation given for significant variances for the
month and year-to-date.

The Board had established a Financial Audit Management Measures (the “Financial Audit Management Measures”)
which will serve to further strengthen financial supervision, regulate the annual audit of financial statements, improve the
quality of accounting information as well as enhance the level of financial management of the CAO Group. In line with
the prevailing regulatory requirements of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council of the People’s Republic of China, which has jurisdiction over CNAF, which is a state-owned enterprise of
the People’s Republic of China, and over the Company as CNAF’s subsidiary, the same audit firm may undertake the
financial audit of the CAO Group for not more than 5 consecutive financial years. For audit firm with good audit quality
track record, the Company may request for extension of engagement of the same audit firm and obtain approval from
the Audit Committee and the Board, but the number of years of consecutive financial audits shall not exceed 8 financial
years. The audit firm extending its year of consecutive audits beyond 5 consecutive financial years will be required to
change the audit engagement partner and the signing certified public accountant from the sixth year onwards.

The Audit Committee, in accordance with its terms of reference, evaluates the qualifications, performance and
independence of the external auditors at least annually (“Audit Quality Assessment”), taking into consideration
the Audit Quality Indicators Disclosure Framework published by the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority of
Singapore (including whether provision of non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the auditors’ independence).
The Audit Quality Assessment is conducted in the form of a questionnaire (“Audit Quality Assessment Questionnaire”)
to assess the quality, qualifications, performance and independence of the external auditors. In reviewing the performance
of the external auditors, the Audit Committee will focus on the quality and rigour of the audit (e.g. assessment of the
effectiveness of the external audit through levels of errors identified, accuracy in handling key accounting audit judgments
and response to queries from the Audit Committee); quality of audit services provided, the audit firm’s internal quality
control procedures, relationship with internal auditors and the Company; and the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, BDO LLP (“BDQ”) and internal auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Risk
Services Pte Ltd (“PWC”), scrutinised Management’s conduct of the Company’s and the CAO Group’s business
processes and financials. Each area of the Company and the CAO Group was audited on an ongoing basis to ensure
that the Company and the CAO Group maintain good corporate practices and governance and financial integrity.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board recognises the importance of sound internal control and risk management practices. In this regard, the Board
affirms that it is responsible for the CAO Group’s systems of internal control and risk management system and had
established the Risk Management Committee.

As at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee comprises five (5) members, all of whom are
Non-Executive Directors:

Risk Management Committee

Hee Theng Fong Chairman
Zhang Yuchen Vice Chairman
Teo Ser Luck Member

Shi Lei Member
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Member

In line with the Risk Management Committee’s remit of overall risk management, the Risk Management Committee
coordinates the management of major risks under the respective oversight responsibility of the Audit Committee, the
Nominating Committee, Remuneration Committee and Sustainability Committee. The Audit Committee, the Nominating
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Sustainability Committee will notify the Risk Management Committee
of any material risk matters and report them to the Board after reaching a consensus.

The Risk Management Committee assists the Board and the Company in ensuring adequate measures are in place to
manage all material risks (including relating to risk management policies and framework which shall include, among others,
the review of market risk, credit risk, operational and compliance risks associated with trading activities, technology risk
(including information security risk and cybersecurity risk), reputational risk and other risk concerns (other than in relation
to financial reporting and financial-related risks and controls).

The Risk Management Department of the Company ensures that the risk management activities have been executed
daily. The Risk Management Department is responsible for, among others:

()  ensuring that risk management activities have been executed daily; and
(i) all risk-related policies, processes and limits are implemented and adhered to.

The Risk Management Committee delegates the day-to-day management of risks of the Company and the CAO Group
to the Company Risk Team (save for the day-to-day management of risks relating to the “Hedging Business” of the
Company and the CAO Group), which operates within the delegated authority set by the Risk Management Committee
from time to time.

The Company Risk Team comprises at least six (6) members which include the Risk Management-In-Charge, members of
the Management team (one of whom shall be the CEO) and relevant functional heads (i.e. Trading-In-Charge, Operation-
In-Charge, Finance-In-Charge, Legal & Compliance-In-Charge and Corporate Development and Investment-In-Charge),
and meets at least once a year as well as on an ad hoc basis when required. The Chairman of the Company Risk Team,
who is the Risk Management-In-Charge, directly reports to the Executive Chairman but also has an independent direct
reporting line to the Risk Management Committee.

The Risk Management Committee delegates the day-to-day management of risks of the “Hedging Business” of the
Company and the CAO Group to the Hedging Business Leadership Team. The Hedging Business Leadership Team
comprises at least (6) members which include members of the Management team (of whom (1) the CEO shall be the
Team Leader; and (2) the Chief Financial Officer/Vice President shall be the Deputy Team Leader), Risk Management-In-
Charge, Trading-In-Charge and Finance-In-Charge.
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The Risk Management Report is found on page 57 of the Annual Report.

The adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls of the CAO Group is subject to a periodic review by
the Internal Auditors of the Company which is outsourced to PWC and supported by the Compliance team of the Legal
& Compliance Department. The key responsibilities of the Compliance function include inter alia:

(1) review and evaluation of compliance-related issues across the CAO Group;

(2) monitoring of new and existing laws and regulations as well as keeping abreast of the status of all relevant
compliance activities;

(3) acting as a channel of communication between compliance investigators and concerned parties;

(4) setting policies and periodic checks to prevent any unethical or illegal conduct within the CAO Group;

(5) responding to violation of regulations, policies, rules and standards of conduct within the CAO Group;

(6) coordination of compliance activities such as providing training to staff of the CAO Group;

(7) overseeing the annual internal audit for the CAO Group which includes preparation of internal audit schedules
including short/long term audit plans, reviewing the annual/quarterly internal audit reports to the Management and
the Audit Committee;

(8) integration and establishment of the CAO Group’s internal control framework, policies, processes and systems across

the Company, its subsidiaries and associates;

) facilitating and assisting the CAO Group functional heads in formulating policies, operational processes and systems;

0) ensure that the policies, processes and systems are efficient in implementation and aligned with regulatory requirement;

1) establishing and maintaining the CAO Group’s Business Continuity Plan;

2) establishing and ongoing review of the standard operating templates of the CAO Group to ensure proper departmental

ownership of each processes and changes; and

(13) evaluating the system of internal controls for new projects and business activities and analysis on the impact of such
activities on the CAQ Group and where necessary, provide recommendations and develop programmes for improvement.

The Head of Legal & Compliance reports directly to the CEOQ/ED. The Head of Legal & Compliance may also report directly
to the Audit Committee for important matters or concerns relating to the system of internal controls of the CAO Group.

As part of the CAO Group’s efforts to ensure all employees of the CAO Group stay relevant and informed of the dynamic
business environment and uphold core ethics and values that are essential to the long-term success of the CAO Group,
the Legal & Compliance Department arranged for all employees of the CAO Group to participate in the mandatory
e-learning course modules relating to (1) Data Privacy; (2) Information Security; (3) Preventing Financial Crime (Anti-Money
Laundering, Anti-Fraud, Anti-Bribery and Corruption and Sanction) via the LRN’s online learning portal. In addition, the
Legal & Compliance Department conducted two (2) in-house training sessions namely, (1) Anti-Fraud, Anti-Corruption
and Sanctions Compliance; and (2) CAO’s General Mandate for Interested Person Transactions.

In September 2024, the Company conducted its second on-site business continuity plan cum disaster recovery
plan (“BCP_& DRP”) exercise since the onset of the pandemic, activating the disaster recovery centre, whereby the
employees of foreign subsidiaries of the CAO Group also participated in the drill in their respective countries. The BCP
& DRP exercise had elevated the awareness of handling unforeseen events, assessed the effectiveness of the business
continuity plan, and strengthened employees' emergency response capabilities in the face of unexpected situations.
During the year, the Company also conducted a “Call Tree” drill to test the effectiveness of its business continuity and
emergency/incident management protocols.

With the assistance of the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee, the Board reviews the adequacy
and integrity of the internal control systems and processes of the Company from time to time. Corporate Policy on
Anti-Money Laundering Measures, including the appointment of an Anti- Money Laundering Compliance Officer, together
with other trading-related policies such as Out-of-Office Dealing Policy, Telephone Taping/Instant Messaging/Mobile
Phone Policy, Deal Entry Policy, CAO Group Trade Sanctions Policy and CAO Group Corporate Guarantee Policy had
been endorsed by the Risk Management Committee and relevant departments had also been mandated with the
responsibility to oversee the adoption of the aforesaid policies in their practices, processes and operations.

The Company has also established the “CAQ Internal Audit Management Measures”. The objectives of the “CAQO Internal
Audit Management Measures” are to streamline and strengthen the administration of internal audit activities, enhance
CAQO's internal controls processes and provide assurance on the quality of internal audit services.
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The internal audit function of the CAO Group, which is outsourced to PWC, assists the Audit Committee and the
Board in evaluating the internal control systems and processes, financial and accounting matters, compliance and
business and financial risk management. The Audit Committee’s responsibilities in the CAO Group’s internal controls are
complemented by the work of the outsourced Internal Auditors, PWC, the Risk Management Department and the Legal
& Compliance Department.

Based on the audit reports, internal control systems review report and management controls in place, the Audit Committee
is satisfied that the internal control systems provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, that proper
accounting records are maintained and financial statements are reliable.

In line with the Singapore Standards on Auditing, the Company’s external auditors, BDO LLP, will disclose key audit
matters in the auditor’s reports on the financial statements which include matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Key Audit Matters”).

Significant financial reporting matters (including the Audit Committee’s perspectives on the Key Audit Matters) are
summarised below:

ommittee’s Commentary on its Review of Key

atters and Decisions Made
Revenue recognition

Recognition of revenue has been identified as a key
audit matter primarily due to:

The Audit Committee regularly discussed with management
and the external auditors on the standard operating procedures
and controls in place to ensure the timeliness, completeness

e the timing of recognition for trades with deliveries 44 accuracy of accounting records and reporting.

occurring on or around year-end because of the
extent of the CAO Group’s distribution network
and varying shipping terms with customers; and

The Audit Committee has considered the reasonableness
and adequacy of the internal controls and procedures on the
CAO Group’s operating effectiveness. The Audit Committee
has also considered the audit procedures performed by the
external auditors as well as their audit findings, and noted
that no misstatements were uncovered by the external
auditors. It evaluated and was satisfied that the standard
operating procedures and controls in place were reasonable
and adequate.

o risk of potential deliberate misstatement of the
CAO Group’s trading positions by failing to report
the trades entered or failing to record the trades
accurately or timely.

The details of the CAO Group’s revenue are disclosed
in Notes 3.9 and 20 to the financial statements.

Valuation of Derivatives, Open Physical Contracts
and Trading Inventories

The valuation of derivatives (including open physical
contracts) and trading inventories has been identified
as a risk primarily because valuation requires significant
management judgment in applying the appropriate
assumptions and inputs used in the valuation, including
the use of an appropriate price index.

The valuation techniques and the inputs used in the
fair value measurements of the financial instruments are
disclosed in Notes 10, 11, 16 and 28 to the financial
statements.

The Audit Committee received regular briefings on the CAO
Group’s internal controls and compliance. The internal auditors
also conducted a review of the Company’s system of internal
controls and no significant observations were noted.

The Audit Committee has considered the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the controls in place over the valuation of
derivatives, open physical contracts and trading inventories
as well as the internal auditors’ audit findings. It evaluated and
was satisfied that the valuation methodology and inputs used
in the valuation were reasonable and appropriate.

In addition, PWC which had been engaged to conduct a review of the internal control systems and processes of the
CAO Group will highlight any internal control weaknesses which have come to their attention in the course of their
review. Any such audit findings noted during the audit by external auditors or internal control weaknesses noted during
the review by BDO, and recommendations in relation thereto, if any, by the external auditors and PWC respectively,
are reported to the Audit Committee.
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In accordance with Provision 10.2 of the 2018 Code, the Audit Committee reviewed the written assurance (“Letter
of Assurance”) from the CEO and CFO on the financial records and the financial statements of the Company for
the financial year ended 31 December 2024. The Letter of Assurance provides reasonable assurance to the Board
that (1) the financial records of CAQO for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 have been properly maintained;
(2) the financial statements and the accompanying notes comply with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) in all material respects; (3) the financial statements and accompanying notes provide a true and fair view
of the financial position and performance of CAO and its subsidiaries; and (4) the integrity of the financial statements are
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control; and (5) the risk management and internal control
system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

In accordance with Provision 9.2(a) of the 2018 Code, the Board received a Letter of Assurance from the CEO and
CFO confirming that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the CAO Group’s operations and finances. In accordance with Provision 9.2 (b) of the 2018 Code, the Board
also received a Letter of Assurance from the CEO, other members of the Management team and the Head of Risk
Management, that the CAO Group’s risk management and internal control systems are adequate and effective as at
31 December 2024 to address financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the CAO Group, work performed by the internal and external
auditors, and reviews performed by management and various Board Committees, the Board, with the concurrence of
the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee, is of the opinion that the CAO Group’s internal controls
and risk management systems are adequate and effective as at 31 December 2024 in addressing financial, operational,
compliance and information technology risks to provide reasonable assurance for achieving the following objectives:

(@) effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
(b) reliability of financial reporting; and
(c) compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Board noted that the system of internal controls and risk management provides reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the CAO Group will not be affected by any event that could be reasonably foreseen as it strives to
achieve its business objectives and goals. In this regard, the Board also noted that no system can provide absolute
assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or
other irregularities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises five (5) members,
all of whom are Non-Executive Directors and the majority, including its Chairman, consists of Independent Directors:

Audit Committee

Teo Ser Luck Chairman
Zhang Yuchen Vice Chairman
Hee Theng Fong Member

Fu Xingran Member
Richard Yang Minghui Member

The Audit Committee held three (3) meetings in 2024. The Audit Committee met with
external and internal auditors to review both the Company and the CAO Group’s financials and audit reports. A key issue
for discussion is the financial statements and announcements made by the Company to shareholders. The members of
the Audit Committee, collectively, have expertise or experience in financial management and are qualified to discharge
the Audit Committee’s responsibilities.

The Audit Committee met with both the external and internal auditors at least once without the presence of the Management.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board and the Company in fulfilling its oversight responsibility relating to inter alia,
the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and financial reporting processes and the Company’s system of internal
accounting and financial controls, the review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal controls (in relation to financial reporting and other financial-related risks), the adequacy of the scope, resources
and performance of the internal audit function, the annual independent audit of the Company’s financial statements,
the engagement of external auditors and their remuneration, and the evaluation of their qualifications, independence,
objectivity and performance.

The Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly and annual financial statements for the financial year 2024 and the integrity
of financial reporting of the Company, including the accounting principles, for recommendation to the Board for approval.
The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the plans of the internal auditor and external auditor’ to ensure that
such plans adequately cover, in particular, significant internal controls of the Company relating to financial, operational
and compliance-related matters. Significant issues are discussed at Audit Committee meetings.

The Audit Committee has full authority to investigate into any matter within its terms of reference, including any suspected
fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations.

The Audit Committee has full access to and co-operation of the Management. The Audit Committee also has full
discretion to invite any Director or executive officer from the Company or the CAO Group to attend its meetings. The Audit
Committee has full access to both external and internal auditors. Where required, the Audit Committee is empowered
to obtain external legal advice or such other independent professional advice as the Audit Committee deems necessary.

The Audit Committee monitors all interested person transactions, including transactions under the general mandate
on Interested Person Transactions approved by shareholders at the AGM held in April 2024, and conflict of interest
situations including transactions, procedures or actions taken which may raise issues about the Management’s integrity.

The Audit Committee also evaluates the scope and results of internal audit reports as well as Management’s
responses to the findings of the internal audit reports. For further discussions about internal audit, please see section
(D) INTERNAL CONTROLS.

The Audit Committee has also conducted an annual review of non-audit services and is satisfied that the nature and
extent of such services provided by BDO LLP will not prejudice their independence and objectivity before confirming
their re-nomination.

The Company implemented the Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy which included inter alia, clearer guidance relating to
the Company’s approach and stance on whistleblowing and the means by which whistleblowers can raise serious concerns
of any allegations of wrongdoing as well as more explicit indication of the kinds of conduct which might be considered
reportable concerns. Under the Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy, whistleblowers may report any reportable concerns
pertaining to any form of misconduct affecting the CAO Group, its customers, partners, suppliers and other stakeholders,
via a dedicated email address: whistle_blowing@caosco.com and auditcommittee_whistleblowing@caosco.com.
The Company did not receive any such reportable concerns during the year.

A summary of the Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy can be accessed from the Company’s external website. Under the
Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy, all reportable concerns will be reviewed within a reasonable time-frame, and after
due consideration and inquiry, a decision will be taken on whether to proceed with a detailed investigation. Guidance and
direction will be sought from the Management of the Company on the appropriate course of action. Where a reportable
incident relates directly or indirectly to any member of the Management, that member of the Management shall abstain
from participating in the deliberations relating thereto. Management shall then submit all reported concerns including
recommended action (if any) to the Chairman of the Board and/or the Audit Committee for their guidance. The Chairman
of the Board and/or the Audit Committee shall decide as to whether the Company should proceed with the investigation
of the complaint or whether no further action is considered necessary. In the event that the Chairman of the Board
and/or the Audit Committee shall decide that an investigation should proceed, an ad hoc investigation taskforce
shall be established and the members of such ad hoc investigation taskforce shall comprise relevant personnel
recommended by the Management and approved by the Chairman of the Board and/or the Audit Committee.
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The Company has implemented and executed its Enterprise Risk Management Framework and Process which provides
the Company with a structured approach and framework to regularly assess its enterprise-wide risks. Enterprise Risk
Assessments are conducted on a regular basis to identify and deliver an inventory of key risks for the Company
(including climate change-related risk) and to develop a list of key risk indicators that can help the Company monitor
and mitigate its key risks. The Company also executed its Crisis Management and Business Continuity Plan which
provides the CAO Group with a structured process for limiting the intensity or impact of negative threat or event to its
employees, products, services, investments, financial stability and reputation.

During the year, the Company also established its Compliance Management Policy revised and updated several of
its compliance-related policies including the “Trade Sanctions Compliance Policy”, “Anti-Money Laundering and
Anti-Terrorist Financing Measures”. The Company also conducted a group-wide fraud risk assessment on the Company

and its Subsidiaries.

The Fraud Control Plan comprises periodic fraud risk assessments on the Company which is subject to review from time
to time.

In addition, other existing policies, internal guidelines and/or processes and procedures have been put in place by
the Company and these include the Investment Governance Management Measures, Revised Hedging Business
Management Measures, Administrative Measures for Records and Archives (which replaced the Documents Retention
Policy), Contracts/Documents Review Policy and Procedures, Appropriate Use of Information Technology Policy,
Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy, Administrative Measures for the Formulation of Internal Policies and Procedures,
Remuneration Policy, Revised Investor Relations Policy, etc.

The Company has put in place an employee handbook which includes a code of business conduct and ethics
for employees.

Internal Audit

Both the Board and the Audit Committee agree that it is important to have a strong professional internal audit function to
enhance their ability to manage risk and safeguard shareholders’ interest. It has been determined that the best approach
is to engage independent professional auditors to discharge this function and such, PWC has been retained as the
Internal Auditors of the CAO Group.

During the financial year, PWC reviewed the Company’s processes and procedures on a continual basis to ensure
compliance with the best corporate governance practices. It also reviewed interested person transactions on a regular
basis. The Audit Committee is satisfied that PWC had adequate resources to perform its functions and had appropriate
standing within the Company.

As the Internal Auditors of the CAO Group, PWC had conducted its internal audits for the financial year 2024 in accordance
with PWC'’s global internal audit methodology which is aligned with the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal
Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.

In accordance with the relevant requirements of the “CAQ Internal Audit Management Measures”, the Company conducts
an audit service quality assessment of its outsourced internal auditors on a yearly basis and will provide the evaluation
results at the Audit Committee Meeting. The internal audit plan for the following financial year will be presented for
approval at the second Audit Committee Meeting scheduled for each financial year together with the recommendation
for the outsourced internal auditors’ re-appointment.

The Audit Committee had approved the internal audit plan for 2025 submitted by PWC. The internal audit plan
includes amongst others, (1) an independent annual review on the effectiveness and adequacy of the CAO Group’s
overall system of internal controls including an audit of key business processes; (2) audit on the hedging process of
the CAO Group’s hedging business; (3) audit on the review process for interested person transactions; and (4) audit
on the FY2024 sustainability reporting process. The internal audit reports which included inter alia, a summary of
the significant audit findings or internal control inadequacies that could possibly affect the CAO Group’s operational
effectiveness, are submitted to the Audit Committee for review and approval. These internal audit reports are also
submitted to the Board for information. Adoption of remedial measures by relevant departments arising from the
audit findings are subsequently monitored for implementation by specified timelines.
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SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

The Sustainability Committee comprises five (5) members, all of whom
are Non-Executive Directors and the majority, including its Chairman, consists of Independent Directors:

Sustainability Committee

Teo Ser Luck Chairman
Zhang Yuchen Vice Chairman
Hee Theng Fong Member

Fu Xingran Member
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Member

The Sustainability Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities in relation to sustainability-related issues of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries as well as
subsidiaries where it has management control (“Subsidiaries”), and to achieve the following objectives: (i) To maintain
and achieve long-term business growth and development of the Company, to promote environmental protection,
enhance human resource management and other technical capabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries, thereby
creating long-term sustainable value for the stakeholders of the Company; (i) To develop a sustainability framework and
an actionable sustainability roadmap; and (i) To embed sustainability into the Company’s corporate culture, promoting
ethical and responsible behaviour.

The Sustainability Committee held two (2) meetings in 2024 where it met to discuss and review (1) Summary of Findings
and Recommendations in relation to: (a) Evaluation of Material Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Factors in
FY 2023 Sustainability Reporting; (b) Materiality Assessment of ESG Factors in FY 2023 Sustainability Reporting including
Proposed Targets and Metrics; (c) Focus Areas for CAO and Peer Benchmarking; and (d) Aligning with International
Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB): Recommendation on Climate Change Governance and Preliminary Climate Risk
Identification; (2) Proposed CAO Sustainability Development Framework and a 5-year Phased Strategy Implementation
Roadmap; (3) Proposed Adoption of CAO FY 2023 Sustainability Report; (3) Review of Terms of Reference of the
Sustainability Committee, Sustainability Task Force and Proposed Amendments; (4) Evaluation of Material Environmental,
Social and Governance (ESG) Factors in FY 2024 Sustainability Reporting; and (5) Report on Completion Progress of
Material ESG Targets.

In working towards achieving the Company’s sustainability targets, the Sustainability Committee may, as and when
necessary, collaborate with all other Board Committees namely, the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee,
the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee. The Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee,
the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee will notify the Sustainability Committee of any sustainability-
related matters (including climate change-related risks and opportunities) that may affect the sustainable development
of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Sustainability Committee will, following consideration and concurrence,
thereafter report the matter to the Board. Specifically, the Sustainable Committee’s duties and responsibilities include:
(i) reviewing and recommending for Board approval, the CAO Group’s sustainability framework and sustainability
roadmap; (i) reviewing and recommending for Board approval, the sustainability strategy plans for sustainable growth
and climate change-related risks and business opportunities as well as overseeing the implementation of the same;
(iii) reviewing key sustainability policies of the Company and ensuring these sustainability policies are not in contravention
with applicable legal and regulatory compliance requirements; (iv) reviewing material environmental, social and
governance factors (including but not limited to climate change-related matters that are relevant to the Company’s
business and other sustainability initiatives) that would enhance the Company’s value, brand image and relationships with
various stakeholders; and (v) overseeing the sustainable development of the Company and its Subsidiaries in relation
to achieving its sustainability objectives, which will include but not limited to strategies on environmental protection and
climate-related changes and social considerations, underpinning sustainability, climate-related risks and opportunities.



100

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A E)BEIRE

(D) COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Investor Relations and Shareholder Communication

The CAO Group is committed to providing regular, effective and fair communication with its shareholders and the
investment community.

The Company, through the Investor Relations team and senior management, maintained active working relationships
with domestic and international brokerage firms, investment banks and the media.

In order to: (i) cultivate wider investing public’s familiarity with the CAO Group; (i) increase global awareness and
appreciation of CAO’s business strategy, corporate developments, growth drivers and financial performance; and
(i) enhance the quantity and quality of analysts’ research, post pandemic, CAO actively capitalised on renewed investor
interest, organising investor engagement sessions and participating in both local and global investment conferences
to better inform investors about CAO’s investment merits. Testament to the continued efforts of Company, Lim & Tan
Securities initiated analyst coverage on the Company’s shares during the year bringing the total number of analyst
coverage by banks and brokerages to 7.

The Company reviews an analyst’s report for factual accuracy of information that is within the public domain but does not
provide forward guidance for analysts’ earnings estimates, and will not comment on their conclusions, earnings estimates,
or investment recommendations.

As a matter of internal policy, the Company will not deny an analyst or investor access to information on the basis of a
negative recommendation or a decision no longer to hold the Company’s securities. The Company shall not attempt to
influence an analyst to change his or her recommendations by exerting pressure through other business relationships.

The Office of Board Secretary Department which manages and oversees CAQ’s Investor Relations function publishes
and maintains a list on the Company’s external website showing names of analysts and firms providing coverage.

The Company also engages the media and investment community through news releases and earnings briefings after
the announcement of CAO Group’s financial results. In 2024, the Company conducted two in-person analyst briefings
with management to foster closer communication with the investment community. In addition, the Company held over
120 meetings with analysts, fund managers and investors from Singapore, Hong Kong, Malaysia and Thailand during the
year to discuss CAQO’s key growth factors as well as addressed any key concerns that the investment community might
have, to further expand the Company's reach among both local and international investors.

To assist members of the Board to gain a current understanding of the views of institutional shareholders, the Board
receives (i) a regular investor relations and corporate communications report which cover a wide range of matters
including a commentary on the perception of the Company and views expressed by the investment community, media
reports, share price performance and analysis, share ownership analysis, highlights of recent investor relations activities;
and (i) a yearly peer companies analysis report which provides a detailed analysis and evaluation on the benchmarking
exercise with identified peer companies to provide the Board with a better understanding of CAQ’s position within the
industry as well as identify gaps and learning points.

In addition, the Board has established the Internal Guidelines on Issuance of Profit Guidance or Profit Warning
Announcements which purposes include allowing market expectations to adjust to the likelihood that the Company will
either fall short of an earlier profit guidance, and/or to avoid an earnings shock, negative impact on the share price, sell-off
of the Company’s shares and/or volatility of trading in the Company’s shares, when the financial results are announced.

The Company’s commitment to risk management, corporate transparency and investor relations was further recognised
in 2024 when CAO received the “Best Risk Management Award (Gold)” at the Singapore Corporate Awards, the “Most
Transparent Company Award (Energy)” in the 2024 Investors’ Choice Awards by Securities Investors Association
(Singapore). In 2024, CAO also received the “Corporate Sustainability — Green Innovation” award from the Asia Corporate
Excellence & Sustainability awards — a further validation of the Company’s commitment towards reducing its carbon
footprint and undertaking to operate ethically and sustainably.
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Investor Relations Calendar

The following key events were held in 2024 to engage shareholders, investors and analysts:

. Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

2H & FY2023 Post Results 30" Annual General Meeting 1H & FY2024 Post Results  Non-Deal Investors’
Briefing with Analysts Briefing with Analysts Meeting in Thailand
and Media and Media

Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

All shareholders of the Company are treated fairly and equitably to facilitate the exercise of their ownership rights.

The Board supports and encourages active shareholder participation at general meetings as it believes that general
meetings serve as an opportune forum for shareholders to meet the Board and senior management, and to interact with
them. Shareholders (themselves or through duly appointed proxies) are given the opportunity to participate effectively
and vote at general meetings of the Company, where relevant rules and procedures governing such meetings (for instance,
how to vote) are clearly communicated prior to the start of the meeting.

The Company’s Constitution allows (i) each shareholder who is not a relevant intermediary (as defined in the Companies
Act) the right to appoint up to two proxies and (ii) each shareholder who is a relevant intermediary to appoint more than
two proxies to attend and vote on their behalf in shareholders’ meetings. A copy of the Notice of AGM is sent to all
shareholders. As for the Annual Report and the Company’s letter to shareholders in relation to certain resolutions being
tabled at the AGM (“Letter to Shareholders”), in line with the CAO Group’s sustainability strategy, these documents are
made available for download from the Company’s corporate website. Printed copies of the Annual Report and Letter to
Shareholders are available on request.

At general meetings, the Company sets out separate resolutions on each substantially separate issue unless the issues
are interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal. Where resolutions are “bundled”, the Company
explains the reasons and material implications for doing in the notice calling for the general meeting. Shareholders are
given the opportunity to raise questions and clarify any issues that they may have relating to the resolutions to be passed.

Members of the Board and senior management are present at each shareholders’ meeting to respond to questions from
shareholders. In general, all Directors are expected to attend general meetings of shareholders, unless they are unable
to attend due to exigencies. The Company’s external auditor is also present to address queries about the conduct of
audit and the preparation and content of the independent auditor’s report. All Directors and members of the senior
management of the Company were present at the 30" AGM.

For greater transparency, the Company has implemented electronic poll voting at its annual general meetings. This entails
shareholders being invited to vote on each of the resolutions by poll, using an electronic voting system (instead of voting
by hand), thereby allowing all shareholders present or represented at the meeting to vote on a one share, one vote basis.
The voting results of all votes cast for, or against, each resolution is then screened at the meeting and announced to the
SGX-ST after the meeting. An independent external party is appointed as scrutineer for the electronic voting process to
count and validate the votes at general meetings.

Provision 11.4 of the Code provides for a company’s constitution to allow for absentia voting at general meetings of
shareholders. The Constitution of the Company currently does not, however, permit shareholders to vote at general
meetings in absentia (such as via mail, email or fax). The Company will consider implementing the relevant amendments
to the Constitution if the Board is of the view that there is a demand for such alternative methods of voting, and after the
Company has evaluated and put in place the necessary security processes to facilitate in absentia voting, and prevention
measures against errors, fraud and other related security and integrity issues.
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In line with Principle 11 of the Code, shareholders nevertheless have the opportunity to communicate their views on
matters affecting the Company even when they are not in attendance at general meetings as shareholders are able to
appoint proxies to vote on their behalf at general meetings through proxy forms sent in advance.

The Company publishes minutes of general meetings of shareholders on its corporate website as soon as practicable after
the relevant general meeting. Such minutes will record substantial and relevant comments or queries from shareholders
relating to the agenda of the general meeting, and responses from the Board and management, which are addressed at
the annual general meeting.

Where there are items of special business to be transacted at the AGM, comprehensive explanatory notes will be sent
together with the notice of the AGM.

A shareholder who is not a “relevant intermediary” may appoint up to two proxies during his or her absence, to attend,
speak and vote on his or her behalf at general meetings. Shareholders who are “relevant intermediaries” such as banks,
capital markets services licence holders which provide custodial services for securities and the Central Provident Fund
Board (“CPF”), are allowed to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at general meetings. This will
enable indirect investors including CPF investors, to be appointed as proxies to participate at general meetings of
the Company.

At each annual general meeting, the CFO delivers a presentation on the financial performance of the Company for the
financial year under review. Directors and the Management are in attendance to address queries and concerns about the
Company. The Company’s external auditors and internal auditors also attend the AGM. Shareholders are informed of the
voting procedures and rules governing the meeting.

Shareholders also have the opportunity to communicate their views and discuss with the Board and Management
matters affecting the Company after the general meetings.

The Constitution of the Company can be accessed from the Company’s external website.

Dividend Policy

During the year, the Company revised its dividend policy of the Company (the “Revised CAO Dividend Policy”) which
sets out further guiding principles for dividend distribution by the Company (the “Guiding Principles”). The Guiding
Principles included inter alia, maintaining a consistent baseline dividend payout ratio which constitutes 30 percent of
the Company’s annual consolidated net profits attributable to shareholders.

In approving or reviewing a dividend policy or making its recommendations on the timing, amount and form of any
future dividends, the Board takes into consideration, among others:

(@ the cash balance and distributable profits of the CAO Group;

(b) current and projected capital expenditures as well as other investment plans of the CAO Group;
(c) actual and projected financial results of the CAO Group;

(d) working capital and other usual capital requirements of the CAO Group; and

(e) past dividend distribution trends of the Company and other industry players.

A summary of the CAO Dividend Policy can be accessed from the Company’s external website.
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DEALINGS IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

In line with the recommended practices on dealings in securities set out under Rule 1207(18) of the SGX-ST Listing
Manual and the Company’s “Guidelines for Dealings in Securities by Directors and Employees of China Aviation Oil
(Singapore) Corporation Ltd and its Subsidiaries” (the “Internal Guidelines”), the Company has issued a directive to
all employees and directors not to deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations and to abstain from
dealing with the Company’s securities for a period commencing two (2) weeks before the announcement of the results
of the first half of the financial year and one (1) month before the announcement of the full year results and ending on the
date of the announcement of the relevant results.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Shareholders have approved the renewal of the general mandate for interested person transactions of the CAO Group
on 25 April 2024 (the “IPT Mandate”). The IPT Mandate sets out the levels and procedures to obtain approval for
such transactions. Information regarding the IPT Mandate is available on the Company’s website at www.caosco.com.
All business units are required to be familiar with the IPT Mandate and report any such transactions to the Legal
& Compliance Department. The Legal & Compliance Department keeps a register of the CAO Group’s interested
person transactions.

Information on interested person transactions for the financial year 2024 is found under “Supplementary Information”
on page 182.

REVIEW OF SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROLS

As part of the Company’s ongoing process of ensuring effectiveness of its system of internal controls, the established
system of internal controls of the Company would be subject to annual review by an independent external reviewer with
appropriate experience in corporate governance and risk management processes.

A review of the Company’s system of internal controls (the “Review of System of Internal Controls”) was conducted
for the financial year 2024 by PWC. In the Report, PwC made the following observations and concluded that CAO had
established an adequate system of internal controls in terms of its processes, people and system:

. Formal policies and procedures have been established for the key business processes reviewed. The design of
the internal controls of CAO and its subsidiaries is generally adequate, and the audit findings primarily relate to
improvements in internal controls to enhance effectiveness.

. Management embraces a corporate culture that values internal controls and compliance with regulatory requirement
and company policies. Corrective actions are taken promptly to address the issues identified in the previous audits
to minimise the recurrence of similar issues.

. Key risks and compliance-related matters are closely monitored by the Risk Management Department and the
Legal and Compliance Department respectively, on a daily basis. Significant risk and compliance-related matters
are also reported to the Board and the relevant Board Committees.

e  CAO continues to leverage its existing information technology systems, such as OA system and the real-time
large-screen hedging business platform system, to maintain adequate and effective internal controls across various
business operations.


http://www.caosco.com
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APPENDIX

()

Charter of Lead Independent Director

The Company shall have a Lead Independent Director who shall be an independent director as defined under the
2018 Code.

Purpose

In circumstances where the Chairman of the Board of Directors is not independent, the Board of Directors of the
Company considers it to be useful and appropriate to designate a Lead Independent Director to coordinate the
activities of the independent directors of the Company and performing such other duties and responsibilities as the
Board may determine from time to time.

Duties and Responsibilities

In addition to the duties of Board members as set forth in the 2018 Code, the specific duties and responsibilities of
the Lead Independent Director shall be as follows:

Act as the principal liaison between the Independent Directors of the Company and the Chairman of the
Board, and between the Independent Directors of the Company and senior management.

Has the authority to convene meetings, as appropriate, among the Independent Directors of the Company
and to ensure that Independent Directors have adequate opportunities to meet and discuss issues in sessions
of the Independent Directors without the presence or participation of management.

Preside at any meetings held among the Independent Directors of the Company.

Review the quality, quantity and timeliness of the information submitted to the Board and Board Committees.
Advise and assist the Chairman on the meeting agenda items.

Advise the Chairman and facilitate Board’s approval of the number and frequency of meetings of the Board
and Board Committees (including any special meetings of the Board) as well as meeting schedules to ensure
that there is sufficient time for discussion of all agenda items.

Has authority to initiate actions, for and on behalf of the Independent Directors of the Company, to address
any concerns on corporate compliance matters including the engaging of external advisers and consultants,
even at the displeasure of the Management or majority shareholders of the Company.

Respond directly to the shareholders of the Company, questions and comments that are directed to the Lead
Independent Director or to the Independent Directors of the Company as a group, with such consultation with
the Chairman of the Board and the other Non-Independent Directors, as the Lead Independent Director may
deem appropriate.
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The Directors are pleased to submit their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements of
China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024.

1. OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS

In our opinion:

(@ the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company together with the notes thereon are properly drawn up so as to give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2024, and of the
consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group
and of the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended on that date in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International); and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

2. DIRECTORS

The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Shi Yanliang Executive Chairman

Teo Ser Luck Lead Independent Director

Lin Yi Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director
Zhang Yuchen

Shi Lei

Hee Theng Fong

Fu Xingran

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong

Richard Yang Minghui

3. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors who held office at the end of the financial
year had interests in shares or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations either at the beginning or at
the end of the financial year.

None of the directors who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares and debentures of the
Company, or of related corporations between the end of the financial year and 21 January 2025.

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose
objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

At the date of this statement, the members of the Audit Committee are:

Teo Ser Luck (Chairman), non-executive, independent director

Zhang Yuchen (Vice-Chairman), non-executive, non-independent director
Hee Theng Fong, non-executive, independent director

Fu Xingran, non-executive, independent director

Richard Yang Minghui, non-executive, non-independent director

The Audit Committee performed its functions specified in Section 201B(5) of the Companies Act 1967, the SGX
Listing Manual, the 2018 Code of Corporate Governance and the Corporate Governance Policy of the Company.

As at the date of this statement, the Audit Committee had held two meetings since the last Annual General Meeting
(“AGM”) of the Company. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with the Company’s external and
internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their examination and evaluation of the Company’s
internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed inter alia, the following:

assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external auditors;

half-yearly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company and the
integrity of financial reporting of the Group and the Company (including the accounting policies) prior to their
submission to the directors of the Company for approval;

audit scopes, plans and reports of the internal auditors to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the
significant internal controls of the Group and the Company (to address financial, operational, compliance,
information technology controls risks) and risk management systems (including where relevant and as far as
can be assessed, sanctions-related risk);

audit scopes, plans and reports (including Key Audit Matters) of the external auditors to ensure adequacy of
audit of the statutory financial statements of the Group and the Company and the effectiveness, independence
and objectivity of the external auditors as well as the level of audit and non-audit fees.

interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its
functions. It has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings.
The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Statement of Corporate Governance.
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5. INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

BDO LLP has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment as the independent auditors of the Company.

In appointing the auditors for the Company, subsidiaries and significant associates, we have complied with Rules 712
and 715 of the SGX Listing Manual.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Teo Ser Luck LinYi
Lead Independent Director Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director

28 March 2025
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To the Members of China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of China
Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 113 to
181, which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position of
the Group and the statement of financial position of
the Company as at 31 December 2024;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity, and
consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group
and statement of changes in equity of the Company
for the financial year then ended; and

e notes to the financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

Basis for Opinion

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of the Group, the statement of financial
position and statement of changes in equity of the
Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International)
(“SFRS(l)s”) so as to give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group and the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance,
consolidated changes in equity, consolidated cash flows
of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for
the financial year ended on that date.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority
(“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (*“ACRA Code”)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other matters

The financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by
another firm of auditors who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 March 2024.
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To the Members of China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTER
1. Revenue Recognition

The Group’s primary sources of revenue include the
sale of physical commodity products and trading of oil
commodity derivatives. Revenue from the sale of physical
oil commodity products is recognised once control of the
goods has been transferred to the customer. Derivatives
are recorded initially at fair value on the date the derivative
contracts are established and are subsequently revalued
to their fair value at each reporting date.

Recognition of revenue has been identified as a key audit
matter primarily due to:

e the timing of recognition for trades with deliveries
occurring on or around year-end because of the
extent of the Group’s distribution network and
varying shipping terms with customers; and

. risk of potential deliberate misstatement of the
Group’s trading positions by failing to report the
trades entered or failing to record the trades
accurately or timely.

Refer to Note 3.9 and 20 of the accompanying financial
statements.

AUDIT RESPONSE

Our procedures included, amongst others, the following:

o Examined the Group’s revenue recognition policies
to verify compliance with SFRS() 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers;

. Reviewed revenue cycle, assessed the design and
implementation of controls, identified key controls
and tested the operating effectiveness of such
controls;

. Performed test of details, on a sample basis
to determine that revenue are recognised in
accordance with the relevant shipping terms;

. Performed a cut-off test on the sampled revenue for
deliveries occurring on or around year-end to verify
recordings are under the shipping terms;

. Obtained third-party confirmations on a sample
basis to confirm the accuracy and completeness of
derivatives as at year-end;

o Performed analytical review using data analytics
tools to identify unusual trends and investigate
reasons; and

. Assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures
made in the financial statements.

2. Valuation of Derivatives, Open Physical Contracts and Trading Inventories

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded derivatives
assets, derivatives liabilities (including open physical
contracts) and trading inventories of approximately
US$13,419,000, US$20,531,000 and US$27,546,000
respectively.

The valuation of derivatives (including open physical
contracts) and trading inventories has been identified
as a risk primarily because valuation requires significant
management judgment in applying the appropriate
assumptions and inputs used in the valuation, including
the use of an appropriate price index.

Refer to Notes 10, 11, 16 and 28 of the accompanying
financial statements.

Our procedures included, amongst others, the following:

. Reviewed management process relating to valuation
of derivatives (including open physical contracts)
and trading inventories by identifying key controls,
evaluating, assessing the design and implementation
of controls;

e  Tested on a sample basis, valuation of derivatives
(including open physical contracts) and trading
inventories by evaluating the appropriateness of the
assumptions and inputs used in the valuation;

o Obtained third-party confirmations to determine the
completeness of the derivatives; and

. Assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures
made in the financial statements.



111

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(l)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation
of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Director’s responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept
in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ng Kian Hui.

BDO LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

28 March 2025
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As at 31 December 2024

Group Company
Note 2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 14,187 15,271 12,355 13,400
Right-of-use assets 5 2,887 5,772 273 3,761
Intangible assets 6 5,768 6,778 145 98
Subsidiaries 7 - - 36,928 35,611
Associates 8 264,273 253,149 264,273 253,149
Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income 9 5,500 5,500 - -
Deferred tax asset 15 720 — — —
293,335 286,470 313,974 306,019
Current assets
Inventories 10 70,968 88,265 16,713 886
Trade and other receivables 11 1,127,067 1,039,739 1,049,695 1,031,465
Cash and cash equivalents 12 500,329 373,040 483,347 359,281
1,698,364 1,501,044 1,549,755 1,391,632
Total assets 1,991,699 1,787,514 1,863,729 1,697,651
Equity and liabilities
Capital, reserves and non-controlling
interests
Share capital 13 215,573 215,573 215,573 215,573
Reserves 14 770,697 732,827 742,467 707,459
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 986,270 948,400 958,040 923,032
Non-controlling interests 3,678 3,947 — -
Total equity 989,948 952,347 958,040 923,032
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 18 1,678 734 51 3
Deferred tax liabilities 15 9,201 7,952 9,201 7,952
10,879 8,686 9,252 7,955
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 981,043 813,620 893,005 759,778
Contract liabilities 17 4,162 3,619 - -
Lease liabilities 18 1,644 5,559 226 3,844
Current tax liabilities 4,023 3,683 3,206 3,042
990,872 826,481 896,437 766,664
Total liabilities 1,001,751 835,167 905,689 774,619
Total equity and liabilities 1,991,699 1,787,514 1,863,729 1,697,651

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LLOSS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 20 15,518,512 14,429,573
Cost of sales (15,476,647) (14,378,975)
Gross profit 41,865 50,598
Other income 21 17,350 18,716
Administrative expenses (17,196) (16,658)
Other operating expenses (1,045) (15,148)
Loss allowance for trade receivables (261) (1,161)
Results from operating activities 40,713 36,347
Finance costs 22 (858) (736)
Share of profit of associates (net of tax) 8 45,894 30,318
Profit before tax 85,749 65,929
Tax expense 23 (7,661) (7,556)
Profit for the financial year 21 78,088 58,373

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 78,357 58,856
Non-controlling interests (269) (483)
78,088 58,373

Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share (cents) 24 9.11 6.84
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 24 9.11 6.84

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



115
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
Profit for the financial year 78,088 58,373
Other comprehensive loss
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Translation differences relating to financial statements of foreign associates (8,559) (3,126)
Other comprehensive loss for the financial year, net of tax (8,559) (8,126)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 69,529 55,247
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 69,798 55,730
Non-controlling interests (269) (483)
69,529 55,247

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Total
Foreign attributable
currency Reserve to owners Non-
Share translation Statutory for own Accumulated of the controlling Total
Note capital reserve reserves shares profits Company interests equity
US$’000 US$000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$000
GROUP
At 1 January 2024 215,573 (8,741) 37,220 (5,482) 709,830 948,400 3,947 952,347
Total comprehensive
income for the
financial year:
Profit for the financial
year - - - - 78,357 78,357 (269) 78,088
Other comprehensive
loss:
Items that are or
may be reclassified
subsequently to profit
or loss:
Translation differences
relating to financial
statements of foreign
associates — (8,559) — — — (8,559) - (8,559)
- (8,559) - - 78,357 69,798 (269) 69,529
Contributions by and
distributions to
owners:
Share of associates’
accumulated profits
transferred to
statutory reserve 14 - - 49 - (49) - - -
Dividends to equity
holders 14 - - - - (31,928) (31,928) - (31,928)
Total transactions with
owners - - 49 - (81,977) (81,928) - (31,928)
At 31 December 2024 215,573 (17,300) 37,269 (5,482) 756,210 986,270 3,678 989,948

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Total
Foreign attributable
currency Reserve to owners Non-
Share translation Statutory for own Accumulated of the controlling Total
Note capital reserve reserves shares profits Company interests equity
US$’000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
GROUP
At 1 January 2023 215,573 (5,615) 37,203 (5,482) 661,299 902,978 4,430 907,408
Total comprehensive
income for the
financial year:
Profit for the financial
year - - - - 58,856 58,856 (483) 58,373
Other comprehensive
loss:
Items that are or
may be reclassified
subsequently to profit
or loss:
Translation differences
relating to financial
statements of foreign
associates — (3,126) - — — (3,126) - (3,126)
- (8,126) - - 58,856 55,730 (483) 55,247
Contributions by and
distributions to
owners:
Share of associates’
accumulated profits
transferred to
statutory reserve 14 - - 17 - (17) - - -
Dividends to equity
holders 14 - - - - (10,308) (10,308) - (10,308)
Total transactions with
owners - - 17 - (10,325) (10,308) - (10,308)
At 31 December 2023 215,573 (8,741) 37,220 (5,482) 709,830 948,400 3,947 952,347

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Foreign
currency Reserve
Share translation Statutory for own Accumulated Total
Note capital reserve reserves shares profits equity
US$’000 US$000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
COMPANY
At 1 January 2024 215,573 (8,741) 37,220 (5,482) 684,462 923,032
Total comprehensive income for the
financial year:
Profit for the financial year - - - - 75,495 75,495
Other comprehensive loss:
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Translation differences relating to financial
statements of foreign associates - (8,559) - - - (8,559)
- (8,559) - - 75,495 66,936
Contributions by and distributions to owners:
Share of associates’ accumulated profits transferred
to statutory reserve 14 - - 49 - (49) -
Dividends to equity holders 14 - - - - (81,928) (31,928)
Total transactions with owners - - 49 - (81,977) (31,928)
At 31 December 2024 215,573 (17,300) 37,269 (5,482) 727,980 958,040
At 1 January 2023 215,573 (5,615) 37,203 (5,482) 647,615 889,294
Total comprehensive income for the
financial year:
Profit for the financial year - - - - 47172 47,172
Other comprehensive loss:
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Translation differences relating to financial
statements of foreign associates - (3,126) - - - (3,126)
- (8,126) - - 47,172 44,046
Contributions by and distributions to owners:
Share of associates’ accumulated profits transferred
to statutory reserve 14 - - 17 - (17) -
Dividends to equity holders 14 - - - - (10,308)  (10,308)
Total transactions with owners - - 17 - (10,325)  (10,308)
At 31 December 2023 215,573 (8,741) 37,220 (5,482) 684,462 923,032

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLLOWS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the financial year 78,088 58,373
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 1,872 1,474
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5 5,889 5,976
Amortisation of intangible assets 6 1,117 1,124
Impairment of goodwill 6 - 3,375
Property, plant and equipment written off 20 2
Gain on right-of-use asset written off (8) (74)
Loss allowance for trade receivables 11 261 1,161
Allowance for impairment loss on investment in associate 8 - 8,654
Fair value gain on derivative instruments 7,932 4,572)
Share of profit of associates (net of tax) 8 (45,894) (80,318)
Tax expense 23 7,661 7,556
Interest income 21 (16,968) (17,742)
Interest expense 22 128 2
Dividend income from financial asset at FVTOCI (76) (482)
Lease interest expense 22 319 289
Unrealised exchange differences 369 (604)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 40,710 34,194
Change in inventories 17,297 93,824
Change in trade and other receivables (87,157) (850,622)
Change in trade and other payables 156,579 281,674
Cash from operations 127,429 59,070
Tax paid (6,070) (4,512)
Net cash from operating activities 121,359 54,558
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 20,591 14,019
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (808) (11,483)
Acquisition of intangible assets (107) (76)
Additional investment in an associate (164) -
Dividend income from financial asset at FVTOCI 74 482
Dividends from associates (net of withholding tax paid) 25,057 23,313
Net cash from investing activities 44,643 26,255
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (128) )
Interest paid on lease liabilities (319 (289)
Repayment of lease liabilities (5,969) (5,973)
Proceeds from borrowings 78,901 8,991
Repayment of borrowings (78,901) (8,991)
Dividends paid (31,928) (10,308)
Net cash used in financing activities (38,344) (16,572)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 127,658 64,241
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 373,040 308,195
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (369) 604
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12 500,329 373,040

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.

1. DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the Republic of
Singapore. The address of the Company'’s registered office, which is also its principal place of business is 8 Temasek
Boulevard, #31-02 Suntec Tower Three, Singapore 038988.

The financial statements of the Group as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”) and the
Group’s interest in equity-accounted investees.

The principal activities of the Group are those relating to trading and supply of jet fuel and trading of other petroleum
products, and investment holding.

The immediate and ultimate holding company during the financial year is China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited
(“CNAF”), a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS()s”).

2.2 Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in
the notes below.

Where an accounting policy information is not disclosed in the financial statements, it is considered as not
material and mainly standardised accounting requirements. The accounting policy information that are material
and necessary for the understanding of the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 and the relevant notes
to the financial statements.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(l) 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in SFRS(I) 1-2 Inventories or value in use in
SFRS(l) 1-36 Impairment of Assets.
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CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STARATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

2.2

2.3

24

25

Basis of accounting (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Adoption of new and revised standards

On 1 January 2024, the Group and the Company adopted all the revised SFRS(l) pronouncements that are
relevant to its operations. The adoption of these revised SFRS(I) pronouncements does not result in changes
to the Group’s and the Company'’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the disclosures or on the
amounts reported for the current or prior years.

New and revised SFRS(l) in issue but not yet effective

There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations that are effective in future
accounting periods and the Group has not decided to early adopt. The Group does not expect any of these
standards upon adoption will have a material impact to the Group, except as follows:

The SFRS(l) 18 replaces SFRS(l) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements and provides guidance on presentation
and disclosure in financial statements, focus on the statement of profit or loss.

SFRS(l) 18 introduces:
. New structure on statement of profit or loss with defined subtotals;

. Disclosure related to management-defined performance measures (MPMs), which are measures of
financial performance based on a total or sub-total required by accounting standards with adjustments
made (e.g. ‘adjusted profit or loss’). A reconciliation of MPMs to the nearest total or subtotal calculated
in accordance with accounting standards; and

. Enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation of financial information which apply to the
primary financial statements and notes in general.

SFRS() 18 will take effect on 1 January 2027 and management anticipates that the new requirements wiill
change the current presentation and disclosure in the financial statements. An impact assessment regarding
the adoption of SFRS(I) 18 is still underway and has not yet been completed.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in United States (“US”) dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. All financial information presented in US dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
2.6 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SFRS()) requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and information about assumptions and estimation
uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are
disclosed in Note 28.

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

3.1 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

o has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient
to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee
are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

. potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
. rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the financial year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases
to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STARATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
the members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. Those interests
of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is
made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group and the Company has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
and the Company’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. WWhen the
Group’s and the Company’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s and the Company’s interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s and the
Company'’s net investment in the associate), the Group and the Company discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group and the Company has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s and the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s and the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Associates (Continued)

The requirements of SFRS(I) 1-36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwiill) is tested for impairment in accordance with SFRS(l) 1-36 Impairment of Assets
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell)
with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with SFRS(l) 1-36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group and the Company reduce its ownership interest in an associate but the Group and the
Company continue to use the equity method, the Group and the Company reclassify to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Foreign currency

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated
financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are presented in
United States dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end
of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are
included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.
For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations (including comparatives) are expressed in United States dollars using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity
under the header of foreign currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4

3.5

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

ltems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready
for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold properties 25 years
Motor vehicles 8 to 10 years
Furniture and fittings 4 to 8 years
Equipment 4 to 8 years
Renovations 5 years
Computers 4 to 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
and adjusted if appropriate.

Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.

Subsequent measurement

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted investees,
the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss
on such an investment is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the equity-accounted investees.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.5

3.6

Intangible assets (Continued)
Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value. Amortisation is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill,
from the date that they are available for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Software 3 years
Customer contracts 1 year
Concession operating rights 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
adjusted if appropriate.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of financial assets is under a contract whose terms require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by the market concerned.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

Despite the aforegoing, the Group irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.6 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification of financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised
cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other
hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting
for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “other income” line item.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument that is neither held for trading.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments;
instead, they will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of
the investment.
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3.6 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade receivables, other receivables,
trade amounts due from related corporations, subsidiaries and associates and financial guarantee contracts.
No impairment loss is recognised for investments in equity instruments. The amount of expected credit losses
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables, trade amounts due from related
corporations, subsidiaries and associates, and contract assets. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a simplified approach based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual
default occurring.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in
which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports and financial analysts, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group’s core operations, namely the commodities market in jet fuel and petroleum products.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.6 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length
of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e anactual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
e  significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

e anactual orexpected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment
of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments from outside parties
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if () the financial instrument has
a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3.6 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.

. when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying
amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which the simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.
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3.6 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a Group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition
or when the continuing involvement approach applies, financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-
for-trading, or (3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a Group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not
designated as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at
the higher of:

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with SFRS(l) 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,
is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.6

3.7

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value as at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which
event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Offsetting arrangements

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when the Company and the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts;
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. A right
to set-off must be available today rather than being contingent on a future event and must be exercisable
by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy.

Impairment
Associates

An impairment loss in respect of an associate is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the
investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets,
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, and intangible assets that
have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year
at the same time. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-
generating unit (“CGU”") exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped
together into the smallest Group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the
purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that
the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for
internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to Groups of CGUs that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amounts of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (Group of CGUs), and then
to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (Group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased
or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3.7

3.8

3.9

Impairment (Continued)
Non-financial assets (Continued)

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognised separately,
and therefore is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an
associate is tested for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an
associate may be impaired.

Inventories
Inventories held for trading purposes are measured at fair value less costs to sell and any changes in fair value

less costs to sell are recognised in profit or loss in the period of change.

Inventories held by subsidiaries and associates, for sale to customers, are measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of physical oil commodity products including middle distillates
and other oil products.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a
product to a customer.

Sale of physical commodity products

For sale of physical oil commodity products, revenue is recognised when control of the goods is transferred
to the customer, being when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s specific location (delivery).
Following delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods,
has the primary responsibility when onselling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in
relation to the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer
as this represents the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, customers do not have a right of return.

Trading of oil commodiity derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value as at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss immediately under revenue.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

3.10 Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS
is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.
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3.11 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s
CEOQ (the chief operating decision maker) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment
and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets
(primarily the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment,
and intangible assets other than goodwill.

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
Leasehold Motor and
properties vehicles fittings Equipment Renovations Computers Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$’000 US$'000 US$’000

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2024 19,898 2,849 448 733 1,382 1,393 26,703
Additions - 64 62 28 550 104 808
Written off - (34) (48) (13) (87) (121) (303)
At 31 December 2024 19,898 2,879 462 748 1,845 1,376 27,208
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2024 7,429 1,087 219 599 1,115 983 11,432
Depreciation for the financial year 855 659 65 62 92 139 1,872
Written off - (33) (42) (11) (82) (115) (283)
At 31 December 2024 8,284 1,713 242 650 1,125 1,007 13,021
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024 11,614 1,166 220 98 720 369 14,187
Cost
At 1 January 2023 9,205 2,445 445 725 1,192 1,242 15,254
Additions 10,693 404 13 8 190 175 11,483
Written off - - (10) - - (24) (34)
At 31 December 2023 19,898 2,849 448 733 1,382 1,393 26,703
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 6,879 462 164 525 1,093 867 9,990
Depreciation for the financial year 550 625 64 74 22 139 1,474
Written off - - 9) - - (23) (32)
At 31 December 2023 7,429 1,087 219 599 1,115 983 11,432

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023 12,469 1,762 229 134 267 410 15,271
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Furniture
Leasehold Motor and
properties vehicles fittings Equipment Renovations Computers Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Company
Cost
At 1 January 2024 19,898 236 297 505 1,296 1,168 23,400
Additions - - - - - 42 42
At 31 December 2024 19,898 236 297 505 1,296 1,210 23,442
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2024 7,429 120 119 480 1,033 819 10,000
Depreciation for the financial year 855 28 53 - 37 114 1,087
At 31 December 2024 8,284 148 172 480 1,070 933 11,087
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024 11,614 88 125 25 226 277 12,355
Cost
At 1 January 2023 9,205 236 297 505 1,106 1,015 12,364
Additions 10,693 - - — 190 153 11,036
At 31 December 2023 19,898 236 297 505 1,296 1,168 23,400
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 6,879 91 64 470 1,012 708 9,224
Depreciation for the financial year 550 29 55 10 21 111 776
At 31 December 2023 7,429 120 119 480 1,033 819 10,000
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023 12,469 116 178 25 263 349 13,400

The followings are properties held by the Group and Company:

Description/ Land area/Built-up area Leasehold

Location Uses of property (square meters) term

8 Temasek Boulevard Office 324 99 years from

#31-01 Suntec Tower Three 1 March 1989
Singapore 038988

8 Temasek Boulevard Office 440 99 years from

#31-02 Suntec Tower Three 1 March 1989
Singapore 038988

8 Temasek Boulevard Office 377 99 years from

#31-03 Suntec Tower Three 1 March 1989
Singapore 038988

The unit at #31-03 Suntec Tower Three was acquired in 2023.
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5. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group leases several assets including storage facilities, apartments for expatriates, office spaces, equipment and

airport franchise. The average lease term is 2 to 5 years.

Storage Office Airport

facilities Property spaces franchise Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
Cost
At 1 January 2024 8,375 321 1,876 1,771 12,343
Additions - 50 2,993 - 3,043
Reassessment (55) - - - (55)
Written off (5,605) (250) (1,703) - (7,558)
At 31 December 2024 2,715 121 3,166 1,771 7,773
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2024 3,770 164 1,772 865 6,571
Depreciation for the financial year 4,452 152 713 572 5,889
Reassessment (66) - - - (66)
Written off (5,605) (200) (1,703) - (7,508)
At 31 December 2024 2,551 116 782 1,437 4,886
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024 164 5 2,384 334 2,887
Cost
At 1 January 2023 40,806 552 4,453 1,657 47,468
Additions 5,778 121 - - 5,899
Reassessment - - - 114 114
Written off (38,209) (852) (2,577) - (41,138)
At 31 December 2023 8,375 321 1,876 1,771 12,343
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 31,756 335 3,101 305 35,497
Depreciation for the financial year 4,484 182 750 560 5,976
Written off (82,470) (353) (2,079) - (34,902)
At 31 December 2023 3,770 164 1,772 865 6,571
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023 4,605 157 104 906 5,772
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Storage Office

facilities Property spaces Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Company
Cost
At 1 January 2024 5,778 233 977 6,988
Additions - - 402 402
Reassessment (173) - - (173)
Written off (5,605) (112) 977) (6,694)
At 31 December 2024 — 121 402 523
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2024 2,183 116 928 3,227
Depreciation for the financial year 3,422 112 183 3,717
Written off (5,605) (112) 977) (6,694)
At 31 December 2024 - 116 134 250
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024 — 5 268 273
Cost
At 1 January 2023 38,209 464 2,942 41,615
Additions 5,778 121 - 5,899
Written off (38,209) (852) (1,965) (40,526)
At 31 December 2023 5,778 233 977 6,988
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 31,034 331 1,951 33,316
Depreciation for the financial year 3,619 138 445 4,202
Written off (82,470) (353) (1,468) (34,291)
At 31 December 2023 2,183 116 928 3,227
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023 3,595 117 49 3,761
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6.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Concession

Goodwill on Customer operating
consolidation contracts rights Software Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2024 4,289 634 8,353 4,049 17,325
Additions - - - 107 107
At 31 December 2024 4,289 634 8,353 4,156 17,432
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2024 - - 1,673 3,951 5,624
Amortisation for the financial year — — 1,057 60 1,117
At 31 December 2024 - - 2,730 4,011 6,741
Impairment
At 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 4,289 634 - - 4,923
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024 — — 5,623 145 5,768
Cost
At 1 January 2023 4,289 634 8,353 3,973 17,249
Additions - - - 76 76
At 31 December 2023 4,289 634 8,353 4,049 17,325
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2023 - - 616 3,884 4,500
Amortisation for the financial year — - 1,057 67 1,124
At 31 December 2023 - - 1,673 3,951 5,624
Impairment
At 1 January 2023 914 634 - - 1,548
Charged for the financial year 3,375 - — — 3,375
At 31 December 2023 4,289 634 - - 4,923
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023 — — 6,680 98 6,778
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on its value-in-use, determined by discounting the pre-tax future cash flows to be generated from the continuing
use of the CGUs.

Key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use were as follows:

2023
CNAF Hong China Aviation
Kong Refuelling Oil (Hong Kong)
Limited Company Limited

(“CNAF HKR”) (“CAOHK?”)
% %
Discount rate 11 8
Long-term growth rate N/A 1
Forecasted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA”) growth rate based on average of
next 5 to 18 years 8 1

The discount rate used was estimated based on past experience and industry weighted average cost of capital.

The long-term growth rate was determined based on the long-term compound annual growth rate estimated by
management with reference to the nominal GDP growth rate for the countries in which the CGU is based.

The forecasted EBITDA growth rates were estimated based on management’s past experience of managing the
CGUs and their expectations of the CGUs forecasted performances.

In relation to the determination of the recoverable amount of the CNAF HKR CGU, management determines that
key assumptions relate to discount rates and long term revenue growth rates. An increase or decrease of discount
rate of 1% will result in a decrease or increase in recoverable amount of US$510,000 or US$570,000 respectively.
An increase or decrease in the long-term growth rate had no impact on the recoverable amount for 2023.

The goodwill arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries had been fully impaired in the previous financial year.
Software

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Company

Cost

At 1 January 4,049 3,973
Additions 107 76
At 31 December 4,156 4,049

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 3,951 3,884
Amortisation for the financial year 60 67
At 31 December 4,011 3,951

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 145 98
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7.

SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
Cost of investments 78,996 76,637
Accumulated impairment (42,068) (41,026)
36,928 35,611
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:
Company
Proportion

of ownership
interest and voting

Country of Principal rights held
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity 2024 2023
% %
China Aviation Oil (Hong Kong) Company Limited Hong Kong SAR  Supply of jet fuel 100 100
(“CAOHK")M )
North American Fuel Corporation (“NAFCQO”)@®  United States of ~ Trading and 100 100
America supply of jet fuel
China Aviation Fuel (Europe) Limited United Kingdom  Trading and 100 100
(“CAFEU")®® supply of jet fuel
CNAF Hong Kong Refuelling Limited Hong Kong SAR  Into-plane fuelling 68 68
(“CNAF HKR")™ @) service

Audited by BDO Limited, for statutory audit purposes

Audited by Hu and Company Accountancy Corporation, for statutory audit purposes
Audited by Fuller & Roper Limited, for statutory audit purposes

Audited by BDO LLP, Singapore, for consolidation purposes

E & ® =2

The Company issued financial guarantees to banks and trading counterparties on behalf of its subsidiaries. The fair
value of the financial guarantees issued during the year amounted to US$2,359,000 (2023: US$1,732,000) and is
accounted for as additional investment in the subsidiaries. The carrying amount of the financial guarantees at the
end of the financial year amounted to US$42,347,000 (2023: US$39,988,000).

The financial guarantees were given by the Company to the banks on behalf of its subsidiaries for banking facilities
amounting to US$78,600,000 (2023: US$78,600,000). It is a continuing financial guarantee issued to the banks.

The financial guarantees amounting to US$439,100,000 (2023: US$368,700,000) were given by the Company
to trading counterparties on behalf of its subsidiaries for credit terms extended by the trading counterparties to
the subsidiaries.

At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company
under these guarantees.

During the financial year, the Company carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its investment in
subsidiaries. The review led to the recognition of an impairment loss of US$1,042,000 (2023: US$1,042,000) that
has been recognised in profit or loss of the Company. The Company estimated the fair value less cost of disposal
were assessed to be the subsidiaries adjusted net asset. This fair value measurement is categorised as a Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used.
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8. ASSOCIATES

Group and Company
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Investments in associates 264,273 253,149
Country of Ownership

Name of associate incorporation 2024 2023

% %

Shanghai Pudong International Airport Aviation Fuel Supply

Company Ltd (“SPIA™)® PRC 33 33
Shenzhen Zhenghe Petrochemicals Co., Ltd (“Zhenghe”)? PRC 40 39
QOilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd. (“OKYC")@ Republic of Korea 26 26

China National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline Transportation
Corp Ltd (“TSN-PEKCL”")®@ PRC 49 49

M Audited by Wuyige Certified Public Accountants LLP Shanghai Free Trade Zone Branch Office, a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
for statutory audit purpose.

Audited by an overseas member firm of BDO network in the People’s Republic of China for consolidation purpose.
@ Not considered a significant component under Rule 718 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual.

The Company had on 28 June 2024 acquired 1% of the total equity interest of Zhenghe from its parent company,
China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited for a total cash consideration of US$164,435. With the acquisition,
the Company owns 40% of the total equity interest in Zhenghe.

Movement of impairment on investment in associate:
Group and Company

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

At beginning of financial year 8,654 -
Charge during the financial year - 8,654
At end of financial year 8,654 8,654

The recoverable amount of National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline Transportation Corporation Ltd (“TSN-PEKCL”)
was determined based on its value-in-use, determined by discounting the pre-tax future cash flows to be generated
from the continuing use of TSN-PEKCL. In the current year, management assessed that the carrying amount of the
TSN-PEKCL was determined to be approximate its recoverable amount.
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8.

ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use were as follows:

TSN-PEKCL
2024 2023
% %
Discount rate® 12 12
Long-term growth rate® 2 2
Revenue growth rate® 4 7

" The discount rate used is estimated based on past experience and industry weighted average cost of capital.

@ The long-term growth rate has been determined based on the long-term compound annual growth rate estimated by management with reference to the
country’s inflation rate for the country in which TSN-PEKCL is based.

©  The revenue growth rates are estimated based on management’s past experience of managing TSN-PEKCL and their expectations of TSN-PEKCL's
forecasted performance.

Management determines that key assumptions relate to discount rates, long-term growth rates and revenue
growth rates. A change of the respective variables will result in:

Increase/(Decrease) in recoverable amount
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Increase or decrease in discount rate by 1% (757) 939 (981) 1,215
Increase or decrease in long-term growth rate by 1% 456 (870) 582 472)
Increase or decrease in revenue growth rate by 1% 2,524 (2,334) 5,892 (5,504)

The Group has one (2023: one) associate that is material and three (2023: three) other associates that are individually
immaterial to the Group. All are equity accounted. Details of the material associate of the Group and the Company
are as follows:

Shanghai Pudong International Airport
Aviation Fuel Supply Company Ltd (“SPIA”)

Nature of business Exclusive supplier of jet fuel at Shanghai Pudong
International Airport

Principal place of business/Country of incorporation PRC
Ownership interest/Voting rights held 33% (2023: 33%)
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8. ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following summarises the financial information of the Group’s material associate based on its respective financial
statements prepared in accordance with SFRS(l), modified for fair value adjustments on acquisition and differences
in the Group’s accounting policies. The table also analyses, in aggregate, the carrying amount and share of profit
and other comprehensive income of the remaining individually immaterial associates.

Immaterial
SPIA associates Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2024
Revenue 3,556,610 57,831 3,614,441

Profit for the financial year, representing total

comprehensive income 134,768 6,793 141,561
Non-current assets 40,763 291,971 332,734
Current assets 694,713 57,127 751,840
Non-current liabilities - (90,657) (90,657)
Current liabilities (203,895) (59,273) (263,168)
Net assets 531,581 199,168 730,749

Group’s interest in net assets of investee at

beginning of the financial year 159,380 67,328 226,708
Additional investment - 164 164
Group’s fair value adjustment at beginning of

the financial year - 4,733 4,733
Group’s share of total comprehensive income 44,473 1,421 45,894

Group’s share of profit for the financial year 44,473 1,895 46,368

Group’s share of fair value adjustment — 474) 474)
Dividend declared during the financial year (26,376) - (26,376)
Group’s share of translation differences for

the financial year (2,556) (6,003) (8,559)
Goodwill 21,709 - 21,709
Carrying amount of interest in investee at end of

the financial year 196,630 67,643 264,273

Carrying amount of fair value adjustment at end of
the financial year — 4,259 4,259
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8. ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Immaterial
SPIA associates Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2023
Revenue 2,955,976 51,498 3,007,474
Profit for the financial year, representing total

comprehensive income 100,885 871 101,756
Non-current assets 43,850 342,444 386,294
Current assets 714,288 48,149 762,437
Non-current liabilities - (130,143) (130,143)
Current liabilities (273,653) (45,891) (319,544)
Net assets 484,485 214,559 699,044
Group’s interest in net assets of investee at beginning of

the financial year 152,188 71,251 223,439
Group’s fair value adjustment at beginning of

the financial year - 13,644 13,644
Group’s share of total comprehensive income/(loss) 31,461 (1,143) 30,318

Group’s share of profit for the financial year 31,461 98 31,559

Group’s share of fair value adjustment - (1,241) (1,241)
Dividend declared during the financial year (22,067) (3,098) (25,165)
Group’s share of translation differences for

the financial year (2,202) (924) (3,126)
Goodwill 21,709 984 22,693
Impairment on goodwill - (984) (984)
Impairment on fair value - (7,670) (7,670)
Carrying amount of interest in investee at end of

the financial year 181,089 72,060 253,149

Carrying amount of fair value adjustment at end of
the financial year — 4,733 4,733

During the financial year, dividends declared by associates amounting to US$26,376,000 (2023: US$25,165,000)
were received during the financial year.




146

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

9.

10.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Investment in equity instrument designated as at FVTOCI
— unquoted equity shares 5,500 5,500

The investment in unquoted equity instrument represents investment in a company that is incorporated in the
Netherlands which holds the concession from the Schiphol Airport Authority to manage the storage and distribution
of jet fuels on behalf of its shareholders to airlines at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol.

This investment is not held for trading. Instead, it is held for medium to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly,
management has elected to designate this investment in equity instrument as at FVTOCI as they believe that
recognising short-term fluctuations in this investment’s fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the
Group’s strategy of holding this investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance potential in the
long run.

No investment in equity instrument measured at FVTOCI has been disposed of during the current reporting period.

INVENTORIES
Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Trading inventories at fair value less costs to sell 27,546 10,445 16,713 886
Inventories at the lower of cost and
net realisable value 43,422 77,820 -

70,968 88,265 16,713 886

The inventories recognised in cost of sales amounted to US$15,373,114,000 (2023: US$14,254,352,000) for
the Group.
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables 470,564 351,429 366,329 146,368
Other receivables 36,361 49,984 21,278 31,698
Amounts due from:
— subsidiaries (trade) - - 125,327 312,121
— related corporations (trade) 422,895 435,365 304,170 304,647
— related corporations of a corporate
shareholder (trade) 74,885 37,587 74,885 36,639
— associates (trade) 39,457 117,012 39,457 117,012
— subsidiaries (non-trade) — — 112,363 83,759

537,237 589,964 656,202 854,178
1,044,162 991,377 1,043,809 1,032,244

Loss allowance trade receivables (7,484) (7,223) (6,369) (6,358)

Trade and other receivables 1,036,678 984,154 1,037,440 1,025,886
Derivative financial assets

— oil commodity derivatives 13,419 9,959 12,255 5,579

1,050,097 994,113 1,049,695 1,031,465

Prepayments 76,970 45,626 - -

1,127,067 1,039,739 1,049,695 1,031,465

Trade receivables

Transactions with subsidiaries, associates and related corporations are priced on terms agreed between parties.
Outstanding balances with subsidiaries and related corporations are unsecured.

Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
(“ECL”"). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default experience of the debtor and
an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The Group has recognised a loss allowance of 100%
against all receivables for customers that have defaulted and declared bankruptcy.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables from contracts with customers based on the Group’s
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer base.

Estimated
Expected credit total gross carrying
loss rate™ amount at default® Lifetime ECL®
Group Company Group Company Group Company
% % US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Customer ratings
31 December 2024
Grade A1 0.027 0.027 1,580 125,327 * *
Grade A2 0.096 0.096 211,390 211,390 148 131
Grade B1 0.205 0.205 266,802 201,511 465 337
Grade B2 0.369 0.369 456,392 367,439 1,713 1,498
Grade C1 1.041 1.041 13,794 - 19 -
Grade C2 1.635 1.635 34,565 12 187 -
Grade D1 3.3183 3.313 3,542 - 19 -
Grade D2 4.996 4.996 9,338 - 125 -
Grade E 15.422 15.422 2,730 102 193 16
Grade F 56.296 56.296 3,272 - 219 -
Total 1,003,405 905,781 3,088 1,982
31 December 2023
Grade A1 0.027 0.027 - 312,121 * *
Grade A2 0.096 0.096 151,935 61,271 146 59
Grade B1 0.205 0.205 143,919 57,984 279 119
Grade B2 0.369 0.369 573,216 479,682 2,030 1,771
Grade C1 1.041 1.041 13,446 - 45 -
Grade C2 1.635 1.635 40,699 1,342 161 22
Grade D1 3.313 3.3183 5,796 - 52 -
Grade D2 4,996 4,996 6,534 - 61 -
Grade E 15.422 15.422 1,372 - 42 -
Grade F 56.296 56.296 80 - 11 -
Total 936,997 912,400 2,827 1,971

Represent amount less than US$1,000

" Expected credit loss rate includes debtors without credit insurance.

@ The estimated total gross carrying amount at default and lifetime ECL have excluded the Group and the Company’s individually credit-impaired customers
of US$4,396,000 and US$4,387,000 respectively for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: US$4,396,000 and US$4,387,000
respectively).
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The table below shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables in accordance
with the simplified approach set out in SFRS()) 9:

Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Group

At beginning of financial year 2,827 1,919 4,396 4,143 7,223 6,062
Change in loss allowance 261 908 - 253 261 1,161
At end of financial year 3,088 2,827 4,396 4,396 7,484 7,223
Company

At beginning of financial year 1,971 1,271 4,387 4,134 6,358 5,405
Change in loss allowance 11 700 - 253 11 953
At end of financial year 1,982 1,971 4,387 4,387 6,369 6,358

The tables below explain how significant changes in the gross carrying amount of the trade receivables contributed
to changes in the loss allowance. Changes in the loss allowance are primarily attributable to the origination of new
trade receivables net of those settled during the reporting periods.

Increase in lifetime ECL

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired

Us$’000 Us$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 December 2024
Probable default by the customer 261 — 11 —

31 December 2023
Probable default by the customer 908 253 700 253




150

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

11.

12.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade)

For the purpose of impairment assessment, the other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) are
considered to have low credit risk as there has been no significant increase in the risk of default on the receivables
since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment assessment for these receivables, the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (“ECL”).

In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the financial position of the debtors and subsidiaries,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and subsidiaries general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate, in estimating the probability of default of the other receivables and subsidiaries as
well as the loss upon default. Management determines the other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries
(non-trade) subject to immaterial credit loss.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposures to credit risk (including loss allowance), foreign currency risk, and fair
values of derivatives are disclosed in Note 19 and 26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash at bank

Interest-bearing 61,584 54,528 49,839 43,307

Non-interest bearing 3,588 1,428 655 1,090
Interest-bearing fixed deposits with

financial institutions 435,157 317,084 432,853 314,884
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated

statement of cash flows 500,329 373,040 483,347 359,281

As at 31 December 2024, interest-bearing fixed deposits of US$435,157,000 (2023: US$317,084,000) were placed
with a related corporation, China National Aviation Fuel Finance Co., Ltd. The related corporation is a financial
institution approved by the China Banking Regulatory Commission and is based in PRC.
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12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum relating to interest-bearing deposits with financial
institutions at the reporting date are as disclosed below:

2024 2023
Interest Carrying Interest Carrying
rate amount rate amount
% US$’000 % US$’000
Group

Cash at bank 2.5 61,584 3.0 54,528
US$ fixed deposits 4.6 420,204 5.6 307,200
RMB fixed deposit 1.8 14,953 2.6 9,884
496,741 371,612

Company
Cash at bank 3.0 49,839 3.7 43,307
USS$ fixed deposits 4.6 417,900 5.6 305,000
RMB fixed deposit 1.8 14,953 2.6 9,884
482,692 358,191

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency and interest rate risks are disclosed in Note 19 and 26.

13. SHARE CAPITAL
Group and Company
2024 2023

Number Number
of shares US$ of shares Us$
(’°000) (’°000) (’000) (’000)

Fully paid ordinary shares, with no par value

In issue at 31 December 866,184 215,573 866,184 215,573

The Company’s share capital includes 6,000,000 (2023: 6,000,000) treasury shares amounting to US$5,482,000
(2023: US$5,482,000).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

All rights attached to the ordinary shares are suspended for the Company’s own shares bought back and held by
the Group. Such rights are reinstated when these shares are reissued.
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14.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Capital management

The Company defines capital as share capital and reserves. The consolidated share capital and reserves attributable
to equity owners of the Company amounted to US$986,270,000 (2023: US$948,400,000). The Board’s policy is
to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future
development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as
net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board also monitors the level of dividends declared
to ordinary shareholders.

From time to time, the Company may purchase its own shares in the market; the timing of these purchases
depends on market prices. The purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods
and services tax and other related expenses) to be paid for the shares is determined by the Directors or such
authorised personnel as appointed by the Board of Directors for the purposes of effecting purchases or acquisitions
of shares by the Company under the Share Purchase Mandate.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year. There is no
externally imposed capital requirements to the Group and Company for the financial years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

RESERVES
Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Foreign currency translation reserve (a) (17,300) (8,741) (17,300) (8,741)
Statutory reserves (b) 37,269 37,220 37,269 37,220
Reserve for own shares (c) (5,482) (5,482) (5,482) (5,482)
Accumulated profits 756,210 709,830 727,980 684,462

770,697 732,827 742,467 707,459

(@ The foreign currency translation reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from the presentation
currency of the Group and the Company.

(b) The associates of the Group (“PRC Associates”) established in PRC follow the accounting principles and
relevant financial regulations of the PRC applicable to enterprises established in PRC (“PRC GAAP”) in the
preparation of the accounting records and its financial statements. Under the relevant PRC regulations,
the PRC associates transferred a portion of their accumulated profits to statutory reserve for the
following purposes:

Statutory reserves

Pursuant to accounting regulations for foreign-invested PRC enterprises and the PRC Company Law,
the associates are required to appropriate 10% of the profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP for
each year to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived at must be used to set off against any accumulated
losses. The appropriation to statutory reserve, after offsetting against any accumulated losses, must be
made before the distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until the statutory
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not distributable in the form of
cash dividends. During the current and immediate preceding financial year, SPIA did not appropriate any
profit to the statutory reserve as the statutory reserve of SPIA has reached 50% of its registered capital.
The movement in statutory reserve in the current year is contributed by TSN-PEKCL.
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14. RESERVES (Continued)

15.

(c) The reserve for the Company’s own shares comprises the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Group.

At 31 December 2024, the Group held 6,000,000 (2023: 6,000,000) of the Company’s shares.

(d) The following (one-tier tax exempt) dividends were declared and paid by the Group and Company:

Group and Company

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
Final exempt dividends paid in respect of the previous financial year
of $$0.0271 (2023: S$0.016) per share 17,134 10,308
Special exempt dividends paid in respect of the previous financial year
of $$0.0234 (2023: S$ nil) per share 14,794 -
Total 31,928 10,308

(e) After the reporting date as at 31 December 2024, the Directors have proposed a final (one-tier tax exempt)
ordinary dividend of S$0.0372 per share amounting to US$23,519,000. The dividends have not been

provided for.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Deferred tax assets
Deductible temporary differences 720 — — —
Deferred tax liabilities
Investments in associates (9,201) (7,952) (9,201) (7,952)
Movements in temporary differences during the financial year are as follows:
At1 Recognised At 31 Recognised At 31
January in profit December in profit December
2023 or loss 2023 or loss 2024
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
Deductible temporary differences - - - 720 720
Investments in associates (7,501) (451) (7,952) (1,249) (9,201)
(7,501) (451) (7,952) (5629) (8,481)
Company
Investments in associates (7,501) (451) (7,952) (1,249) (9,201)

At the end of the reporting period, deferred tax assets associated with unrealised trade losses have been

recognised due to the certainty of the availability of future taxable profit against which the Group can utilise the
benefits therefrom.
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15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)
International Tax Reform — BEPS 2.0 Pillar Two GloBE Rules

The Group is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model rules. Pillar Two legislation was enacted in Singapore,
the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated, and will come into effect from 1 January 2025. The Group
applies the exception to recognising and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to
Pillar Two income taxes. Under the legislation, the Group is liable to pay a top-up tax for the difference between the
GloBE effective tax rate (“ETR”) for each jurisdiction and the 15% minimum rate. The Group has ETRs that exceed
15% in all jurisdictions in which it operates except for Singapore.

Based on the preliminary assessment of the potential exposure of Pillar Two income taxes in 2024, the management
viewed that the impact was not expected to be material to the financial year ending 31 December 2025. However,
the Group will continue to monitor and progress on the development of Pillar Two income taxes.

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables 908,265 319,851 837,790 241,195
Other payables and accruals 40,087 63,096 36,164 56,288
Amounts due to:
— holding company (non-trade) 10,127 10,126 - -
— subsidiary (trade) - - 223 11,861
— related corporation (trade) - 404,135 - 403,488
— related corporation of a corporate
shareholder (trade) 510 7,273 - -
— subsidiaries (non-trade) - - - 40,192
Trade and other payables 958,989 804,481 874177 753,024
Derivative financial liabilities
— oil commodity derivatives 20,531 9,139 18,828 6,754
979,520 813,620 893,005 759,778
Receipts in advance 1,523 - -

981,043 813,620 893,005 759,778

Amounts due to holding company, subsidiaries and related corporations are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposures to foreign currency, liquidity risks and fair values of derivatives are
disclosed in Note 19 and 26.
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17. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Group
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Current 4,162 3,619

Changes in contract liabilities

Group
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 3,619 4,916
Amount recognised as revenue (3,619) (4,916)
Cash received in advance of performance and not recognised as revenue 4,162 3,619
At 31 December 4,162 3,619

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the customer, being at the point the goods
are delivered to the customer. When the customer initially purchases the goods, the transaction price received
at that point by the Group is recognised as contract liability until the goods have been delivered to the customer.
The delivery of goods are expected to be fulfilled within the next 12 months.

18. LEASE LIABILITIES

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Analysed as
Non-current 1,678 734 51 3
Current 1,644 5,559 226 3,844
3,322 6,293 277 3,847
Maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on
undiscounted gross cash flows:
— Not later than a year 1,665 5,718 226 3,957
— Between one and two years 606 604 62 5
— Between two and five years 1,303 - - -
3,574 6,322 288 3,962

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regards to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored
within the Group’s finance function.
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18. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows, as cash flows from financing activities.

The cash flows represent the repayment of lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Group

2024 2023

US$’000 US$’000

1 January 6,293 12,564
Financing cash flow

— Principal (5,969) (5,973)

— Interest (319 (289)

New leases 3,043 5,899

Re-assessment (11) 114

Cancellation of leases (58) (6,309)

Interest charges 319 289

Exchange differences 24 @)

31 December 3,322 6,293

The total cash outflows for all leases including low value and short-term leases were approximate US$12,221,000
(2023: US$12,792,000).
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

Financial assets

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Amortised cost
Trade and other receivables 1,036,678 984,154 1,037,440 1,025,886
Cash and cash equivalents 500,329 373,040 483,347 359,281
1,537,007 1,357,194 1,520,787 1,385,167
Fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial assets 13,419 9,959 12,255 5,579
Fair value through other comprehensive income
Equity instrument 5,500 5,500 — —
Financial liabilities
Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Amortised cost
Trade and other payables 958,989 804,481 874177 753,024
Lease liabilities 3,322 6,293 277 3,847
962,311 810,774 874,454 756,871
Fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial liabilities 20,531 9,139 18,828 6,754

Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit

risk at the reporting date is:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$’000
Trade and other receivables 1,036,678 984,154 1,037,440 1,025,886
Cash and cash equivalents 500,329 373,040 483,347 359,281
Derivative financial assets 13,419 9,959 12,255 5,579
1,550,426 1,367,153 1,633,042 1,390,746
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Loss allowance

The ageing of trade and other receivables (excluding derivative financial assets and prepayments) at the reporting

date is:
2024 2023

Loss Loss
Gross allowance Gross allowance
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$’000

Group
Not past due 973,738 (2,823) 915,295 (2,5606)
110 30 days 66,028 (265) 71,686 (261)
31 to 90 days - - - -
Over 90 days 4,396 (4,396) 4,396 (4,396)
1,044,162 (7,484) 991,377 (7,223)

Company

Not past due 930,837 (1,770) 971,282 (1,762)
1 to 30 days 103,634 (212) 56,575 (209)
31 to0 90 days 4,951 - - -
Over 90 days 4,387 (4,387) 4,387 (4,387)
1,043,809 (6,369) 1,032,244 (6,358)

The Group’s and the Company’s loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to
lifetime expected credit losses and individually assessed credit impaired.

The movements in the loss allowance in respect of trade and other receivables during the financial year are as follows:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Group

At 1 January 7,223 6,062
Loss allowance — net 261 1,161
At 31 December 7,484 7,223
Company

At 1 January 6,358 5,405
Loss allowance — net 11 953

At 31 December 6,369 6,358
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Liquidity risk

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of financial liabilities, including interest
payments and excluding the impact of netting arrangements:

Cash flows
Between Between
Contractual Within 1and 2 2and 5
cash flows 1 year years years

Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 UsS$’000

Group

2024

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables? (958,989) (958,989) - -
Lease liabilities (3,574) (1,665) (606) (1,303)

Oil commodity derivatives
Gross outflows®
— Qil physical derivative instruments

purchase contracts (907,607) (907,607) - -
Net outflows
— Qil paper derivative instruments (5,085) (5,085) — —
(1,875,255) (1,873,346) (606) (1,303)
2023
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables? (804,481) (804,481) - -
Lease liabilities (6,322) (5,718) (604) -

Oil commodity derivatives
Gross outflows®
— QOil physical derivative instruments

purchase contracts (220,223) (220,223) - -

Net outflows
— QOil paper derivative instruments (3,646) (3,646) - -
(1,034,672) (1,034,068) (604) —

0 Excludes derivative financial liabilities and receipts in advance.
0 The gross outflows represent the undiscounted cash outflows of the outstanding oil physical derivative instruments.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Cash flows
Between Between
Contractual Within 1 and 2 2and 5
cash flows 1 year years years

Us$’000 Us$’000 UsS$’000 US$’000

Company

2024

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables? (874,177) (874,177) - -
Lease liabilities (288) (226) (62) -

Oil commodity derivatives
Gross outflows
— Qil physical derivative instruments

purchase contracts (793,185) (793,185) - -
Net outflows
— Qil paper derivative instruments (4,276) (4,276) - -
(1,671,926) (1,671,864) (62) —
2023
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables® (753,024) (7583,024) - -
Lease liabilities (3,962) (3,957) 5) -

Oil commodity derivatives
Gross outflows
— QOil physical derivative instruments

purchase contracts (126,961) (126,961) - -

Net outflows
— QOil paper derivative instruments (3,692) (3,692) - -
(887,639) (887,634) 5) -

0 Excludes derivative financial liabilities and receipts in advance.
i The gross outflows represent the undiscounted cash outflows of the outstanding oil physical derivative instruments.



161

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Group’s and Company’s exposures to foreign currency risk were as follows based on notional amounts:

Singapore Hong Kong British
dollar Renminbi dollar Euro pound
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
2024
Trade and other receivables 189 117 890 77 66
Cash and cash equivalents 696 14,993 165 2,279 131
Trade and other payables (2,066) (259) (937) (89) (822)
(1,181) 14,851 118 2,267 (125)
2023
Trade and other receivables 177 122 48 67 71
Cash and cash equivalents 988 10,055 53 40 325
Trade and other payables (6,041) (310) (275) (1,680) (730)
(4,876) 9,867 (174) (1,573) (334)
Singapore
dollar Renminbi
US$’000 US$’000
Company
2024
Trade and other receivables 189 86
Cash and cash equivalents 696 14,978
Trade and other payables (2,066) (120)
(1,181) 14,944
2023
Trade and other receivables 177 55
Cash and cash equivalents 988 10,012
Trade and other payables (6,041) (164)
(4,876) 9,903
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At the reporting date, a 10% strengthening of the US dollar against the following currencies would increase/
(decrease) profit before tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant.

Profit before tax
Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Singapore dollar 118 488 118 488
Renminbi (1,485) (987) (1,494) (990)
Hong Kong dollar (12) 17 - -
Euro (227) 157 - -
British pound 13 33 — —

A 10% weakening of the US dollar against the above currencies would have an equal but opposite effect on the
above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Interest rate risk
Profile
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments was:
Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets 496,741 371,612 482,692 358,191

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Management does not expect a change in interest rate will have significant impact to the Group’s and Company’s
profit or loss.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair values
Fair values versus carrying amounts

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments carried at cost
or amortised cost approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

2024

Financial asset at FVTOCI - - 5,500 5,500

Derivative financial assets - 13,419 - 13,419

Derivative financial liabilities - (20,531) - (20,531)
— (7,112) 5,500 (1,612)

2023

Financial asset at FVTOCI - - 5,500 5,500

Derivative financial assets - 9,959 - 9,959

Derivative financial liabilities - (9,139) - (9,139)
— 820 5,500 6,320

Company

2024

Derivative financial assets - 12,255 - 12,255

Derivative financial liabilities - (18,828) - (18,828)
— (6,573) — (6,573)

2023

Derivative financial assets - 5,579 - 5,579

Derivative financial liabilities - (6,754) - (6,754)
— (1,175) — (1,175)

There was no transfer between levels during the financial year.

The valuation techniques and the inputs used in the fair value measurements of the financial instruments are
disclosed in Notes 26 and 28.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an
enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement.

The Group’s paper derivative transactions are all transacted on an exchange.

In certain circumstances — for example, only when a credit event such as a default occurs, the non-defaulting party
can choose to exercise the right of set-off. As such, the above master netting agreements do not meet the criteria
for offsetting in the statements of financial position.

Gross amounts
of recognised
financial
instruments
included in the
statements Related
of financial amounts that
position are not offset Net amounts

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
2024
Financial assets
Qil physical derivative instruments 11,746 - 11,746
Oil paper derivative instruments 1,673 (1,673) -
Total 13,419 (1,673) 11,746
Financial liabilities
Qil physical derivative instruments 15,446 - 15,446
Qil paper derivative instruments 5,085 (1,673) 3,412
Total 20,531 (1,673) 18,858
2023
Financial assets
Qil physical derivative instruments 4,980 - 4,980
Oil paper derivative instruments 4,979 (8,151) 1,828
Total 9,959 (3,151) 6,808
Financial liabilities
Qil physical derivative instruments 5,493 - 5,493
Oil paper derivative instruments 3,646 (3,151) 495

Total 9,139 (3,151) 5,988
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

Gross amounts
of recognised
financial
instruments
included in the
statements

Related

of financial amounts that
position are not offset

Net amounts

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Company
2024
Financial assets
Qil physical derivative instruments 10,582 - 10,582
Oil paper derivative instruments 1,673 (1,673) -
Total 12,255 (1,673) 10,582
Financial liabilities
Oil physical derivative instruments 14,552 - 14,552
Oil paper derivative instruments 4,276 (1,673) 2,603
Total 18,828 (1,673) 17,155
2023
Financial assets
Oil physical derivative instruments 2,382 - 2,382
Oil paper derivative instruments 3,197 (3,197) -
Total 5,579 (3,197) 2,382
Financial liabilities
Qil physical derivative instruments 3,063 - 3,063
Oil paper derivative instruments 3,691 (3,197) 494
Total 6,754 (3,197) 3,557
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20. REVENUE

The Group derives its revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in time in the following major lines. This is
consistent with the revenue information that is disclosed for each reportable segment under SFRS(l) 8 (Note 25).

A disaggregation of the Group’s revenue for the financial year is as follows:

Group
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Revenue from middle distillates 10,696,126 8,693,851
Revenue from other oil products 4,822,386 5,735,722
15,518,512 14,429,573

The revenue from middle distillates and other oil products are recognised at a point in time.

Included in revenue is net loss of US$4,268,000 (2023: loss of US$5,086,000) recognised in relation to derivative
financial instruments. The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge the changes in oil commodity
prices. The gain or loss on remeasurement of these instruments at fair value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as revenue.

21. PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
The following items have been included in arriving at profit for the financial year:
Group

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Other income

Interest income 16,968 17,742
Foreign exchange gain — net 37 344
Others 345 630
17,350 18,716
Allowance for impairment loss on investment in associate - (8,654)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,872) (1,474)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (5,889) (5,976)
Amortisation of intangible assets (1,117) (1,124)
Expense relating to short-term leases (5,926) (5,4006)
Expense relating to leases of low value assets (7) 3)
Staff costs (18,437) (17,737)
Contributions to defined contribution plans, included in staff costs (1,455) (1,631)
Audit fees paid/payable to:
— auditor of the Company (200) (292)
— other auditors (224) (247)
Non-audit-related fees paid/ payable to auditor of the Company 9) (10)
Aggregate amount of fees paid/ payable to auditors (433) (549)
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22. FINANCE COSTS

Group
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Bank charges 411 445
Interest expenses 128 2
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 319 289

858 736

23. TAX EXPENSE

Group
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Current tax expense

Current year 5,999 5,828
(Over)/Under provision in prior year (174) 19
5,825 5,847

Deferred tax credit

Origination of temporary differences (720) -
Withholding tax expense 2,556 1,709
Total tax expense 7,661 7,556

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit before tax 85,749 65,929
Tax using Singapore tax rate of 17% (2023: 17%) 14,577 11,208
Effects of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 41 709
Tax exempt income (13) (13)
Tax effects of revenue at concessionary tax rate (2,333) (2,121)
Effects of results of associates presented net of tax (7,802) (5,154)
Effect of expenses not deductible 1,355 1,218
Origination of temporary differences (720) -
Withholding tax expense 2,556 1,709

7,661 7,556

The Company was granted concessionary rate of tax for a period of 5 years from 1 August 2020 to 31 July 2025.
Income derived from qualifying trading transactions of approved products by the Company is taxed at the
concessionary rate instead of the normal statutory rate of 17%. This incentive is granted subject to the achievement
of certain business volume and other terms and conditions.
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24,

25.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share

At the reporting date, the calculation of basic earnings per share was based as follows:

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Basic and diluted earnings per share is based on:
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 78,357 58,856

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Number of shares

2024 2023
’000 000
Issued ordinary shares at 31 December” 860,184 860,184

*  Excludes 6,000,000 ordinary shares held as treasury shares.

The Group did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares in the current and previous financial years.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units.
The strategic business units offer different products and services and are managed separately. For each of the
strategic business units, the Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) reviews internal management
reports on at least a quarterly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s
reportable segments:

. Middle distillates . Jet fuel and gas oil supply and trading.

. Other ail products . Fuel oil, crude oil, gasoline and naphtha supply and trading.

. Investments in oil-related assets : Investments in oil-related assets through the Group’s holdings in associates.
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based
on segment profit before tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s

CEOQO. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.
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25. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Investment in

Middle Other oil oil-related
distillates products assets Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$°000 US$’000
2024
Revenue 10,696,126 4,822,386 - 15,518,512
Gross profit 41,300 565 - 41,865
Other administrative/operating expenses (15,962) (218) - (16,180)
Depreciation and amortisation (2,291) 31) - (2,322)
Foreign exchange gain 37 - - 37
Interest income 16,739 229 - 16,968
Other income 340 5 - 345
Finance costs (690) (168) - (858)
Share of profit of associates (net of tax) - - 45,894 45,894
Tax expense (5,056) (49) (2,556) (7,661)
Reportable segment profit after tax 34,417 333 43,338 78,088
Reportable segment total assets 1,361,229 359,977 269,773 1,990,979
Deferred tax assets 720
Total Group’s assets 1,991,699
Included in the segment assets:
Additions:
— Property, plant and equipment 808 - - 808
— Right-of-use assets 3,043 - - 3,043
— Intangible assets 107 - - 107
— Associates - - 164 164
Reportable segment total liabilities 657,919 330,608 - 988,527
Current tax liabilities 4,023
Deferred tax liabilities 9,201
Total Group’s liabilities 1,001,751
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25. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Investment in

Middle Other oil oil-related
distillates products assets Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
2023
Revenue 8,693,851 5,735,722 — 14,429,573
Gross profit 44,796 5,802 - 50,598
Other administrative/operating expenses (16,738) (2,168) - (18,906)
Impairment expenses (3,375) - (8,654) (12,029)
Depreciation and amortisation (1,799 (233) - (2,032)
Foreign exchange gain 304 40 - 344
Interest income 15,708 2,034 - 17,742
Other income 558 72 - 630
Finance costs (802) (434) - (736)
Share of profit of associates (net of tax) - - 30,318 30,318
Tax expense (5,464) (383) (1,709) (7,556)
Reportable segment profit after tax 33,688 4,730 19,955 58,373
Reportable segment total assets 1,464,945 63,920 258,649 1,787,514
Included in the segment assets:
Additions:
— Property, plant and equipment 11,483 - - 11,483
— Right-of-use assets 5,899 - - 5,899
— Intangible assets 76 - - 76
Reportable segment total liabilities 798,366 25,166 - 823,532
Current tax liabilities 3,683
Deferred tax liabilities 7,952

Total Group’s liabilities 835,167
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25. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Geographical segments
The People’s Republic of China is a major market for trading in jet fuel and petroleum products. The Group also
operates in other regions including Singapore.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical
location of the revenue transacted. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Non-current

Geographical information Revenue assets**
US$’000 US$’000

2024
People’s Republic of China 10,432,919 223,935
Republic of Korea 279,514 40,337
United States of America 945,321 687
Hong Kong SAR 296,778 8,929
Malaysia 170,248 -
Japan 551,905 -
Australia 131,234 -
Singapore 233,406 12,774
Philippines 141,731 -
Netherlands 438,213 5,953
Thailand 297,272 -
Germany 358,252 -
Indonesia 168,786 -
India 563,450 -
United Arab Emirates 115,820 -
Other countries 393,663 -
15,518,512 292,615

2023
People’s Republic of China 8,778,362 209,012
Republic of Korea 194,349 44137
United States of America 887,477 80
Hong Kong SAR 656,481 9,443
Malaysia 233,836 -
Japan 85,182 -
Australia 107,062 -
Singapore 935,821 17,259
Philippines 129,023 -
Netherlands 940,653 6,539
Myanmar 250,045 -
Germany 261,656 -
Indonesia 153,989 -
Bangladesh 61,483 -
France 134,866 -
Other countries 619,288 -
14,429,573 286,470

* Excludes deferred tax assets
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25.

26.

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Major customers

Revenue from five customers (2023: five customers) for the supply and trading of jet fuel and other oil products
amounting to approximately US$7,550,553,000 (2023: US$6,545,584,000), represents 49% (2023: 45%) of the
Group’s total revenue.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
e credit risk

. liquidity risk

o interest rate risk

o foreign currency risk

. commodity price risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks and the Group’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Additional quantitative disclosures are included throughout
these financial statements.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework. The Board has established the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for
developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The committee reports regularly to the Board
of Directors on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group,
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive
control environment which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to
the risks faced by the Group.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group and the Company. The Group and the Company have adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial
loss from defaults. The Group and the Company manage these risks by monitoring credit-worthiness and limiting
the aggregate risk to any individual counterparty. The Group and the Company have purchased credit insurance for
certain customers during the financial year.

The Group develops and maintains its credit risk ratings to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The Group uses its own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets, except that the credit risk associated with certain trade receivables is reduced because they are
secured by credit insurance and letters of credit. There has not been any significant changes in the quality of the
credit enhancement.

The Group’s current credit risk rating framework comprises the following categories:

Basis for recognising expected

Category Description credit losses (ECL)

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 12-month ECL
have any past-due amounts.

Doubtful Amount is 30 days past due or there has been a Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

In default Amount is 90 days past due or there is evidence Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
indicating the asset is credit-impaired.

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the group has no realistic prospect
of recovery.

The assessment of the credit quality and exposure to credit risk of the Group and Company’s trade and other
receivables have been disclosed in Note 11.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s trade and other receivables, as well as maximum exposure

to credit risk:

Internal Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
Group Note rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
US$000 US$000 US$’000
2024
Trade receivables 11 0] Lifetime ECL 470,564 (6,253) 464,311
(simplified approach)
Other receivables 11 Performing 12-month ECL 36,361 - 36,361
Amount due from related 11 0] Lifetime ECL 422,895 (1,013) 421,882
corporations (trade) (simplified approach)
Amount due from related 11 0] Lifetime ECL 74,885 (72) 74,813
corporations of a corporate (simplified approach)
shareholder (trade)
Amount due from associates 11 0] Lifetime ECL 39,457 (146) 39,311
(trade) (simplified approach)
1,044,162 (7,484) 1,036,678
2023
Trade receivables 11 0] Lifetime ECL 351,429 (5,375) 346,054
(simplified approach)
Other receivables 11 Performing 12-month ECL 49,984 - 49,984
Amount due from related 11 0] Lifetime ECL 435,365 (1,380) 433,985
corporations (trade) (simplified approach)
Amount due from related 11 0] Lifetime ECL 37,587 (36) 37,551
corporations of a corporate (simplified approach)
shareholder (trade)
Amount due from associates 11 0] Lifetime ECL 117,012 (432) 116,580
(trade) (simplified approach)
991,377 (7,223) 984,154
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Internal Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
Company Note rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
US$000 US$000  US$’000
2024
Trade receivables 11 0] Lifetime ECL 366,329 5,477) 360,852
(simplified approach)
Other receivables 11 Performing 12-month ECL 21,278 - 21,278
Amount due from subsidiaries 11 (i) Lifetime ECL 125,327 - 125,327
(trade) (simplified approach)
Amount due from subsidiaries 11 Performing 12-month ECL 112,363 - 112,363
(non-trade)
Amount due from related 11 0] Lifetime ECL 304,170 674) 303,496
corporations (trade) (simplified approach)
Amount due from related 11 (i) Lifetime ECL 74,885 (72) 74,813
corporations of a corporate (simplified approach)
shareholder (trade)
Amount due from associates 11 0] Lifetime ECL 39,457 (146) 39,311
(trade) (simplified approach)
1,043,809 (6,369) 1,037,440
2023
Trade receivables 11 (i) Lifetime ECL 146,368 (4,880) 141,488
(simplified approach)
Other receivables 11 Performing 12-month ECL 31,698 - 31,698
Amount due from subsidiaries 11 (i) Lifetime ECL 312,121 - 312,121
(trade) (simplified approach)
Amount due from subsidiaries 11 Performing 12-month ECL 83,759 - 83,759
(non-trade)
Amount due from related 11 (i) Lifetime ECL 304,647 (1,011) 303,636
corporations (trade) (simplified approach)
Amount due from related 11 (i) Lifetime ECL 36,639 (35) 36,604
corporations of a corporate (simplified approach)
shareholder (trade)
Amount due from associates 11 (i) Lifetime ECL 117,012 (432) 116,580
(trade) (simplified approach)
1,032,244 (6,358) 1,025,886

(i)  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in SFRS(l) 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these items estimated based
on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to
reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Note 11 includes further details on the
loss allowance for these trade receivables.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of
trade receivables. This allowance is a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures.
The allowance account in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group
is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible. At that point, the financial asset is considered
irrecoverable and the amount charged to the allowance account is written off against the carrying amount of the
impaired financial asset.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which are regulated. The banks and
financial institutions are assigned high credit ratings by international credit-rating agencies and considered to have
low credit risk. The cash balances are measured on 12-month expected credit losses and subject to immaterial
credit loss.

At 31 December 2024, there was no significant concentration of credit risk except for amounts receivable due from
6 (2023: 3) major customers amounting to US$481,449,000 (2023: US$349,293,000) which accounted for 48%
(2023: 37%) of the Group’s gross trade receivables.

At 31 December 2024, the Company has a significant concentration of credit risk with subsidiaries and related
corporations which accounted for 46% (2023: 67%) of the Company’s gross trade receivables. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of
financial position.

Guarantees

There is no exposure to the Company in respect of the intra-Group financial guarantee (see Note 7) at the end of
the reporting period as it is remote that the subsidiaries default on the utilised facilities extended by the bank and
trading counterparties.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivery of cash or another financial asset.

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Typically, the
Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing
of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be
predicted, such as natural disasters. In addition, the Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate lines
of credit.

Interest rate risk

It is the Group’s policy to obtain the most favourable interest rates available without increasing its foreign currency
exposure. Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks to earn interest income.

As the Group’s interest-bearing financial assets are short term in nature, any future variations in interest rates will
not have a material impact on the results of the Group.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in currencies other
than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this foreign currency risk are
primarily the Singapore dollar, the Chinese renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, Euro and British pound.

The Group monitors its foreign currency exposures on an on-going basis and ensures that the net exposure is kept
to an acceptable level. The Group did not actively hedge its foreign currency exposure in 2024 and 2023.

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk on its net investments in foreign operations. Such exposures
are reviewed and monitored on a regular basis.

Commodity price risk

The Group manages its costs of purchase and sales of oil commodities, using commodity paper derivative
instruments. Management manages its commodity price risk using a suite of risk management tools which include
marginal value at risk limits and hypothetical stress-tests of various scenarios. These risk management tools were
designed by management, reviewed by the Risk Management Committee, and approved by the Board of Directors.

The Group enters into commodity paper derivative instruments, in which it agrees to exchange the difference between
the fixed and floating prices, calculated by reference to an agreed-upon principal quantity, with its counterparties.
The commodity paper derivative instruments entered into commit the Group to settle these instruments at various
settlement dates.

Sensitivity analysis

Based on the Group’s open positions at end of year, a change of 10% in oil forward price at the reporting date
would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis as the
financial year ended 31 December 2023.

Profit or loss

10% 10%
increase decrease
US$’000 US$’000

2024
Oil physical and paper derivative instruments 4,473 (4,473)
2023
Oil physical and paper derivative instruments 2,530 (2,530)

The Group considers holding oil inventory as part of their overall trading strategy. An increase of 10% in the fair value
of oil inventory would have increased profit or loss by US$2,755,000 (2023: US$1,035,000). A 10% weakening of
the fair value of oil inventory would have an equal but opposite effect on profit or loss.

The above sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should not be predictive of the Group’s future performance as the
physical inventory volume and derivative positions change daily and are not static.
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26.

27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial
instruments of the Group and the Company.

Derivative financial instruments

The fair values of oil physical and paper derivative instruments were determined based on price indices after
adjusting for contract specific factors.

Financial asset at FVTOCI

The fair value of the financial asset was determined based on the income approach — in this approach, the discounted
cash flow method was used to capture the present value of the expected future economic benefits to be derived
from the ownership of the investee. This fair value measurement is categorised as a Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy based on inputs used. The information about the unobservable inputs used are not disclosed as the
financial assets is not material.

The revenue is projected based on the agreed rate with the customers, taking into account management’s experience
and knowledge of market conditions of the industry.
Other financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables) approximate their fair values because
of the short period to maturity. All other financial assets and liabilities are discounted to determine their fair values.

RELATED PARTIES
Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation comprises:

Group
2024 2023
US$°000 US$°000

Directors’ fees 376 377
Directors’ remuneration 502 282
Key executive officers’ remuneration 1,281 1,542

2,159 2,201

The key management personnel compensation for the financial years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023 were made up of short-term employee benefits.

The immediate and ultimate holding company, CNAF, is a state-owned enterprise established in the PRC.
In accordance with SFRS(I) 1-24 Related Party Disclosures, government-related entities and their subsidiaries,
apart from entities under CNAF, which the PRC government has control, joint control or significant influence over
are also considered as related parties of the Group. For the purpose of the related party transactions disclosures,
the Group applies the exemption on disclosure of related parties transactions as allowed under SFRS(l) 1-24.
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27. RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

The Group assessed that these transactions with government-related entities were carried out based on market
terms in the ordinary course of business. The Group’s transactions with government-related entities include sales
and purchases of oil commaodities, banking fees and operating lease expenses.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s sales and purchases of physical oil commodities
with government-related entities account for approximately 51% (2023: 59%) of the Group’s total sales and 60%
(2023: 58%) of the Group’s total purchases. During the year, approximately 21% (2023: 35%) of the Group’s
banking fees were transacted with government-related entities and interest income of approximately 40%
(20283: 39%) was received from government-related entities.

Other than those as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the following significant
transactions with related parties:

Group
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

Related parties under CNAF:
Related corporations

Sale of jet fuel 4,577,781 2,056,438
Purchase of jet fuel (2,549,701) (686,371)
Supply chain service rendered from (2,310) (895)
Interest income 6,801 6,395
Related corporations of a corporate shareholder:

Sale of fuel oil 50,849 -
Sale of jet fuel 83,513 146,943
Sale of crude oil 388,767 -
Purchase of jet fuel (381,082) (389,494)
Purchase of fuel oil (50,622) (71,577)
Purchase of crude oil (202,834) -
Purchase of naphtha (14,662) —
Associate:

Sale of jet fuel 2,447,273 1,875,940
Purchase of jet fuel (74,146) (58,160)
Storage tank rental expense (3,596) (4,100)

The outstanding balances as at 31 December with related parties are disclosed in Notes 11 and 16 to the financial
statements and are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash, unless otherwise
stated. There are no outstanding balances with key management personnel or their immediate family members.
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28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group believes the following critical accounting policies involved the most significant judgements and estimates
used in the preparation of the financial statements.

Key source of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below:

Calculation of loss allowance

When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based
on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral
and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood
of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations
of future conditions.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 11 to
the financial statements.

Impairment assessment of investment in associates

The Group evaluates whether there are any indicators of impairment in the investment in associates at each reporting
date. If there are indicators of impairment, management performs an evaluation of the investment’s recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is based on the higher of value-in-use or fair value less cost to sell.

Value-in-use is estimated based on management’s forecast of future cash flows discounted to present value using
the pre-tax discount rate. The fair value less cost to sell requires an estimate of the market value of the investments.
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining value-in-use and fair value less cost to sell.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s investment in associates are disclosed in Note 8 to the
financial statements.
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28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value of derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts

The Company holds derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts to hedge the changes in oil
commodity prices. The Company has not applied hedge accounting to derivative financial instruments and open
physical contracts that economically hedge the exposure of the changes in oil commodity prices. All outstanding
derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to
initial recognition, they are remeasured at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in the statement of profit or loss as revenue.

The fair value of the derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts are based on the price index,
Platts, after adjusting for contract specific factors. The use of a different price index may impact the Company’s
estimate of the fair value of its derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts
are disclosed in Notes 11 and 16 to the financial statements.

Trade inventories at fair value less costs to sell
Inventories held for trading purposes are measured at fair value less costs to sell and any changes in fair value less

costs to sell are recognised in profit or loss in the period of change.

The fair value of trade inventories held for trading purposes is based on the price index, Platts, after adjusting for
costs to sell. The use of a different price index or changes in the estimated costs to sell may impact the Company’s
estimate of the fair value of its trade inventories.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s trading inventories at fair value less costs to sell are disclosed
in Notes 10 to the financial statements.

Critical judgement made in applying accounting policies

The management is of the opinion that there are no instances of application of judgements which are expected to
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, apart from those involving estimates
described above.
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INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Sales to related corporations
of a corporate shareholder

Purchases from related
corporations of a corporate
shareholder

Supply chain services rendered
from related corporations

Into-plane refueling services
rendered by a related
corporation

Fixed deposited placed with
a related corporation

Interest income earned from
principal deposited with
a related corporation

Financial assistance rendered
to a related corporation

Controlling Shareholder,
China National Aviation
Fuel Group Limited

Aggregate value of
interested person
transactions excluding
transactions conducted
under shareholders

mandate pursuant to
Rule 920 of the SGX
Listing Manual

2024
US$’000

2023
UsS$’000

Nature of
Relationship

Aggregate value of
interested person
transactions conducted
under shareholders
mandate pursuant to
Rule 920 of the SGX
Listing Manual

2024
US$’000

4,665,001

2023
US$’000

2,759,326

2,741,596

1,186,168

4,699

4,401

Associates of

424

196

1,015,670

1,504,424

6,156

5,642

- 600

Services rendered from a related
corporation

Acquisition of additional shares
in associate held by a related
corporation

Controlling Shareholder,
China National Aviation
Fuel Group Limited

544 259

164 -

Sales to related corporations of
a corporate shareholder

Purchases from related
corporations of a corporate
shareholder

Carbon trading transaction with
a related corporation

Purchases of into-plane services
from a related corporation

Controlling Shareholder,
BP Investments Asia

526,670

37,996

Associates of

773,995

719,130

Limited - 662

- 1,633
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SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 7 March 2025

Number of Issued Shares . 866,183,628

Number of Issued Shares (excluding Treasury Shares) . 860,183,628 ordinary shares
Number/Percentage of Treasury Shares ;6,000,000 (0.69%)
Number/Percentage of Subsidiary Holdings * : 0(0%)

Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights (excluding Treasury Shares and Subsidiary Holdings) : 1 vote per share

Based on information available to the Company as at 7 March 2025, 28.52% " of the issued ordinary shares of the
Company is held by the public and, therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST is complied with.

Note: + Subsidiary Holdings is defined in the Listing Manual of SGX-ST to mean shares referred to in Sections 21(4), 21(4B), 21(6A) and 21(6C) of the Companies Act 1967.
(1) Percentage is calculated based on the total number of 860,183,628 issued shares excluding treasury shares.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

No. of No. of
Size of Shareholdings Shareholders % Shares %
1-99 699 5.90 34,782 0.00
100 - 1,000 1,799 15.19 1,047,303 0.12
1,001 - 10,000 6,096 51.48 27,216,597 3.17
10,001 - 1,000,000 3,226 27.25 133,389,839 15.51
1,000,001 and above 21 0.18 698,495,107 81.20
Total 11,841 100.00 860,183,628 100.00
TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
No.of
No. Name Shares %
1 China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited 441,332,912 51.31
2  BP Investments Asia Limited 173,476,942 20.17
3 DBS Nominees (Private) Limited 21,608,841 2.51
4 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 15,626,677 1.82
5  Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 7,621,429 0.89
6 Raffles Nominees (Pte.) Limited 7,360,995 0.86
7 United Overseas Bank Nominees (Private) Limited 4,250,156 0.49
8 OCBC Securities Private Limited 3,870,933 0.45
9 iFAST Financial Pte. Ltd. 3,370,239 0.39
10 Lee Fook Choy 3,200,000 0.37
11 OCBC Nominees Singapore Private Limited 2,802,748 0.33
12 UOB Kay Hian Private Limited 2,341,256 0.27
13 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 2,277,205 0.26
14 Teo Chin Yee (Zhang Jinyi) 1,287,000 0.15
15 Moomoo Financial Singapore Pte. Ltd. 1,269,157 0.15
16 Kang Hian Soon or Keh Siu Kim 1,240,000 0.14
17 Toh Ong Tiam 1,233,000 0.14
18 Lam Yew Chong 1,113,800 0.13
19 Tay Wee Meng 1,090,700 0.13
20 ABN AMRO Clearing Bank N.V. 1,078,500 0.13
Total 697,452,490 81.09

SUBSTANTIAL ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
(As shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 7 March 2025)
No. of Shares

Direct Deemed
No. Name Interest Interest %
1. China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited 441,332,912 - 51.31

2. BP Investments Asia Limited 173,476,942 - 20.17
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RDODITIONAL INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELLECTION

As of 31 March 2025

Name of Director Lin Yi

Date of appointment

15 March 2023

Date of last re-appointment (if applicable) 27 April 2023
Age 55
Country of principal residence Singapore

The Board’s comments on this re-election/appointment

After reviewing the recommendation of the Nominating
Committee and Mr Lin’s qualifications and experience
(as set out below), the Board has approved that Mr Lin
stands for re-election as an Executive, Non-Independent
Director.

Mr Lin will, upon re-election, continue to serve as Chief
Executive Officer/Executive Director of the Company.

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area
of responsibility

Executive

As Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director, Mr Lin is
responsible for the overall management of the business
operations of the Company.

Job title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member etc.)

Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director

Professional Qualifications

Bachelor of Engineering Studies
Qualified Senior Engineer, China

Working experience and occupation(s) during the past
10 years

March 2023 to Present:
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director
China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd

September 2022 to March 2023:
Chief Executive Officer

China Aviation QOil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd

November 2018 to September 2022:

General Manager

China National Aviation Fuel South China Bluesky
Corporation Ltd

May 2013 to November 2018:

General Manager

China National Aviation Fuel South China Bluesky
Corporation Ltd, Guangdong Branch

September 2010 to May 2013:
Adviser

China National Aviation Fuel South China Bluesky
Corporation Ltd, Guangdong Branch
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30 September 2021 31 December 2021
27 April 2022 27 April 2022

a7 56

China Bahrain

After reviewing the recommendation of the Nominating
Committee and Dr Fu’s qualifications and experience

(as set out below), the Board has confirmed Dr Fu’s
independence and approved that Dr Fu stands for
re-election as a non-executive and independent Director.

Dr Fu will, upon re-election, continue to serve as
Chairman of the Nominating Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Sustainability Committee.

After reviewing the recommendation of the Nominating
Committee and Dr Goh’s qualifications and experience
(as set out below), the Board has confirmed Dr Goh’s
independence and approved that Dr Goh stands for
re-election as a non-executive and independent Director.

Dr Goh will, upon re-election, continue to serve as
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Nominating Committee, Risk Management
Committee and Sustainability Committee.

Non-executive

Non-executive

Non-executive and Independent Director;

Chairman of Nominating Committee;

Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Sustainability Committee

Non-executive and Independent Director;

Chairman of Remuneration Committee;

Member of Nominating Committee, Risk Management
Committee and Sustainability Committee

Doctor of Philosophy in Financial Engineering,
Heriot-Watt University

Doctor of Philosophy — Principles and Policies of
Regulating Airline Competition, University of Sheffield,
United Kingdom

Bachelor of Laws, University of Hull, Hull, United Kingdom

July 2020 to Present:
General Manager
Beijing Rongyi Investment and Management Co., Ltd

October 2019 to Present:
Deputy General Manager/General Manager
Beijing Jingguochuang Funds Management Co., Ltd

January 2019 to September 2019:
Deputy General Manager
Beijing Innovation Industry Investment Co., Ltd.

June 2015 to December 2018:

Deputy General Manager

Beijing Tianshi Kaiyuan Equity Fund Management
Co., Ltd.

April 2010 to June 2015:
Deputy General Manager

Funds Investment Department, Beijing State-owned
Capital Operation and Management Center

2024 to Present:
Chief Executive Officer
Gulf Air Group Holding Company (Bahrain)

2017 to 2023:
Chief Executive Officer
Star Alliance (Germany/Singapore)

2013 to 2016:
Chief Operating Officer & General Counsel
Star Alliance (Germany)

2008 to 2012:
General Counsel & VP Corporate Services
Star Alliance (Germany)
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DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELLECTION

As of 31 March 2025

Name of Director Lin Yi

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its subsidiaries

No

Any relationship (including immediate family relationships)
with any existing director, existing executive officer, the
issuer and/or substantial shareholder of the listed issuer
or of any of its principal subsidiaries

Yes. Mr Lin is a nominee Director of China National
Aviation Fuel Group Limited, a substantial shareholder
of the Company.

Conflict of interest (including any competing business)

No

Undertaking submitted to the listed issuer in the form of
Appendix 7.7 (Listing Rule 720(1))

Yes

Other Principal Commitments* including Directorships#
* “Principal Commitments” has the same meaning as defin

ed in the Code of Corporate Governance 2018

Past (for the last 5 years)

Nil

Present

Chairman of China Aviation Oil (Hong Kong)
Company Limited

Chairman of North American Fuel Corporation
Chairman of China Aviation Fuel (Europe) Limited
Director of Qilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd

Deputy Chairman of Shanghai Pudong International
Airport Aviation Fuel Supply Corporation Ltd

Other Principal Commitments
Nil
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No No
No No
No No
Yes Yes

¢ Director of Beijing Tianshi Kaiyun Equity Fund Chief Executive Officer of Star Alliance
Management Co., Ltd. (Germany/Singapore)
e Deputy General Manager of Beijing Innovation Industry | ® Director of Star Alliance (SG) Pte. Ltd.
Investment Co., Ltd. Director of Airline Passenger Experience Association (US)
e Deputy General Manager of Beijing Tianshi Kaiyuan
Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd.

e General Manager of Beijing Rongyi Investment and ¢ Chief Executive Officer of Gulf Air Group Holding
Management Co., Ltd Company (Bahrain)
¢ General Manager of Beijing Jingguochuang Funds
Management Co., Ltd Other Principal Commitments
e Deputy Chairman/Director of Bahrain Airport Services
Other Principal Commitments Company B.S.C. (c)
¢ Director of Beijing Rongyi Investment and Management
Co., Ltd
¢ Director of Beijing Jingcheng Zhitong Robot Technology
Co., Ltd
¢ Director of Beijing Jingguochuang Funds Management
Co., Ltd

¢ Director of Beijing Ba Yue Gua Technology Co., Ltd

¢ Director of Beijing Foreign Enterprise Human Resources
Service Co., Ltd

¢ Director of Beijing Environment Co., Ltd
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As of 31 March 2025

Name of Director Lin Yi

Information required
Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director

(@) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, No
an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law
of any jurisdiction was filed against him or against
a partnership of which he was a partner at the time
when he was a partner or at any time within 2 years
from the date he ceased to be a partner?

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, No
an application or a petition under any law of any
jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being
a partnership) of which he was a director or an
equivalent person or a key executive, at the time
when he was a director or an equivalent person or
a key executive of that entity or at any time within
2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or
an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity,
for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or,
where that entity is the trustee of a business trust,
that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied judgement against No
him?

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, | No
in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or
dishonesty, which is punishable with imprisonment,
or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings
(including any pending criminal proceedings of which
he is aware) for such purpose?

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, | No
in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of
any law or regulatory requirement that relates to
the securities or futures industry in Singapore or
elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal
proceedings (including any pending criminal
proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?

() Whether at any time during the last 10 years, No
judgement has been entered against him in any civil
proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving
a breach of any law or regulatory requirement
that relates to the securities or futures industry
in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud,
misinterpretation or dishonesty on his part, or he has
been the subject of any civil proceedings (including
any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware)
involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or
dishonesty on his part?

(@ Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore No
or elsewhere of any offence in connection with
the formation or management of any entity or
business trust?
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No No
No No
No No
No No
No No
No No
No No
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RDODITIONAL INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELLECTION

As of 31 March 2025

Name of Director Lin Yi

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting No
as a director or an equivalent person of any entity
(including the trustee of a business trust), or from
taking part directly or indirectly in the management of
any entity or business trust?

(i)  Whether he has ever been the subject of any No
order, judgement or ruling of any court, tribunal or
governmental body, permanently or temporarily
enjoining him from engaging in any type of business
practice or activity?

() Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been
concerned with the management or conduct,
in Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:

(i) any corporation which has been investigated No
for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement
governing corporations in Singapore or
elsewhere; or

(i) any entity (not being a corporation) which has No
been investigated for a breach of any law or
regulatory requirement governing such entities
in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(i) any business trust which has been investigated No
for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement
governing business trusts in Singapore or
elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been No
investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory
requirement that relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, in
connection with any matter occurring or arising
during the period when he was so concerned
with the entity or business trust?

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current No
or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings,
or has been reprimanded or issued any warning,
by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any
other regulatory authority, exchange, professional
body or government agency, whether in Singapore
or elsewhere?
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No No
No No
No No
No No
No No
No No
No No
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